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RDC is proud of the people who make our institution a vibrant space where teaching and  
learning thrive. All photographs used in this document are from RDC’s collection of photos  

showcasing our people, facilities and connections to the communities we serve.

VISION
To be the post-secondary institution of choice serving learners and 

communities through leadership, excellence, and innovation.

MISSION
Because of Red Deer College: The intellectual, economic, cultural 
and social development of Central Alberta is strengthened and 

enriched while demonstrating good stewardship.

VALUES
Learning is at the heart of RDC. Our values form a constant guide 

for planning, decision-making, and working together as a learning 
community.

Our values are

Excellence  |  Integrity  |  Accountability 
Exploration  |  Inclusiveness  |  Community
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MANDATE

Red Deer College is a board-governed public college operating 
as a Comprehensive Community Institution under the authority 
of the Post-Secondary Learning Act of Alberta. 

Red Deer College of fers programs that lead to fur ther 
education or to career employment through its apprenticeship 
programs, certif icates, diplomas, applied baccalaureate 
degrees, and baccalaureate degrees, primarily in collaboration 
with degree-granting institutions. In addition, the College 
provides adult upgrading programs that facilitate entry into 
further studies and continuing education and contract training 
programs that meet community needs for lifelong learning and 
career advancement. 

Red Deer College offers programs and courses to full- and 
part-time learners from diverse cultural, educational and 
social backgrounds with varying skills and experiences in the 
following areas of study; liberal arts, business and commerce, 
education, engineering, health services, hospitality and tourism, 
human services, kinesiology and sport studies, performing arts, 
science, technology, trades, transportation, and visual art.

As a Comprehensive Community Institution with regional 
stewardship responsibilities, Red Deer College provides adult 
learners in the Central Alberta Region with opportunities to 
attain post-secondary education through its courses, programs, 
and services. It does so in collaboration with school districts, 
other post-secondary institutions, adult learning organizations, 
business and industry, and community agencies throughout 
the region. 

Red Deer College is a partner in Campus Alberta collaborating 
with other educational organizations and post-secondary 
institutions in providing a seamless and responsive advanced 
education system that provides high-qualit y learning 
opportunities in support of lifelong learning. 

Through a variety of approaches in educational delivery 
including face-to-face, distributed learning, and blended 
learning the College provides quality programs that address 
diverse learning styles and time and location requirements of 
its learners. Red Deer College supports learner success with 
high-quality student support services including advising, 
personal and career counseling, athletics, food services, child 
care, financial aid, health, library, recreation, residence, and 
academic support. 

Red Deer College initiates and supports partnerships with the 
community, business and industry, public service providers, 
educational agencies, and research agencies in order to 
facilitate access to learning and to promote innovation. 
Through its philosophy of placing learning at the center of 
everything it does, Red Deer College promotes teaching 
excellence and high-quality programming. 

Encouragement of scholarly and creative activity amongst its 
staff and support for applied research and innovation enable 
the College to enhance student learning, to continue the 
growth of expertise of its faculty, and to contribute to the 
economic and social development of the region. 

Through its international focus, Red Deer College is committed 
to increasing the skill and knowledge of its learners and its 
community to become better integrated into the global 
community. This includes opportunities to study abroad, host 
international learners on-campus, assist in the development of 
educational services in other countries, and provide global and 
international perspectives in its curricula. 

The College plays a pivotal role in the community by providing 
facilities, expertise, leadership, and innovation that assist in the 
economic, social, cultural, recreational, athletic, and educational 
development of Red Deer and its surrounding communities. 

Approved by the Deputy Premier and Minister of  
Advanced Education and Technology, May 4, 2010.
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Red Deer College acknowledges that it is situated on land within the traditional 
territories of the Treaty 7 peoples. The College region also includes territories of Treaty 
6 peoples and is a traditional meeting place of the Métis people. Red Deer College 
continues to work together with the Indigenous people in building a welcoming 
community as the institution evolves. 

LAND 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Guy Pelletier, Chair, Board of Governors 
December 5, 2019

The Red Deer College Annual Report for the year ended June 30, 2019 was prepared 
under the Board’s direction in accordance with the Fiscal Planning and Transparency 
Act and ministerial guidelines established pursuant to the Post-Secondary Learning Act. 
All material economic, environmental or fiscal implications of which we are aware 
have been considered in the preparation of this report. 

ACCOUNTABILITY 
STATEMENT

Red Deer College’s management is responsible for the preparation, accuracy, 
objectivity, and integrity of the information contained in the Annual Report 
including the f inancial  statements,  per formance results ,  and suppor ting 
management information. Systems of internal control are designed and maintained 
by management to produce reliable information to meet reporting requirements. 
The system is designed to provide management with reasonable assurance that 
transactions are properly authorized, are executed in accordance with all relevant 
legislation, regulations and policies, reliable financial records are maintained, and 
assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded. 

The Annual Report has been developed under the oversight of the institution 
audit committee, as well as approved by the Board of Governors and is prepared 
in accordance with the Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act and the Post-Secondary 
Learning Act. 

The Auditor General of the Province of Alberta, the institution’s external auditor 
appointed under the Auditor General Act, performs an annual independent audit 
of the consolidated financial statements, which are prepared in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

MANAGEMENT’S 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
REPORTING

Dr. Peter Nunoda, President 
December 5, 2019

Red Deer College provides avenues for the safe disclosure of concerns related to 
wrongdoing and misconduct. The College did not receive any disclosures or conduct 
any investigations under the Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act  
from July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019. 

PUBLIC INTEREST 
DISCLOSURE 
(WHISTLEBLOWER 
PROTECTION) ACTIVITY

Dr. Peter Nunoda 
President under the Public Interest Disclosure 
(Whistleblower Protection) Act 
December 5, 2019

[Original signed by:]

[Original signed by:]

[Original signed by:]
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Red Deer College helps shape central Alberta. Through our 
role in serving learners, cultivating partnerships, providing 
opportunities for community members, and collaborating with 
organizations, we are an important and impactful entity in this 
region. 

When considering the 2018/2019 year, there are vast examples 
that demonstrate how Red Deer College achieved our mission, 
with the increase in our programming standing out as one 
particular highlight. Six new programs were launched last 
year across a range of credentials from a one-year Pre-Health 
Sciences Certificate to a two-year Justice Studies Diploma 
to RDC’s f irst four-year applied degree, the Bachelor of 
Applied Arts in Animation and Visual Effects. These examples 
demonstrate how RDC successfully created innovative 
programs, in collaboration with industry partners, to provide 
students the knowledge and skills necessary to be work-ready. 

In addition to the breadth of programming offered at RDC’s 
campuses, our ongoing partnership in Campus Alberta 
Central continues to ensure we are offering and improving 
regional access to post-secondary education. When students 
are provided with relevant learning pathways in their home 
communities, they become graduates who can seamlessly 
transition into the work force, positively contributing to our 
local economy. 

RDC also strengthened our commitment to Indigenous 
communities last year, as demonstrated by our signing of the 
Colleges and Institutes Canada Indigenous Education Protocol 
in April 2019. This signing formally affirms our responsibility 
to Indigenous students and communities in the spirit of 
Truth and Reconciliation. This connects with our goal to 
increase participation of under-represented learners through 
engagement and support.

BOARD OF  
GOVERNORS’  
MESSAGE

While supporting students, RDC made a strong commitment 
to supporting at-risk children and families through our 
partnership with the Central Alberta Child Advocacy Centre. 
At an announcement event in December 2018, the community 
learned that a new Centre for Excellence is in the planning 
stage for a future build at RDC’s main campus.

From partnerships on a regional to a national scale, Red Deer 
College was a key partner in the 2019 Canada Winter Games. 
Our main campus was electric with energy in February as 
five events were hosted in our Gary W. Harris Canada Games 
Centre, and 3,600 athletes lived in the Athletes’ Village during 
the Games. The event continues to have ongoing economic, 
social, and cultural impacts on the region, and the legacy of the 
Games will support our learners through the vibrant facilities 
that will enhance our institution for decades to come.

The history of who we are and what we have achieved as an 
institution will inform the strategic planning and philosophies 
of our future as Red Deer University. We will continue to draw 
on our strengths, including the breadth of programming that 
positions graduates for employment and successful careers. 
We will also collaborate with our partners, stakeholders, and 
community members. The strength of our institution comes 
from the work we all undertake together to support central 
Alberta. As we look to the future, these partnerships will allow 
us to support an ever-increasing number of students and 
community members from across the region, our province, and 
beyond.    

Guy Pelletier, Chair
Board of Governors 

[Original signed by:]
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PRESIDENT’S 
MESSAGE

Red Deer College is in a significant time of growth 

and transition. Our journey to become Red Deer 

University is the monumental, public facing part of 

the transition. We are in the process of developing 

and preparing to offer our next four-year degrees – 

Bachelor of Education and Bachelor of Science – and 

we are committed to serving even more students in 

the future. This evolution builds on RDC’s history and 

expands the breadth of our programming, allowing 

us to serve learners and support communities in new 

and important ways.

LOOKING TO 
OUR FUTURE
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The other part of our growth and transition is the behind-the-scenes work taking place to position this 
institution to be a leader in post-secondary institutions across the province. Our current strategic plan,  
RDC 2020: A Learner-Centred Future, will expire in June, and we are engaging in conversations around a 
dynamic new plan to provide a roadmap for the future. We have enough intelligence now to make educated 
guesses regarding what post-secondary education will look like in a decade. The question becomes: where 
do we want Red Deer University to be in a decade?

To help guide this planning, we will consider areas which could include: being responsive and growing 
our programs, enhancing and re-envisioning our campuses, building our brand and student experience 
as Red Deer University, imagining new opportunities for partnerships and innovation, and strengthening 
our business model to increase sustainability. At the core, the purpose of the new plan will be to support 
students and to get people working and contributing to the central Alberta region, while also ensuring this 
institution is positioned to be increasingly financially stable.

When it comes to re-envisioning our programs, we will draw on the strengths and expertise already in 
place. RDC has been offering practicum opportunities and work-integrated learning, for example, for 
decades, and we have been doing it well. As we become Red Deer University, this will be an advantage as 
we incorporate even more of these opportunities across traditional and non-traditional program models. 
For future program development, we will explore ways to repackage programs, when possible, so that they 
can be customizable for students. Data indicates that employers are becoming less interested in credentials 
than they are in competencies. By allowing students to take courses they need, building toward a larger 
credential, we will be serving them and creating unique, sought-after program options to complement our 
existing blend. 

As we become more imaginative and creative with our programming, we will also extend this agility to 
applied research and innovation. RDC’s Centre for Innovation in Manufacturing and our Alternative Energy 
Lab can serve as the focal points from which we connect with industry and create opportunities on an 
even larger scale. By incorporating initiatives such as a SMART Park model, partnerships with industry will 
be strengthened and opportunities for students will also increase as they work on applied projects and 
prototypes. 

This work is part of a new business model, where we will challenge ourselves to consider entrepreneurial, 
revenue generating opportunities to support our operations. Another component of revenue generation 
will involve increasing international student registrations, which will support these students while positively 
improving revenue to support future program development and other valuable initiatives for our institution 
to progress. 

RDC’s current work, which provides the foundation for Red Deer University, is grounded in informed yet 
creative planning that allows us to identify opportunities and implement solutions. By offering students 
a continued strong mix of credentials, program options, and delivery methods, we position them for 
success. By collaborating with industry, stakeholders, and partners, we will strengthen opportunities for our 
students, our institution, and all of central Alberta. 

Dr. Peter Nunoda, President

[Original signed by:]
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OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW 
2018/2019 marked the year when Red Deer College (RDC) 
confirmed that it would continue to serve the educational 
needs of learners in central Alberta as Red Deer University 
(RDU). On March 5, 2019, the Government of Alberta accepted 
the recommendations from RDC’s Board of Governors and 
announced the institution’s new name, under which the 
same breadth of programs and credentials will be available 
in addition to new degrees and alternative delivery of post-
secondary programming. The opportunity to expand academic 
offerings ensures RDC is on the right path to double enrolment 
and double the economic impact for the Central Alberta 
Region as RDU. 

The academic year of 2018/2019 was characterized by an 
unpredictable volatility in terms of economy and global 
leadership. Alberta’s economy slowed near the end of 2018, due 
to market access issues resulting in a drop of global oil prices. 
While more than 40,000 jobs were added in strong sectors 
like manufacturing, petrochemical, and food processing, the 
impact of the Alberta government mandated reduction in 
oil-production affected corporate investment, particularly in 
the areas of research, professional development, household 
spending, and construction. Nonetheless, the College’s Centre 
for Innovation in Manufacturing demonstrated significant 
community connections in engaging more than 200 Small/
Medium Enterprises. Their contribution helped to secure Red 
Deer’s place in the top 60 of Canada’s most entrepreneurial 
cities in 2018. Once again, Canada’s Innovation Leaders ranked 
RDC in the top 40 of Canada’s Top 50 Research Colleges.

Based on the work of 2018/2019, RDC is ready to become RDU. 
As a university, the institution will continue to be a leader in 
the province when it comes to adjusting to the emerging 
economic environment. Ever agile in responding to change, 
and with an unwavering focus on the goal to better serve 
central Alberta learners, RDC continued to grow in programs, 
facilities, influence, and vision.

Overall, Canada’s economy grew by 0.3% near the end of 2018, 
but stagnated in the first part of 2019. Cumulative impact was 
felt in Alberta through exports and employment, resources 
and research, and education of all levels across the province, 
providing both challenges and opportunities for the future. 
The cascading effects of economic interruption have proven 
to be a catalyst for competitiveness, prompting RDC to explore 
more creative pathways to credentialed programming and 
increase the number of innovative partnerships providing 
direct industry access for students. 

RDC’s comprehensive programming mirrors the need to 
diversify the economy of the Central Alberta Region and across 
the province. According to the federal International Education 
Strategy 2019-2024, Canada will face significant medium- and 
long-term labour shortages in the next five years, particularly 
in highly qualified professional fields and skilled trades. This 
reaffirms RDC’s role in providing a breadth of credentials and 
promoting central Alberta as the most innovative, equipped, 
and responsible place to do business. 

STRATEGIC 
DIRECTIONS



2018/2019 ANNUAL REPORT   |   11

New revenue generating opportunities are now available 
to the College because of the functional opening of the 
Alternative Energy Lab, the expansion of programming to 
the Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre, and the completed 
construc tion of  the environmentally  responsible and 
operationally sustainable residence development. For the first 
time, bundled packages of facilities, accommodations, and 
services are available to support entrepreneurial ventures and 
corporate solutions. This branch of operations on RDC’s main 
campus has benefitted both students and the community in 
providing access to a fully equipped educational experience. 
Aligned efforts between the School of Continuing Education 
and Ancillary and Sport Services promise a financially viable 
future for RDC. Further initiatives around internationalization 
and working with the Ministry on tuition realignment ensure 
the College is equipped to undertake university transition. 
The corporate function of the College engaged operations 
across all divisions in order to maximize innovative cost savings 
within existing infrastructure. Identified efficiencies enabled 
an increase in program offerings despite a constrained fiscal 
environment, allowing RDC to respond to regional demand. 

Alberta’s population expanded by 1.6% in 2018/2019 due to 
nearly 40,000 net international relocations and more than 5,000 
interprovincial moves. The increasingly global perspective 
complements the work done to prepare RDC to accept 
more international students with the right administrative 
and student supports in place. The Centre for Continuous 
Improvement was established in 2018/2019, creating a space 
within which to re-envision the options for RDC’s operations, 
allowing the institution to continue offering the programs 
that industry, businesses, and all Albertans need. This is the 
first step to exploring alternative revenue sources and more 
entrepreneurial approaches to how programs are financed, 
developed, and delivered in addition to how operations are 
implemented. 
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RDC  |  GOAL 1

Across the North American workplace, shifts in process and 
digital acceleration indicate that the shelf life of a stagnant 
set of industry-specific skills is shortening. RDC’s anticipatory 
action is to integrate experiential  learning as a means 
to close the talent gap and accelerate regional business 
opportunities, thus creating the right climate for growth. 
With a maturing student demographic, the economic need 
to up-skill or re-skill according to the demands of a dynamic 
workforce has influenced a new stream of programs at RDC 
in the post-diploma certificate. An accumulating need for 
human services in the Central Alberta Region accounts 
for  the expansion exper ienced in the f ie lds of  Social 
Work, Early Learning and Child Care, and Administrative 
Professionals .  RDC exper ienced an increase in credit 
program enrolment as compared to 2017/2018, especially 
relating to the Bachelor of Science, University Transfer, which 
is a strong indicator of the need for an equivalent RDU 
Bachelor of Science degree, such as scheduled to launch in  
Fall 2021. 

The work undertaken in 2018/2019 demonstrated a higher 
level of accountability in moving RDC significantly closer to 
the goal of becoming RDU. Areas of focus included authentic 
connections with regional Indigenous communities, as well 
as engaging employers and sector partners in program 
advisory roles as we prepare to of fer our first degrees as 
RDU. This direction is part of the larger strategy to increase 
the Central Alberta Region post-secondary participation 
rate to be on par with Alberta’s provincial average. RDU will 
ensure regional learners can select a relevant credential from 
a diverse complement of programming of fered through 
a variety of methods for delivery. This, in turn, will af fect 
growth in the current and future labour market by providing 
a highly skilled and educated labour force. The dedicated and 
attentive focus of RDC’s 2018/2019 work toward fulfilling the 
institution’s mandate through university transition, as reflected 
in this Annual Report, positions RDC to be the leader in post-
secondary education of the future.
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 1
Enhance student success
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality

Expected Outcome 1 
Programs integrate retention strategies that enhance 
RDC’s ability to support students throughout the 
learning process, including early intervention for 
students at risk of not completing their programs.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality

Expected Outcome 2 
Capacity rates set at levels that are reasonable and 
achievable for the current economy.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality

Expected Outcome 3
Enhanced counselling support, student mental health 
initiatives, and student life activities.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality

GOALS, PRIORITY INITIATIVES, EXPECTED OUTCOMES,  
AND PERFORMANCE MEASURES

GOAL 1
RDC WILL BUILD  

A LEARNER-CENTRED 
CULTURE.

RDC WILL BUILD A LEARNER-CENTRED CULTURE
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Average Year to Year Retention Rate of Programs  
that Offer Two Years of Programming (Diploma Programs)

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

80% 84% 85% 85%

Average Completion Rate for Parchment Programs 
(Certificate, Diploma, Advanced Certificate,  

and Applied Degree)

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

70% 77% 73% 70%

Percentage of Program Completers who are Satisfied 
with the Personal Counselling Services Provided  

by the Counselling Centre

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

90% 91% 87% N/A

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Expected Outcome 4
Learning communities developed among students in 
different programs within Schools.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality

Performance Measure 1 
Year to year retention rates in programs that offer  
two years of programming.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

Performance Measure 2 
Completion rates for parchment programs. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

Performance Measure 3 
Student satisfaction with mental health services 
offered through the Counselling and Career Centre. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019
 

PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 1: 

The shared goal of all Schools continues to be maximizing 
reach and impact of programs without compromising learner-
centred principles. Strategies to better support struggling 
students include: 

• Creation of program benchmarks to monitor student 
progress

• Creation of remedial courses for struggling students to 
complete before moving forward

• Implementing Learning Contracts

The Success and Growth Committee consists of the Vice 
President Academic, student delegates, faculty, Service 
Council members, and others from within the Academic 
Portfolio. In 2018/2019, they received 14 recommendations 
from the Retention Sub-Committee addressing the work 
required to better serve the needs of RDC students. The 
recommendations include work around admission, retention, 
academic support, financial support, mental health support, 
and diversified course offerings. 

The Academic Support department, which is now a part of the 
Library and Student Supports, offered free professional tutoring 
in writing skills, math skills, and English as a Second Language. 
Additionally, a peer group-tutoring program was introduced 
that focussed on subject areas that historically and consistently 
have the highest demand.

With the assistance of the Post-Secondary Mental Health 
Grant, RDC offered increased mental health promotion and 
prevention activities on campus in 2018/2019. Some examples 
of those from within the Counselling Centre are as follows: 

• The Counselling Centre adopted a Stepped Care Model of 
service delivery, ensuring students are initially assessed to 
determine if they are most appropriately served through 
RDC’s Counselling Centre or a community health care 
resource. 

• In 2018/2019, the Counselling Centre offered 48 workshops 
to 440 attendees sponsored by RDC’s comprehensive 
Campus Mental Health program

RDC  |  GOAL 1
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RDC WILL BUILD A LEARNER-CENTRED CULTURE

• 400 more personal counselling sessions were offered to 
students in 2018/2019 than the previous year, which is due, 
in part, to the addition of two graduate-level practicum 
students to the Counselling Centre team. This expanded 
complement of counsellors allowed for sessions to be offered 
one evening a week, increasing students’ access to this 
support.

A number of student wellness initiatives were facilitated 
through a collaborative ef fort by Campus Recreation, the 
Students’ Association, Athletics, Counselling Services, Ancillary 
Services, Indigenous Services, Residence, and the Health, Safety 
and Wellness Centre.  These activities included:

• Make Some Time, Make Some Noise: Mental Health 
Awareness – ACAC initiative

• Journey into Senses

• Self-care

• Bell “Let’s Talk”

• Movies for Mental Health

The Counselling Centre launched a Mental Health Basics course 
for staff and faculty, which focused on mental health signals of 
distress and where to send students on campus for supports. 
More than 90 staff and faculty completed this course. This is 
in addition to the 15 Mental Health First Aid workshops that 
were offered to staff and faculty throughout 2018/2019, which 
is a significant increase of 12 more training sessions than were 
offered in 2017/2018, illustrating the acute increase in demand 
for initiatives which enhance student mental health. 

A key element of student success is the enriched and diverse 
environment at RDC, which allows students to engage with 
others enrolled in programs different from their own. During 
the 2018/2019 academic year, these learning communities have 
been developed in the following ways:

• School of Trades and Technologies’ Engineering Technology 
Capstone course students from all three Engineering 
Technology programs worked together to assess and 
develop interdisciplinary solutions to real industry problems 
and opportunities.

• The Donald School of Business launched a “Dean’s Certificate” 
program, aimed at providing students with opportunities to 
engage in non-academic activities and gain practical, applied 
experiences that will serve them in job searching.

• The School of Creative Arts featured a Year-End Student 
Learning Showcase, allowing students to connect through 
multidisciplinary networking.
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 2
Schools incorporate School-defined, learner-
centered principles into all their practices.
Expected Completion Date:  2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality

Expected Outcome 1 
Increased awareness, application, and examination of 
learner-centred principles among the Schools’ faculty  
and staff. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality

Expected Outcome 2 
Strategies, practices, and processes informed by  
learner-centred principles. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality

Expected Outcome 3
All new and redeveloped courses incorporate the  
five learner-centred principles.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality

Performance Measure 1 
Graduates report learner-centred culture characteristics  
in their programs and services. 

Expected Completion Date: June 2019

Performance Measure 2
Faculty and staff report learner-centred culture 
characteristics in learning activities. 

Expected Completion Date: June 2019

Performance Measure 3 
Faculty report incorporating learner-centred culture 
characteristics into their pedagogy. 

Expected Completion Date: June 2019

Percentage of Program Completers Reporting Learner-
Centred Characteristics in Programs and Services

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

90% 93% 93% 93%

Percentage of Faculty and Staff Reporting Learner-Centred 
Culture Characteristics in their Learning Activities

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

75% 80% 79% 79%

Percentage of Faculty Reporting Incorporating Learner-
Centred Culture Characteristics into their Pedagogy

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

75% 83% 83% N/A

RDC  |  GOAL 1
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PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 2: 

Learner-centred principles shape the way in which all academic 
functions operate in service of students’ needs. 

The Centre for Teaching and Learning launched the “Excellence 
in Online Teaching and Learning” module, which is an 
expansion and contextualization of both the Introduction to 
Teaching and Learning and the Excellence in Teaching and 
Learning programs. While all new faculty are required to 
complete the Introduction to Teaching and Learning program, 
further development in supporting best practices of teaching 
and learning for all program delivery models, including 
blended and face-to-face, is an option for professional 
development.

Learning Designers within the Centre for Teaching and 
Learning guide faculty through the program development 
or redevelopment process to ensure that the five learner-
centred principles – balance of power, function of content, 
role of teacher, responsibility for learning, and assessment and 
evaluation – are embedded wherever possible. Other best 
practices such as universal design for learning and high-impact 
education practices continue to inform how RDC curriculum is 
designed. 2018/2019 provided an intersection of theory and 
action as the Centre for Teaching and Learning created several 
Online and Blended Course Development & Delivery models, 
which were utilized on several projects, including: 

• Developing a Pre-Health Sciences program for online 
delivery

• Auditing and redeveloping several Donald School of Business 
online courses

• Redeveloping the Practical Nurse Diploma for remote 
delivery in the Central Alberta Region as well as on campus

• Reviewing and redeveloping several Educational Assistant 
and Early Learning and Childcare courses

Across the board in 2018/2019, learner-centred principles 
and strategies were developed and discussed in terms of key 
learnings within multiple schools via self-reflective faculty 
reports, reading and discussion of tools such as Leading the 
Learner Centered Campus by Michael Harris and Roxanne Cullen. 
Learning remains at the centre of RDC’s institutional values, and 
this is reflected in the work being completed toward university 
transition.

RDC WILL BUILD A LEARNER-CENTRED CULTURE
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 3
Deliver and sustain a Management Learning 
Continuum for all supervisors and managers 
within RDC.
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Quality
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 1 
All existing managers and supervisors complete the 
training, apply their learnings, and receive mentoring 
through a community of practice.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Quality
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 2 
A sustained approach designed for new-to-role managers/
supervisors.

Expected Completion Date: 2019

• Quality
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 3
Use of consistent language and tools across RDC for 
people leadership and employee engagement.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Quality
• Accountability

Performance Measure 1 
Participation in training program by all existing and  
new-to-role managers/supervisors. 

Target: 100%

73 managers and supervisors (100%) completed  
the Management Development Workshop.

Performance Measure 2
Employees are supported by their supervisors and are 
performing well in their jobs.  

Target: 90%

Percentage of Employees who Report they  
are Supported by their Supervisor and are  

Performing Well in their Jobs

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

90% 90% 90% N/A

RDC  |  GOAL 1
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PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 3: 

RDC contracted the services of a Learning and Development 
Consultant to co-facilitate the delivery of the “Management 
Development Workshop” aimed at providing training to all 
Managers and Supervisors. The participants were divided into 
four cohorts, and training consisted of four days of in-class 
learning followed by a scheduled half day to bring the cohorts 
back together six months after the initial training to discuss 
learnings and refresh the material previously presented. The 
program encouraged peers to share experiences from their 
areas and recommended having “accountability check-ins” 
with one another once the program is finished. The program 
has created a collaborative environment between peers and a 
consistent approach to managing employees.

In Spring 2019, the institution launched the Champions of 
Change Program, designed to provide peer coaching to 
reinforce the learnings from the training. The Champions 
are individuals who have completed the program, who 
demonstrate strong leadership skills and are proficient in 
demonstrating the concepts and practices of the workshops. 
The Champions will lead sub-cohort communities of practice 
to ensure ongoing learning for the managers and supervisors.

In May 2019, 17 members of senior administration attended 
a condensed version of the Management Development 
Workshop to ensure senior leadership is equipped with the 
same information, language and skills as the managers and 
supervisors to serve as additional role models of the learned 
behaviours and skills.

RDC WILL BUILD A LEARNER-CENTRED CULTURE
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 1
Equip RDC to assume its role as a  
degree-granting institution and  
prepare it to become a university.
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Coordination
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 1 
The initial step to offering degrees at RDC is accomplished 
through the rebranding (renaming) of the institution. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality
• Coordination
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 2
RDC builds on its solid foundation and reputation to 
transition smoothly to its new status. 

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Accountability

Performance Measure 1 
RDC is renamed to reflect its new status as a university. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

March 5, 2019, RDC publicly announced its new name:  
Red Deer University

GOAL 2
RDC WILL ASSERT 
ITS COMMITMENT 

TO COMPREHENSIVE 
PROGRAMMING: 

ACADEMIC UPGRADING, 
APPRENTICESHIP, 

CERTIFICATES, DIPLOMAS, 
UNIVERSITY TRANSFER, 

CONTINUING EDUCATION, 
AND DEGREES AS REQUIRED 

BY THE CENTRAL REGION.

RDC  |  GOAL 2
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DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Performance Measure 2 
Completion of a five-year program development plan, as 
well as a plan for transitioning to university status. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

The Program Mix Plan maintains the academic 
direction over a 10-year horizon, identifying learning 
oppor tunities for current and future programs. 
To asser t RDC’s commitment to comprehensive 
programming while also supporting growth as a 
university, a breadth of credentials including degree 
programs, diplomas, and certificates that ladder to 
degrees were identified as priorities within the plan. 
The work done has identified RDC’s first degrees as the 
Bachelor of Education, Bachelor of Science in Biological 
Sciences and Bachelor of Business Administration. 

In December 2018, RDC submit ted a University 
Transit ion Plan Outline to Alber ta’s  Minister of 
Advanced Education. Developed in collaboration 
with Ministry of ficials, this document frames the 
major bodies of work to complete and milestones to 
achieve up until June 2025 in order for RDC to gain 
government approval for university designation under 
the Post-Secondary Learning Act. The full transition plan 
continues to develop and will describe RDC’s future 
regarding four main areas: governance, academic plan, 
budget, and system impact within Campus Alberta. 

PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 1: 

A University Transition office was established in September 
2018 with the creation of the new positions of Associate 
Vice President Academic, University Transition, and a Project 
Coordinator. Primary responsibilities have included the 
development of an Institutional Self-Study for the Campus 
Alberta Quality Council (CAQC), a transition plan as required 
by the Ministry of Advanced Education, and provision of 
strategic advice and consultation with the Vice President 
Academic, President, and other senior leaders.  

Af ter thorough consultation with approximately 400 
individuals from our community, students, faculty, staf f, 
alumni, donors, and members of government, RDC submitted 
and gained approval from the provincial government for 
our university name: Red Deer University. The brand and 
naming recommendations were presented to and endorsed 
by RDC’s Board of Governors. Communication strategies were 
identified and made ready to release the Red Deer University 
brand for transition. 

RDC WILL ASSERT ITS COMMITMENT TO COMPREHENSIVE PROGRAMMING: ACADEMIC UPGRADING, APPRENTICESHIP, CERTIFICATES, 
DIPLOMAS, UNIVERSITY TRANSFER, CONTINUING EDUCATION, AND DEGREES AS REQUIRED BY THE CENTRAL REGION.
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 2
Organize annual reviews of programs 
based on the Program Mix Plan  
and criteria.
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 1 
A systematic review process implemented for adding new 
programs and for redeveloping, phasing out, or replacing 
existing programs. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Accountability

Performance Measure 1 
New academic programs offered. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

Total Number of New Academic Programs Offered

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

2 6 2 1

PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 2: 

On an annual basis, Program Improvement data is provided 
to each School in order to monitor and ensure the continuous 
improvement of credit and apprenticeship programs on 
a variety of measures. This systematic review process has 
become the expected practice of the Academic Portfolio in 
order to ensure quality programming. 

In 2018/2019, a working group composed of stakeholders 
from the Centre for Teaching and Learning, Office of the 
Registrar, Strategic Planning and Analysis, and the Academic 
Policy Committee met to review the process governing the 
development and redevelopment of programs, the review of 
curriculum, as well as annual and cyclical program reviews. 
Their recommendation resulted in a single Program Quality 
Assurance Policy and associated procedures to replace three 
individual contributing policies. This consolidation increases 
efficiency and ensures high-quality programming that meets 
the evolving needs of the changing institution.

RDC  |  GOAL 2
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 1
Demonstrate academic and service  
excellence through exceptional and robust 
teaching and learning experiences. 
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 1 
High-quality opportunities for practical learning in 
leadership, education, and research readily available  
to learners. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality

Expected Outcome 2 
Accreditation and/or program approval status achieved 
and/or maintained as required by individual programs.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Quality
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 3 
Curricula in existing programs updated and relevant 
new programs and curricula are developed.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality

Expected Outcome 4 
Programs and service areas are supported to  
successfully complete review processes.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Quality
• Accountability

GOAL 3
RDC WILL BE KNOWN FOR 
ACADEMIC EXCELLENCE 

AND PRACTICAL, ENRICHING 
LEARNING EXPERIENCES  

FOR STUDENTS.
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Performance Measure 1 
Current student satisfaction with the overall quality  
of their educational experience. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

Performance Measure 2
Program Completer satisfaction with the quality of their 
practical/experiential learning experiences. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

Performance Measure 3 
Programs undergoing reviews for quality improvement  
or accreditation.  

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

Percentage of Current Students who are Satisfied with 
the Overall Quality of their Educational Experience

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

90% 93% N/A N/A

Percentage of Program Completers who are  
Satisfied with the Real-World, Hands-on, or  

Practical Experience Received in their Program

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

90% 92% 91% 91%

RDC  |  GOAL 3

Total Number of Programs Undergoing Reviews*

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

8 14 13 8

*Program Review is a two-year process, so programs may be counted in 
more than one year.

PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 1: 

Every RDC program currently has the opportunity for 
experiential learning, but the options continue to expand, 
matching the need to offer a wide range of opportunities for 
students, including applied and hands-on knowledge in each 
program. RDC students are offered a number of hands-on 
learning opportunities such as: formal practicums, field 
placements or projects integrated into program curricula, 
applied learning for credit, non-formal applied learning, 
or research-specific learning opportunities. These work 
placements aid in a seamless transition for students entering 
the workplace.

Most notably in 2018/2019: 

• The School of Health Sciences sought out practicum 
opportunities within RDC’s Fitness Centre, Athletics, and 
Collegiate Sports Medicine for students in the Kinesiology 
program.

• Justice Studies students within the School of Arts and 
Sciences were provided with two new community 
placements.

• Practicum Facilitators within the School of Education placed a 
total of 474 students in local schools and businesses through 
the Early Learning Child Care Certificate.

• Four Motion Picture Arts students received course credit by 
working on professional TV and film sets around Alberta.

• The Office of the Registrar processed almost 100  
Co-Curricular Record Applications for students engaged  
in learning activities outside of regular coursework. 

• In addition to preceptorships and practicums within the 
Donald School of Business, students have the option of a 
second-year course called BADM 290 “Theory in Action,” 
and the benefit of instructor strategies across the breadth 
of courses, which include guest speaker lectures, mock 
interviews, and contributing to industry-supplied projects.

• The School of Trades and Technologies reimagined the 
format for their annual “Industry Night,” where students are 
introduced to potential future employers. 
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RDC WILL BE KNOWN FOR ACADEMIC EXCELLENCE AND PRACTICAL, ENRICHING LEARNING EXPERIENCES FOR STUDENTS.

Accreditation and/or program approval is an important aspect 
of ensuring RDC graduates are employable in their desired 
industry. With the exciting opportunity presented by university 
transition, the following Schools are highlighted for their work 
in 2018/2019: 

• The Donald School of Business received accreditation 
for the Administrative Professionals Certificate through 
the “Canadian Certified Administrative Professionals.” 
Additionally, other Donald School of Business programs are 
recognized by Chartered Professional Accountants, Certified 
Professionals in Human Resources (across Alberta, British 
Columbia, and Saskatchewan), Investment Fund of Canada, 
and Canadian Institute of Financial Planning. 

• The School of Health Sciences has worked to seek continued 
accreditation for the Medical Lab Assistant, Occupational 
and Physical Therapist Assistant, and Practical Nurse 
programs. 

• The School of Continuing Education was approved by 
Alberta Health Service to deliver Health Care Aide as a  
non-credit program, resulting in five cohorts being  
delivered across the region.

RDC’s content specialists are recognized as being on the 
forefront of curriculum change. Faculty members from the 
School of Trades and Technologies were actively engaged 
as recommending members of the course outline review 
process led by Alberta Apprenticeship and Industry Training 
(AIT). Specific program areas undergoing substantial updates 
in 2018/2019 included the following programs: Steamfitter-
Pipefitter, Industrial Mechanic (Millwright), Heavy Equipment 
Technician, and Automotive Service Technician. 

Six programs completed RDC’s program review process in 
2018/2019: 

• Bachelor of Education – University Transfer (School of 
Education)

• Educational Assistant Certificate (School of Education)

• Academic Upgrading (School of Education) 

• Transitional Vocational (School of Education)

• Pharmacy Technician (School of Health Sciences)

• Legal Assistant Diploma (Donald School of Business)

In 2018/2019, RDC launched two new post-diploma certificate 
programs (the Health Care Management Post-Diploma 
Certificate and eLearning Instructor Post-Diploma Certificate) 
and developed the curriculum of three proposed degree 
programs (Bachelor of Education; Bachelor of Science, 
Biological Sciences; and Bachelor of Business Administration) 
while updating the relevancy and impact of 12 additional 
programs in the School of Education, the Donald School of 
Business, School of Trades and Technologies, and School of 
Health Sciences.

The ongoing work to ensure students receive the highest 
standards of quality education through academic and service 
excellence at RDC ensures that the institution will be known 
for academic excellence and practical, enriching learning 
experiences. 
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 2
Implement the Research, Scholarly,  
and Creative Activity Plan.
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality

Expected Outcome 1 
The scholarship of Application, Integration and 
Teaching and Learning (as outlined in Boyer’s Model of 
Scholarship) is widely understood within the College, 
particularly among faculty.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Quality

Expected Outcome 2 
Increased recognition and awareness of faculty and 
staff research and scholarly activity with an emphasis 
on activity that aligns with RDC’s institutional model.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality

Expected Outcome 3 
Additional institutional support is available for student 
research activities.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality

Performance Measure 1 
Faculty engaged in research and scholarship. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

Performance Measure 2 
Students, Faculty and staff supported by the  
Research Common. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

RDC  |  GOAL 3

Number of Students, Faculty and Staff Supported by  
the Research Common

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

45 146 145 57

Total number of faculty who reported scholarly activity 
as defined by Boyer's Model of Scholarship

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

135 85* 115 130

*The target of 135 faculty engaged in research and scholarship was not 
reflected in the information provided through the redesigned data 
collection tool. Of the 85 faculty who took the time to complete the 
survey, the average number of research and scholarship engagements 
for each individual was four. RDC recognizes the value of faculty 
research and scholarship and has made changes to ensure that the 
restructuring of resources brings all aspects of research and scholarship 
under a single administrator: Dean of Teaching, Learning and Research.
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RDC WILL BE KNOWN FOR ACADEMIC EXCELLENCE AND PRACTICAL, ENRICHING LEARNING EXPERIENCES FOR STUDENTS.

PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 2: 

In November 2018, the RDC Research, Scholarly, and Creative 
Activity Framework was approved by Academic Council. This 
Framework lays the foundation for the future of academic 
research and scholarly activity as RDC transitions to RDU. In 
light of the research and scholarly activity expectations for 
degree programs, the following four strategic themes were 
identified: 

1. Understanding, Promoting, and Celebrating

2. Support for faculty research, scholarly, and  
creative activity

3. Support for student research

4. Development of research services infrastructure

The Research Common is a place where facult y,  staf f, 
students, and the community can connect with areas of 
RDC that offer assistance with research and scholarly activity. 
In 2018/2019, the Research Common served 146 individual 
faculty, students, and staff 199 times (not including website 
accesses) through workshops and one-on-one consultations.  

The Research Common hosted 14 workshops in 2018/2019 on 
a variety of topics including grant writing, ethics, Recognition 
of Scholarly Activity (RoSA), applications, predatory publishers, 
research poster design, applied research, and the Research 
Ethics Board. Individual consultations explored everything in 
the research process from design to presentation. To assist 
students in their research projects, the Research Common 
offers Simple Survey accounts, an online survey tool utilized 
through five bookable laptops loaded with Nvivo and SPSS.

This year, the Research and Scholarship Committee updated 
the scholarly activity data collection tool to include the 
identi f ication of specif ic domains of Boyer ’s  Model of 
Scholarship. The Boyer Model of Scholarship is the accepted 
structure for research, scholarly, and creative activity at RDC, 
as communicated through peer-to-peer learning, conferences, 
webinars, and available resources in the Research Common. 
Knowledge of Boyer ’s Model of Scholarship is evident, 
par ticularly among facult y,  in terms of publishing and 
presenting academic research, writing and editing books, and 
producing original artistic works at a professional level. 

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 3
Showcase RDC’s academic strength,  
program quality, institutional reputation, 
student experience and newly acquired 
degree-granting status.
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality

Expected Outcome 1 
Increased awareness of RDC’s academic excellence and 
high levels of student satisfaction. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality

Expected Outcome 1 
Increased awareness of RDC’s ability to grant degrees as 
approved CAQC and AAE.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Performance Measure 1 
Student applications to regular credit programs. 

Expected Completion Date: Fall 2019

Total Number of Applications to Credit Programs in  
All Years of Programming

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

7,700 7,779 7,384 7,566

RDC  |  GOAL 3

PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 3: 

In November 2018, RDC hosted the first annual “Building 
on Excellence” awards ceremony, celebrating and profiling 
seven RDC Trades apprentice students who earned medals 
at the 2018 Skills Canada Alberta competition. Three of these 
students also earned top placement at the Skills Canada 
National competition and went on to compete for spots with 
Team Canada. Of those, one RDC apprentice, Taylor McCallum, 
advanced to the World Skills competition in Russia, which 
took place in August 2019. 

At this year’s Skills Canada Alberta competitions in May 
2019, 70% of RDC’s Trades apprentices who were in the 
competition placed on the podium in their respective fields. 
Three of these were gold medalists who went on to the Skills 
Canada National competition, and one earned gold in his 
field. Additionally, two of the four participating high school 
students who are part of RDC’s School Within a College 
program earned gold and silver medals at the Skills Canada 
Alberta competition, and one went on to earn gold at the 
Skills Canada National competition. 

In addition to celebrating the accomplishments of individual 
students at RDC, the work continues to increase awareness of 
the institution’s ability to grant degrees as approved by Campus 
Alberta Quality Council and Alberta Advanced Education. This 
objective is clearly illustrated through the successful launch of 
RDC’s School of Creative Arts four-year applied degrees. The 
Year 1 cohort for the Animation and Visual Effects program was 
full with a waitlist for Fall 2019.  

Numerous stakeholder engagement sessions have occurred, 
particularly under the auspice of the Bachelor of Education 
Program Advisor  Commit tee,  which has expanded in 
membership to include more than 40 individuals representing 
al l  school distr ic ts  in central  Alber ta ,  Central  Alber ta 
School Superintendents, and the voice of local Indigenous 
communities. The Donald School of Business facilitated the 
input of more than 60 business leaders from the Central Alberta 
Region, generating feedback to inform the development of 
RDC’s new Bachelor of Business Administration degree. 
Ongoing consultations with other post-secondary institutions 
in Alberta ensure that RDC’s programming meets and exceeds 
the standard of education already established in this province.

(Courtesy, WorldSkills)
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 1
Meet enrolment targets for all programs.
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 1 
Enrolment growth realized in all Schools.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accountability

Expected Outcome 2 
Recruitment and advising activities, events, and initiatives 
result in more learners choosing RDC.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 3 
Recruitment and enrolment data are used to support, 
inform, and influence decision-making in the Schools.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accountability

GOAL 4
RDC WILL DEVELOP A  

STABLE RESOURCE BASE.
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Performance Measure 1 
Total Full Load Equivalent (FLE) enrolment at RDC. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

RDC  |  GOAL 4

Total Full Load Equivalent (FLE) Enrolment

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

3,843 3,724 3,779 3,863

*In 2018/2019, three out of the six Schools offering credit programs 
experienced overall enrolment growth: the School of Ar ts and 
Sciences, School of Education, and School of Health Sciences. The 
lack of measurable growth in the School of Trades and Technologies, 
the Donald School of Business, and the School of Creative Arts can 
be attributed to a variety of factors including reduced regional 
e m p l oy m e nt ,  p ro g r a m m in g ch a n g e s ,  u p d ate s  to  e nt r a n ce 
requirements, and the overall economy. For more details of RDC’s 
2018/2019 enrolment, please see the list of Strategies to Mitigate Risk in 
Appendix A as well as the Enrolment Plan in Appendix B.

PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 1: 

RDC’s recruitment marketing campaign RDC Reasons , 
received 7,997 unique views of the campaign webpage 
in 2018/2019, compared to 2,904 unique webpage views 
during the previous year (a 175% increase). Supporting this 
work, the School of Trades and Technologies utilized an 
entertainment and social media strategy to encourage 
enrolment growth in the Engineering Technology programs 
by running promotional videos in central Alberta cinemas 
and releasing audio clips on the radio. The Donald School 
of Business restructured their website, a main portal for 
communicating with potential students, in order to provide 
better access through online searches. The School of Health 
Sciences of fered orientation sessions (Health Sciences 
101) in both online and face-to-face formats. Additionally, 
the School of Health Sciences has utilized the available 
software of Blackboard Collaborate for advising sessions with 
students who are unable to meet face-to-face. The School of 
Continuing Education doubled their digital marketing tactics 
in 2018/2019 and, according to Google Analytics, reaped an 
increased online presence. 

The 2019 Canada Winter Games provided the per fect 
opportunity for Red Deer College to connect with more 
than 3,500 potential students, and programs hosted a display 
booth in the facilities used by athletes from across Canada 
who were on campus for the Games. 

It is policy that when decisions are made about what new 
programs should be added to RDC’s Program Mix, data received 
through recruitment activities is one factor for consideration 
in predicting a program’s future potential enrolment, thus 
ensuring all decisions concerning programming are data-
driven. The School of Trades and Technologies began using a 
net-contribution model as part of their enrolment planning, as 
well as implementing a practice of accompanying all requests 
for capital funding and equipment renewal with a business 
case that supports each recommendation. Additionally, the 
careful study of data revealed a gap in regional delivery for 
Animation and Visual Effects programming, resulting in the 
launch of this new applied degree at RDC. Enrolment data is 
shared with the Deans of each School at regular intervals in 
order to best inform decision-making within the Schools. For 
example, in 2018/2019, enrolment for the newly launched 
Justice Studies program exceeded original expectations, 
resulting in the decision to increase course capacity and create 
additional sections for 2019/2020.
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 2
Develop and deliver operational 
excellence. 
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Affordability
• Quality
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 1 
A culture of continuous improvement and 
measurement of value and execution.  

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Quality
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 2 
Development of a sustainable operational model 
based on re-engineered processes, critical efficiencies, 
and optimized resources supporting transition to 
university status. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Affordability
• Quality
• Accountability

Performance Measure 1 
Key processes evaluated and assessed for potential 
gains in efficiency. 

Target: 6

Using the Lean Six Sigma tools, eight projects targeting 
eight different processes are being re-engineered for 
potential gains in efficiency.

Performance Measure 2 
Process re-engineering plans implemented. 

Target: 3

Projects Process Area Function

2 Kaizen
Human 

Resources

Onboarding 

Leave Request / 
Report Projects

1 3P
Continuing 
Education

Online Registration 
Tool

1 DMAIC
Library and 
Information 

Common
Disability Services

1 DMAIC
Registrar’s 

Office
International 

Student Registration

1 DMAIC Finance Expense Reporting

1 DMAIC
Ancillary and 

Sport Services
Conference 

Management

1 DMAIC
Community 

Relations
Sponsorship 

Contracts

1 DMAIC
School of 
Education

Practicum Oversight

RDC WILL DEVELOP A STABLE RESOURCE BASE.
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PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 2: 

While the conversations around operational efficiency and 
continuous improvement began in 2017/2018, the academic 
year of 2018/2019 introduced an environment of increased 
fiscal constraint. This reality encouraged senior leaders to 
evaluate their work in terms of the value added, and envision 
what non-critical activities may be subject to change. Several 
functions were identified as addressing similar student 
needs (i.e. the Centre for Teaching and Learning, Indigenous 
Services, and emerging research services, as well as the 
Library Information Common and the Student Testing Centre, 
Disability Resources, and on-campus Counselling), and thus 
reorganized as two unified divisions (now the department of 
Teaching, Learning and Research as well as the Library and 
Student Supports). Additional in-year adjustments focused 
on structural changes to senior administration and support 
areas, optimizing the resources of the non-academic staff 
complement. 

The senior administration at RDC completed a two-day 
executive green belt workshop in January 2019 and agreed to 
pursue a Lean Management System at RDC. This has resulted 
in 12 employees being trained as Yellow belts. Approximately 
50 employees and nine departments have participated in 
the projects thus far to equip them with the tools, language, 
process, and supports to facilitate both targeted and 
ongoing process improvement. A dedicated employee who 
is in Black belt training is leading the system for RDC. Senior 
administration held a subsequent two-day workshop in June 
2019 to begin creating an infrastructure that will support this 
system within RDC going forward.

The Centre for Continuous Improvement was established 
in 2018/2019, with the work focusing on utilizing existing 
resources to evaluate ef f iciency. These ef for ts were, in 
part, accomplished by initiating a business process review, 
conducting consultation with internal stakeholders, proposing 
and analyzing solutions, and preparing project plans. Year 
one has yielded primarily time and process savings, as well as 
training and infrastructure set up (i.e. Onboarding and Leave 
Request / Report Projects).

College Services explored a comparison of existing merchant 
rates with other payment processing service providers in the 
province and determined that RDC’s fees are in line with other 
post-secondary institutions. It was decided that as agreements 
expire, users will access the market for future settlement and 
processing services. Results of this collective approach allowed 
Finance to determine the most efficient and effective process 
for purchase requisitions as well as refine the document 
management and contract management solutions.

The Strategic Planning and Analysis division undertook a 
significant process change in its policy framework including 
development, decision framework, approval, communication, 
and management of policies. Since approval of the new 
framework (January 2019), 24 of the 123 policies have been 
addressed with many more being reviewed. This is a great 
process and culture change for RDC.

RDC  |  GOAL 4

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 3
Pursue grant and funding opportunities 
related to key initiatives.
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Coordination
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 1 
RDC submits more grant applications and is more 
successful in obtaining funding.  

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Affordability
• Quality
• Accountability
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DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Expected Outcome 2 
Provincial and federal funding secured to support 
delivery of targeted programs and initiatives (e.g. 
support for Indigenous learners and collaboration with 
Indigenous stakeholders). 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Coordination
• Accountability

Performance Measure 1 
Grant applications successful in securing funding. 

Target: 50%

In 2018/2019, nine applied research grant applications 
were submitted, six of which were successful in 
obtaining funds. This 67% success rate in College-
wide grant applications securing funding makes $2.7M 
available for RDC’s use over the next three years.

RDC WILL DEVELOP A STABLE RESOURCE BASE.

PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 3: 

Ongoing provincial and federal funding is vital for supporting 
the delivery of programs and initiatives for Indigenous learners, 
in particular, and all RDC students, in general, as they pursue 
post-secondary education. The Centre for Innovation in 
Manufacturing (CIM) has a grant application success rate from 
2018/2019 that was on par with previous years, but the dollar 
value received was 63% compared to prior funding allocations. 
Between 2016 and 2019, 33 distinct CIM grant applications have 
resulted in securing 18 grants totaling $2.6M. In 2018/2019, 
specifically, nine CIM grant applications resulted in five grants 
totaling $202,000. 

The Counselling Centre prepared two grant applications in 
2018/2019 to focus on a Work Integrated Learning project 
to explore the centralization of applied learning platforms 
across curricula with supplemental collaborations facilitated 
by Career Services. This is in addition to efforts to expand 
the already impactful Addictions Counselling and Harm 
Reduction programming on campus. Health Canada has 
offered contiguous funds via the Substance Use and Addictions 
Program (SUAP) grant. 

The School of Continuing Education provided a number of 
programs with a variety of funds: 

• Alberta Foundation for the Arts and Actua sponsored 
summer camps at RDC

• Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of 
Alberta (APEGA) Education Foundation supported the Red 
Hot Science Promotion

• Be Fit for Life granted monies for several physical literacy 
programs

• Government of Alberta Language Settlement Branch 
partnered with the work done to provide the Trauma-Informed 

ESL Educator Certificate and the Workplace Language Skills 
Certificate

• Lifelong Learning Council of Red Deer provided funds for the 
Alberta workplace Language Skills Certificate

• Campus Alberta Central worked to support two certificates 
for rural distribution 

• Manpower – Career Moves in Red Deer provided funding for 
two cohorts of Workforce Training to Prepare Students for 
Work in Red Deer’s vital Supply Chain Industry 

In the area of Indigenous Services, provincial (Provincial Grant 
on Mental Health) and corporate (Royal Bank of Canada) funds 
were used to support events, honoraria, and other operational 
needs of the Indigenous Student Services department. These 
funds also ensured the additional role of an Indigenous Student 
Services Generalist position to support the Indigenous Office 
Coordinator.

Two grant applications were submitted to the Talent Advisory 
Council on Technology (TACT ) for course and program 
development. The change in government has delayed the 
funding approvals for projects submitted.  

The RDC applications included:

 o RDC – Interdisciplinary Courses 
  Introductory Course in Digital Literacy 
  Introductory Course in Quantitative Reasoning

 o  RDC – Alternative Energy Data Analytics and  
  Control Systems         

RDC recognized that the success rate in securing provincial and 
federal grant funding in 2018/2019 was low, and the College 
initiated a review of the approach to improve returns in future 
years.
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RDC  |  GOAL 4

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 4
Enhance the College’s non-grant revenue 
generation model.
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Affordability
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 1 
The creation of new capital assets (new Residence,  
Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre) creates 
new opportunities for externally-focused revenue 
generation. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Affordability
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 2 
Ancillary Services Model in place that supports  
RDC in the delivery of externally-oriented 
entrepreneurial initiatives. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Affordability
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 3 
Greater efficiencies and increased revenue generation 
are realized through RDC’s fund development model. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Affordability
• Accountability

Performance Measure 1 
Proportion of revenue generated outside of  
grant funding. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

% of Non-Grant Funded Revenue

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

40% 39.2%* 37.4% 38.7%

*There is clear and measured growth toward the target 40% revenue 
generated outside grant funding, despite the challenging economic 
situation; the continued freeze on tuition together with only a limited 
year of operations for RDC’s new facilities contributed to the minimal gap. 

PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 4: 

A new revenue-generation stream has been created 
with the opening of the Gary W. Harris Canada Games 
Centre and the new Residence facility. The focus is now on 
developing innovative client packages (a full-rate package 
includes combined facility rental, accommodations, and 
food services), restructuring rates, and implementing other 
recommendations stemming from the Grant Thornton 
Report. Work will continue over the next two academic years. 

During the 2018/2019 fiscal year, 3,014 new fitness memberships 
were purchased by those looking to access facilities and 
programming at the Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre.

Agreements were signed for use of the Gary W. Harris Canada 
Games facilities including Hockey Alberta, Red Deer Minor 
Hockey, Alberta Sport Development Centre, and Hockey 
Academy. Additionally, two leases exist in the new space to 
provide access for Hockey Alberta and Collegiate Sports 
Medicine. The next steps involve developing a comprehensive 
marketing strategy in support of revenue generation for 
Conference and Event Services across Red Deer College.
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RDC WILL DEVELOP A STABLE RESOURCE BASE.

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 5
Continue implementation of the Green 
Campus Master Plan. 
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Affordability
• Quality
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 1 
RDC experiences significant reductions in energy costs, 
CO2 emissions and, its environmental footprint.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Quality
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 2 
RDC creates a more stable resource base by  
reducing its reliance on purchased power. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Affordability
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 3 
The College serves as a regional model of energy efficiency.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Quality
• Accountability

Performance Measure 1 
Annual savings on energy costs.  

Target: $500,000
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

In 2018/2019, RDC was able to save an estimated 
$329,000 in energy costs as a result of the installation 
of the combined heat and power (CHP) unit and the 
solar array on campus. 

Energy savings were less than the projected $500,000 
for two reasons: 

1. The main mechanical heating loop on campus 
unexpectedly needed to be drained for several 
months to accommodate a number of mechanical 
repairs and replacements across campus. Because 
the CHP is linked to RDC’s main heating loop, it 
was required to be turned off to accommodate 
this maintenance work, thus achieving only a 
portion of the anticipated annual impact. 

2. The 2018/2019 data associated with the new solar 
array is incomplete due to issues in recording 
input. Several months of data were unfortunately 
lost ,  so the solar  sav ings in considerat ion 
represent only two-thirds (2/3) of the actual solar 
production for 2018/2019. 

PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 5: 

The new 145-bed Residence building is clad with 545 solar panels and has LED lighting throughout. It opened in February 2019, 
and was trending toward 100% occupancy for the Fall 2019 intake as of June 2019. 
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 6
Construct and open: 
1.  the Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre 

and 
2.  an environmentally responsible and 

operationally sustainable 145-unit 
Residence development. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 1 
Successful hosting of five 2019 Canada Winter Games 
competition events in the Gary W. Harris Canada 
Games Centre.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Quality
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 2 
Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre spaces and 
technology meet learner and user needs. 

Expected Completion Date: 2019/2020

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality

Expected Outcome 3 
RDC is better able to meet learner demand for studio 
suite, on-campus housing, thus enhancing learner 
experiences and reducing their transportation costs. 

Expected Completion Date: 2019/2020

• Accessibility
• Affordability

Performance Measure 1 
The Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre and the new 
Residence are completed and operational. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

Gar y W.  Harr is  Canada Games Centre reached 
substantial completion in June 2018, and it was made 
operational with the installation of furniture, fixtures, 
equipment, and technology by August 2018.

The new Residence was completed in time to host 
participating athletes for the Canada Winter Games 
by February 2019, and its official grand opening took 
place in May 2019. 

RDC  |  GOAL 4
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RDC WILL DEVELOP A STABLE RESOURCE BASE.

PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 6: 

RDC’s role as a partner with the 2019 Canada Winter Games Host 
Society included the delivery of five events, as well as hosting 
the Athletes’ Village on campus. The Games were deemed to 
be very successful community engagement illustrating the 
College’s regional stewardship not only to central Alberta, but 
to all of Canada. RDC’s contribution included: governance, 
communications, community relations, project management, 
emergency response planning, partner/vendor management, 
and significant operations. This was more than three years in 
planning to execute over four weeks (one to prepare, two to 
deliver, and one more to transition back). The proximity of the 
Games and involvement of RDC’s facilities and staff ensured a 
significant recruitment opportunity, allowing Winter Games 
participants and visitors to learn about the College’s breadth of 
programs through information booths set up around campus.

The Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre officially opened 
in August 2018, and it was utilized by RDC’s students and 
student-athletes, as well as community members and athletic 
groups leading up to the 2019 Canada Winter Games, when it 
was home to five competition events. Following the Canada 
Winter Games, the facility continues to be a state-of-the-art 
teaching and learning space with functions beyond athletics. In 
2018/2019, School of Health Sciences Kinesiology students were 
able to access the flexible exercise physiology and anatomy 
labs in the Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre. The innovative 
design of the teaching spaces supports applied knowledge in 

that students have access to exercise equipment, monitoring 
technology, and state-of-the-art learning models directly 
following instructional information. Students within the School 
of Creative Arts’ new Animation History course also benefitted 
from the Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre learning spaces. 
Beginning in 2019, access to the anatomy and physiology lab 
will prove to be useful for students in the Animation and Visual 
Effects program when it comes to drawing human forms. New 
cloud-based technologies were implemented at the Gary W. 
Harris Canada Games Centre in order to offer learners the same 
digital support in the new and separate building as available in 
the main campus building.

Among campus users, high proportions of stakeholders report 
that the facility has benefitted their experience at RDC:

92% of program completers who used the Gary W. Harris 
Canada Games Centre as part of their program report that the 
building design supports learning and the student experience.

96% of program completers who used the Gary W. Harris 
Canada Games Centre as part of their program are satisfied 
with the overall quality of their educational experience. 

93% of faculty and staff who work in the Gary W. Harris Canada 
Games Centre report that the building design supports 
teaching, learning, and the student experience.
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 1
Implement and support the initiatives 
outlined in the Indigenous Education 
Strategic Plan (IESP).
Expected Completion Date: 2020/2021

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Coordination
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 1 
Authentic relationships formed or enhanced with 
regional First Nations, Bands, schools, and colleges,  
as well as urban Indigenous groups.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Coordination
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 2 
Enhanced Indigenous student experiences. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Coordination

Expected Outcome 3 
RDC faculty, staff, and students demonstrate greater 
cross-cultural understanding and awareness. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Quality

GOAL 5
RDC WILL INCREASE 

THE PARTICIPATION OF 
INDIGENOUS LEARNERS 

AND UNDERREPRESENTED 
GROUPS THROUGH 

INCREASED ENGAGEMENT 
AND SUPPORT.
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DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Performance Measure 1 
Learning agreements signed with First Nations or  
First Nation Colleges.  

Target: 2
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

No learning agreements were signed between RDC 
and local First Nations or First Nation Colleges in 
2018/2019. Instead, the emphasis was placed on the 
College’s recognition of its responsibility to Indigenous 
learners and partners from across the region with the 
signing of the Colleges and Institutes Canada (CICan) 
Indigenous Education Protocol.

Performance Measure 2 
Visits to Indigenous partner communities. 

Target: 100
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

In 2018/2019, 116 Indigenous individuals participated 
in RDC’s 28 visits to Indigenous partner communities. 

Performance Measure 3 
Indigenous students as a portion of the overall  
student population. 

Target: 4%
Expected Completion Date: 2019/2020

Performance Measure 4  
Faculty and staff who complete cross-cultural 
education/training following its introduction.  

Expected Completion Date: June 2020

The first workshop on Enhancing Cultural Competency 
began on October 15, 2019. Participants gained a 
deeper understanding of, and learned to display more 
awareness and appreciation for RDC’s increasingly 
diverse community. The goal is to provide training 
that helps remove barriers for minority groups by 
promoting a welcoming and inclusive campus 
community.

Percentage of Students Enrolled at RDC who  
Self-Identify as Indigenous

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

4% 5% 5% 4%

Percentage of RDC Graduates* who  
Self-Identify as Indigenous

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

N/A 4.8%

35/736

5%

26/732

4%

29/683

Red Deer College did not provide targets for the 
completion rates of Indigenous students in the 
2018/2019-2020/2021 CIP.

*Includes only Degree, Diploma, and Certificate credential 
types. Does not include Apprenticeship, University Transfer, or 
Collaborative completions.

RDC WILL INCREASE THE PARTICIPATION OF INDIGENOUS LEARNERS AND  
UNDERREPRESENTED GROUPS THROUGH INCREASED ENGAGEMENT AND SUPPORT.
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PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 1: 

Increasing the engagement of central Alberta’s Indigenous 
groups depends on the important work of developing open 
and meaningful dialogue between the College and the 
numerous Indigenous peoples it serves. On April 18, 2019, RDC 
became a signatory to the Colleges and Institutes Canada 
(CICan) Indigenous Education Protocol, which demonstrates 
RDC’s commitment to continue making Indigenous education 
a priority while fulfilling the accountability inherent to 
authentic relationships. 

Over 2018/2019, RDC facilitated 28 visits with First Nations 
communities including recruitment exercises,  career 
fairs, meetings with Chiefs and Councils or with Elders, 
meetings with post-secondary education Directors and 
Advisors, specif ically related to RDC student supports 
and planning for student tours of RDC. More than 2,500 
instances of personal contact with local Elders, leaders, and 
Indigenous representatives reaffirm the value of transparent 
communication and listening to this key stakeholder group.

• While developing the Bachelor of Education degree, 
the School of Education was able to foster authentic 
relationships in pursuit of Indigenous perspectives. Various 
consultations took place in 2018/2019 led by RDC’s 
Indigenous Student Services and included more than 15 
targeted feedback sessions with regional representatives of 
Indigenous education. Under advisement, it was decided 
that one course, “Indigenous Ways,” will be foundational 
first-year content required for all Bachelor of Education 
students. Further, all courses in the developing degree have 
at least one outcome that addresses Indigenous ways of 
knowing, doing and being. 

• The School of Health Sciences’  Bachelor of Science in 
Nursing program continued to offer clinical placements in 
Indigenous communities and integrate core competencies 
for cultural competence and cultural safety with special 
focus on post-colonial understanding, communication, 
inclusivity, respect, and Indigenous knowledge. 

• The School of Trades and Technologies supported the 
School of Continuing Education in delivery of the Métis 
Pre-Employment Automotive program by providing 
technical support, instruction, and access to shop space 
and equipment.

• The School of Arts and Sciences’ Justice Studies program 
organized regular field trips to Maskwacis, Alberta, to visit 
Pe Sakastew Healing Lodge.

• The School of Creative Arts sponsored a public screening of 
the ImagineNative film festival and arranged a School-wide 
visiting artist lecture and workshop with Amanda Strong 
from Spotted Fawn Productions. 

• The School of Continuing Education is pleased to collaborate 
with Sunchild First Nation, who sponsored one student to 
attend the Rocky Mountain House Health Care Aide program 
and, upon successful completion, the student was hired by 
the Band to work in their local Health Centre.

• Programs such as Practical Nursing; Bachelor of Science, 
Nursing; and Justice Studies reserve seats for qualified 
Indigenous applicants. 

Indigenous Student Services partnered with the Centre for 
Teaching and Learning to develop a course for faculty and 
staff about culture, Indigenous peoples, the importance of 
Indigenous languages and comprehension, history, Treaties, 
Truth and Reconciliation Commission’s Calls to Action, 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, and 
contemporary issues. This course is offered as a part of the 
Excellence in Teaching and Learning program and will be 
offered independent of the program beginning in 2019/2020.

Signif icant progress was made toward enhancing and 
improving the experiences of Indigenous learners attending 
RDC. Indigenous facult y and prac tit ioners developed 
curriculum in multiple courses within the School of Arts 
and Sciences. These include “Indigenous People in Canada,” 
“Conflict Resolution,” “Indigenous People and the Justice 
System,” and “Community Justice Initiatives.” 

The School of Continuing Education has engaged in an 
impressive level of mutually beneficial relationships with all six 
First Nations communities in the Central Alberta Region. These 
engagements include: 

 o Health Care Aide at Ermineskin First Nation

 o Pre-Carpentry at Ermineskin First Nation 

 o Post-Secondary Exploration Project at Sunchild  
  First Nation Academy

 o Excel Training at O’Chiese First Nation 

 o Partnering with Maskwacis Cultural College  
  to develop a proposal to provide digital   
  literacy training to Indigenous community  
  members in rural central Alberta

 o Program offering unfilled trades seats to our  
  First Nation partners in a variety of first-year   
  apprenticeship programs. Indigenous students  
  who complete a School of Continuing Education  
  customized Pre-Trades upgrading program are   
  eligible for this program.

RDC  |  GOAL 5



2018/2019 ANNUAL REPORT   |   41

RDC WILL INCREASE THE PARTICIPATION OF INDIGENOUS LEARNERS AND  
UNDERREPRESENTED GROUPS THROUGH INCREASED ENGAGEMENT AND SUPPORT.

RDC’s Indigenous Student Services hosted four Soup and Bannock lunches, engaging 434 participants, as well as a Tea Dance to 
celebrate the success of Indigenous students with 185 College and community participants in attendance. The Indigenous Student 
Services team also provided support to RDC’s departments and Schools in inviting Indigenous speakers to share their knowledge, 
specifically addressing course learning outcomes. A total of 23 classes with 556 student participants hosted Indigenous speakers 
during 2018/2019. In addition to coordinating events and providing internal consultations, the Indigenous Student Services office 
gave priority to 86 student visits concerning topics as varied as funding, program advising, and applying for Indian or Métis Status. 
On a few occasions, RDC students required more meaningful personal supports as they adapted to the transition from rural to 
urban life.
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RDC  |  GOAL 5

PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 2
Respond to regional learning needs 
through the Campus Alberta Central  
(CAC) partnership between RDC and  
Olds College.
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Coordination
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 1 
Central Region learners have enhanced learning 
opportunities within their communities through the 
CAC stewardship initiative.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Affordability
• Quality
• Coordination
• Accountability

Performance Measure 1 
New programs developed for online delivery.  

Target: 2
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

The following programs were developed for  
online delivery:

• Adult and Higher Education Instructor Post-Diploma 
Certificate

• E-Learning Instructor Post-Diploma Certificate

• Health Care Management Post-Diploma Certificate

• Pre-Health Sciences Certificate

• Health Care Aide Certificate (Continuing Education)

• Renewal of online courses in the Management 
Certificate/Business Administration Diploma

• Commercial Kitchen Management Certificate

Performance Measure 2 
New programs developed for online delivery providing 
preparatory learning for a certificate or trade program 
(may include programs identified in PM1).  

Target: 1
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

During 2018/2019, the School of Health Sciences 
developed the Pre-Health Sciences Certificate for 
online delivery, which not only gives insight into the 
health industry but also provides students a chance to 
prepare for Health and Wellness programming at RDC.
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RDC WILL INCREASE THE PARTICIPATION OF INDIGENOUS LEARNERS AND  
UNDERREPRESENTED GROUPS THROUGH INCREASED ENGAGEMENT AND SUPPORT.

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Performance Measure 3 
Student registrations in CAC-supported programs. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

Performance Measure 4 
Completion rate. 

Target: 85%
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

The 2018/2019 completion rate for students in all  
CAC-supported programs was 92%.

Student Registrations in CAC-Supported Programs

Target 2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

1,646 1,628* 1,337** 1,568

*In 2018/2019, the total number of student registrations in CAC-supported 
programs is only 18 registrations short of the projected target. This 
correlates to the in-year cancellation of two online CAC programs, Ag and 
Heavy Equipment Technician and Unit Clerk, due to lack of enrolment and 
practicum placements, respectively. 

**The Practical Nurse program was first offered for rural delivery in 
2016/2017 and the two-year cohort cycle limits first-year enrolment 
until the preceding program is complete. This programming function 
impacted the number of student registrations in CAC-supported 
programs for 2017/2018. 

 

PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 2: 

Campus Alberta Central (CAC) united the work of two central 
Alberta post-secondary institutions – RDC and Olds College – 
with that of 19 partner organizations to support 20 programs 
and deliver services at 23 community service locations and 
outreach services in 2018/2019. In the eight years since it 
began, it has proven to enhance the learning opportunities 
for rural Albertans, with one of the outcomes of CAC to offer 
access to technology-enabled learning and personalized 
support services within 45 minutes of a learner’s home 
community. To that end, CAC promoted enhanced learning 
opportunities by showcasing RDC Online Programs at all of 
their Learning Sites. The evidence of impactful, far-reaching 
programs reveals a high completion rate in a variety of 
credentials. In Spring 2019, RDC strengthened and extended 
the CAC agreement with Olds College to continue for five 
more years. 

In 2018/2019, CAC programs featured the following areas of 
growth:

• Management Skills for Commercial Kitchens program was 
developed and made ready for the first cohort in Fall 2019. 

• RDC’s Practical Nurse program, Year 2, was offered in Rocky 
Mountain House and Stettler using a blended learning model 
where students attended classes both online and on-site. 

• The Management Skill for Supervisors Certificate was 
delivered for the first time in Drumheller. 

Due to regional demand, the Health Care Aide Certificate was 
expanded beyond the Drumheller pilot project to host cohorts 
in Rocky Mountain House, Stettler, Ermineskin, and Red Deer. In 
total, 96 students participated in this program. A unique feature 
of this new iteration of the programming was the inclusion of 
dual credit high school students to enroll in the offered course. 
Most cohort programs were delivered using a hybrid model of 
instruction utilizing online theory delivery and in-person lab 
components. 
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PRIORITY INITIATIVES

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Priority Initiative 3
Facilitate education and safety initiatives 
aimed at reducing incidents of sexual 
violence and making the College 
community aware of supports and 
reporting options and the consequences 
for perpetrators under RDC’s policy.
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 1 
RDC’s policies, protocols, public education programs, 
and security measures reinforce a culture where 
everyone on campus understands that sexual violence 
is unacceptable.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 2 
Individuals who experience sexual violence feel 
empowered to come forward. 

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Accountability

Expected Outcome 3 
Appropriate support services are accessible.

Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

• Accessibility
• Accountability

RDC  |  GOAL 5
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RDC WILL INCREASE THE PARTICIPATION OF INDIGENOUS LEARNERS AND  
UNDERREPRESENTED GROUPS THROUGH INCREASED ENGAGEMENT AND SUPPORT.

Workshops and Events Related to Sexual Violence 
Education and Awareness

1
Behavioural Assessment Team completed 
independent training on sexual violence 
investigations.

3
The Counselling Centre hosted three workshops 
on sexual health, sex and gender diversity, and 
healthy relationships.

1

The Counselling Centre provided additional 
education during RDC’s student-athlete 
orientation on consent, rape culture, and the 
violence pyramid. 

1
The Library Information Common offered staff 
and faculty a workshop on the Sexual Violence 
Policy. 

1

The Film, Theatre and Live Entertainment faculty 
within the School of Creative Arts incorporated 
elements related to sexual violence education 
and awareness in the standard health and 
safety curriculum for students, due to the high-
profile allegations of sexual misconduct in the 
entertainment industry. 

452
RDC implemented the Respect in the Workplace 
training, a module that relates to sexual violence 
training and prevention.  

DESCRIPTION
ALIGNMENT WITH ALBERTA  
ADVANCED EDUCATION GOALS

Performance Measure 1 
Workshops and events related to sexual violence 
education and awareness. 

Target: 10
Expected Completion Date: 2018/2019

PROGRESS MADE ON PRIORITY INITIATIVE 3: 

The Health, Safety and Wellness Centre, in collaboration with 
the Counselling and Career Centre and other departments on 
campus facilitated: 

• Campus networking with the Sexual Health Clinic 
to implement a streamlined process to access care 
for students. Alberta Health Services also supplied 
prophylactics for distribution at the event.

• Networking with Turning Point to increase awareness about 
safe consumption and addictions.

• Addiction and sexual health, sexual consent, awareness, 
and information pop-up tables displayed on main campus 
to engage students and provide educational resources 
utilizing games and activities.

• Resource and health teaching via “Risqué Bingo” at the Far Side.

• Weekly physician clinic – sexually transmitted infections (STI) 
assessment and treatment and follow up for cure (a total 
of 19 appointments between January and April 2019) as 
well as sexual health teachings for students at one-on-one 
appointments.

The facilitated education and safety initiatives in 2018/2019 
focused on sexual health for students, providing clear avenues to 
resources and supports available for victims of sexual violence. 
These engagements cumulatively worked to increase awareness 
of the behavioural expectations involving reporting of offences 
and consequences for perpetrators under RDC’s policy. 
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The 2018/2019 operations resulted in a $1,047,000 deficit compared to a balanced 
operating budget presented in the 2018/2019 Comprehensive Institutional Plan (CIP). 
Combined with the net debt presentation, including endowment contributions and 
capitalized endowment interest, the year ended with an annual deficit of $28,000 
overall.

The operating deficit arose due to extenuating factors. However, the College made 
a number of workforce adjustments and expense reductions to adjust in-year and 
ensure ongoing sustainability based on future grant and revenue assumptions. 

The following key factors affected operations including:

• Workforce adjustments resulting in severance payments

• Growth in building and maintenance operating costs 

• Lights-on grant funding less than anticipated   

Grants and Tuition still serve as the primary sources of revenue, though opportunities 
to build a new business model have been identified within RDC’s infrastructure. The 
actual operating results for Grants and Tuition are stated as a percentage of gross 
revenues on the 2018/2019 financial statements as follows, with federal and other 
government grants representing 0% of actual revenue:

The 2018/2019 Campus Alberta Grant increased by 2% from 2017/2018 while the 
2018/2019 tuition and fees remained frozen. The marginal change in tuition revenue 
was due to growth in enrolment and the launch of new programs.

The College’s statement of financial position reflects the completion of the new 
Residence building in 2018/2019.  

2018/2019 
REVENUE ACTUAL

Student Tuition  
and Fees (19%)

Sales of Services and 
Products (13%)

Government of 
Alberta Grants (61%)

Donations and  
Other Grants (4%)

Investment  
Income (3%)

FINANCIAL AND  
BUDGET INFORMATION

APPENDIX A:
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SIGNIFICANT GAPS STRATEGIES TO MITIGATE RISK

Fiscal Sustainability 
(In 2018/2019, RDC had its first deficit)

• Non-academic workforce restructuring resulted in 
>50 positions eliminated and subsequent severance 
costs. Mitigation will be realized in labour cost 
reductions in the 2019/2020 year. 

• Centre for Continuous Improvement launched with 
in-year investment to build capability.  

• Internationalization - investment in the 2019/2020 
year to build capacity for this revenue and enrolment 
strategy. 

• Work with Ministry on tuition re-alignment to “right-
size” RDC tuition to current market rates. This would 
be an “exceptional change” to ensure tuition revenue 
is appropriately priced. 

• Explore additional revenue generation through 
School of Continuing Education, Fundraising as well 
as Ancillary and Sport Services.

2018/2019 Decrease in Enrolment  Focused work on University Transition to ensure RDU 
is the first choice for central Alberta learners includes:

• Redeveloping the website for recruitment and 
engaging target populations for increasing number 
of programs.

• Work closely with employers to better develop 
programs around regional demand and meet the 
needs of an evolving and diversified workforce. 

• Internationalization Strategy to fill seats in targeted 
and below-capacity programs.

• A continual review of RDC’s Program Mix to divest of 
programs which no longer meet market demand by 
students or employers. 

• Reimagine programs with new delivery of unique 
credentials through the School of Continuing 
Education.

Ongoing efforts in organizational 
preparedness for the future

• Centre for Continuous Improvement will continue to 
pursue operational excellence and build capacity for 
RDC programs and services.  

• Increasing international student enrolment will 
support the growing programs for RDU.
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ENROLMENT PLAN OVERVIEW:

Overall, the 2018/2019 FLE targets were similar to the 2018/2019 
FLE actuals (3,843 compared to 3,724) and RDC continues 
to experience stable enrolment. RDC had ambitious FLE 
enrolment goals and fell 79 FLE short of reaching the target set 
for regular credit programs and 39 FLE short of reaching the 
target set for apprenticeship. The academic year of 2018/2019 
was characterized by an unpredictable and volatile economy, 
which influenced enrolment in both credit and apprenticeship 
programs. While some programs exceeded the FLE enrolment 
estimates through increased accessibility and strong year-to-
year retention, other programs were limited in their growth 
due to factors such as decreased ability for companies and 
individuals to engage in professional development, altered 
admission requirements and another slowdown of Alberta’s 
economy at the end of 2018. 

SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN FORECASTED 
TARGETS AND ACTUALS FOR 2018/2019 INCLUDE:

The Bachelor of Science University Transfer program attracted 
34 more FLE than estimated. More specifically, the Biological 
Sciences, Chemistry, General, and Pre-Veterinary Medicine 
special izations contr ibuted to this  increase.  Potential 
contributing factors to this increase include a greater year-to-
year retention rate and increased student demand.  

The Early Learning and Child Care Certificate continues to 
attract more FLE than projected for the second year in a row. 
Once again, this dif ference can be attributed to increased 
enrolment in distance delivery offerings and increasing the 
program’s accessibility, as well as targeted marketing and 
strategic enrolment management. 

Enrolment continues to increase each year in the Administrative 
Professional Certificate, with the program achieving 15 FLE 
more than the target for 2018/2019. This program saw increased 
enrolment in both on-campus and distance delivery offerings.

There are many reasons to celebrate RDC transitioning to 
a university, but the prospect of offering new and unique 
programming in addition to the breadth of existing credentials 
to the underserved Central Alberta Region is top among 
them. The new programs in development at RDC create 
additional inroads for all central Alberta learners to choose and 
customize a next step that is right for them. A vital aspect of the 
program development and redevelopment process is active 
engagement with both internal and external stakeholders. 
Internal community stakeholders of the College include alumni, 
faculty, staff, current students, prospective students, and those 
who have previously experienced barriers to accessing post-
secondary education. External stakeholders extend to industry, 
government, and other post-secondary institutions. This past 
year, RDC conducted significant stakeholder engagement 
(face-to-face, e-mail, and telephone) with regard to all of the 
programs under development or redevelopment to ensure 
that programming decisions reflect broader societal needs. The 
College has also fostered strong connections with the regional 
business community, and continues to develop and nurture 
these important relationships. 

The lifecycle of programs and courses begins with the 
development of the Program Mix and continues through to 
program review. In 2018/2019, Deans’ Council worked on the 
renewal of RDC’s Program Mix, extending the planning horizon 
from 2018-2028. Initial steps identified new degree programs 
for proposal in addition to diplomas, certificates, and more 
graduate certificates. The focus is now on degrees, along with 
diplomas and certificates that ladder to degrees, in order to 
best serve the needs of RDC’s learners. Decision-making criteria 
used in the development of the original concept 2015-2022 
plan was reviewed and remains in effect to ensure programs 
are designed with consideration for the following factors: 
strategic alignment, financial sustainability, high demand from 
students/learners and community, uniqueness of program in 
the system, synergy with and enhancement of other programs 
and institutional assets, as well as a direct link to job growth 
areas with consideration for economic growth and need 
beyond central Alberta.  

ENROLMENT PLAN  
AND PROGRAM CHANGES

APPENDIX B:
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Bachelor of Business Administration did not achieve its 
target for 2018/2019, even though the program experienced 
FLE enrolment growth from 2017/2018 to 2018/2019. The 
momentum of preparing RDC’s first Bachelor of Business 
Administration (BBA) degree program contributed to a 
stretch target of 136 FLE for 2018/2019, but in-year evaluations 
expanded the time frame deemed reasonable for this work. 
The 2019/2020-2021/2022 Comprehensive Institutional Plan 
extended the BBA’s target of 136 FLE to 2020/2021 and RDC’s 
business degree will now launch in 2022/2023. 

Post-diploma programs experienced relatively low demand, 
which resulted in lower than projected 2018/2019 FLE 
enrolment. Unpredicted variances in the economy potentially 
left employers without the ability to invest in professional 
development programs; similarly, working professionals may 
not have had the capacity to self-fund for these post-diploma 
opportunities. In-year changes to personnel refocused how 
information is communicated and shared with prospective 
students, and new strategies are being investigated to reach 
the intended audience for these programs. Additionally, 
RDC’s internal process to develop a credit program is lengthy, 
resulting in a lapse between the original market demand 
analysis and actual program offering. This opens the door to 
other institutions developing programming to meet the gap 
the programs were originally intended to fill and potential 
students losing interest because of the long wait to develop.

The Management Certif icate continues to experience a 
decline in FLE enrolment as a result of changed admission 
requirements. The Management Certificate ladders into the 
Business Administration Diploma and, because of this, the 
admission requirements for the Management Certificate 
changed with the required addition of English and Math 
beginning in 2017/2018. RDC continues to consider ways to 
accommodate students who do not meet the new admission 
requirements for the Management Certificate.

In 2018/2019, Apprenticeship fell 39 FLE short of reaching the 
projected target, a target established through close discussion 
with Alberta’s Apprenticeship and Industry Training (AIT) 
branch. The provincial economic environment continued 
to af fect apprenticeship employment in the region and 
correspondingly resulted in lower demand and capacity for 
apprenticeship programs. Despite close consultation between 
RDC and AIT, forecasting registration levels for apprentice 
students has been dif ficult due to the dynamic nature of 
Alberta’s apprenticeship workforce over the previous three 
years.
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FULL LOAD EQUIVALENT ENROLMENT  
BY PROGRAM AND SPECIALIZATION

Program Name Year of Study 2018/2019 2018/2019

Targets Actuals

University Transfer

B. Arts (Year 1 & 2) Total 283 272

  Anthropology Total 7 8

  Communications Total 17 13

  Economics Total 4 5

  English Total 13 12

  General Total 77 66

  History Total 7 6

  Philosophy Total 3 3

  Political Science Total 15 13

  Psychology Total 117 125

  Sociology Total 23 22

B. Arts in Recreation, Sport & Tourism (Yr 1) 1 3 5

B. Commerce (Yr 1 & 2) Total 83 72

B. Education Elementary & Secondary 
Combined (Yr 1 & 2)

Total 362 358

  Elementary Total 268 262

  Secondary  Total 89 85

  B. Science and B. Education Combined Total 5 11

B. Fine Arts & Visual Art Diploma Combined  
(Yr 1 & 2)

Total 64 63

B. Kinesiology (Yr 1 & 2) Total 177 177

  Adapted Physical Education* Total 17 1

  Fitness and Health Promotion Total 13 6

  General Total 148 171

B. Science (Yr 1 & 2) Total 230 264

  Atmospheric Sciences/Environmental  
  Sciences

Total 0 0

  Biochemistry Total 3 3

  Biological Sciences Total 37 44

  Chemistry Total 1 6

*Bachelor of Kinesiology – Adapted Physical Education was suspended effective July 1, 2019.
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Program Name Year of Study 2018/2019 2018/2019

Targets Actuals

University Transfer

  Environmental and Conservation   
  Sciences

Total 4 5

  Environmental Management Total 0 0

  General Total 65 76

  Mathematics or Statistics or  
  Math and Economics

Total 2 3

  Physics or Geophysics Total 3 3

  Physiology Total 2 2

  Pre-Chiropractic Total 1 1

  Pre-Dentistry Total 10 10

  Pre-Medicine Total 24 26

  Pre-Optometry Total 6 4

  Pre-Pharmacy Total 28 24

  Pre-Veterinary Medicine Total 21 32

  Psychology Total 16 15

  B.Science in Agricultural/Food    
  Business Management

1 0 1

  B. Science in Agriculture 1 3 4

  B. Science in Human Ecology 1 0 0

  B. Science in Nutrition and  
  Food Sciences

1 3 5

B. Sc. Engineering (Yr 1) 1 49 45

B. Sc. Nursing ( Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 287 293

Applied Degree

Animation and Visual Effects (Yr 1 of 4) Total 23 21

Motion Picture Arts (Yr 4) 4 14 15

  Acting 4 6 7

  Production 4 8 8

Total University Transfer and Applied Degree 1575 1585
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FULL LOAD EQUIVALENT ENROLMENT  
BY PROGRAM AND SPECIALIZATION

Program Name Year of Study 2018/2019 2018/2019

Targets Actuals

Degree Completion

B. Business Administration ( Yr 3 & 4) Total 136 114

Total Degree Completion 136 114

Career Certificate, Graduate Certificate, and Post-Diploma Certificate

Administrative Professional 1 33 48

Adult and Higher Education Instructor  
Post-Diploma Certificate

1 5 0

Early Learning and Child Care 1 63 81

Educational Assistant 1 120 106

eLearning Instructor Post-Diploma Certificate 1 13 4

Health Care Management  
Post-Diploma Certificate

1 13 3

Human Resources Management  
Graduate Certificate

1 15 8

Management Certificate 1 60 35

Medical Laboratory Assistant 1 28 27

Pre-Health Sciences 1 29 30

Unit Clerk 1 24 20

Advanced Certificate

Motion Picture Arts (Yr 3) 3 16 20

  Acting 3 6 8

  Production 3 10 12

Total Career Certificate, Graduate Certificate, Post-Diploma 
Certificate, and Advanced Certificate

420 381
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Program Name Year of Study 2018/2019 2018/2019

Targets Actuals

Diploma

Business Administration (Yr 1 & 2) Total 252 249

  Accounting Total 41 29

  Financial Services Total 16 22

  General Management Total 163 176

  Human Resources Total 12 9

  Marketing Total 20 14

Early Learning and Child Care 2 32 35

Electrical Engineering Technology (Yr 1 & 2) Total 30 23

Instrumentation Engineering Technology 
Diploma (Yr 1 & 2)

Total 38 34

Justice Studies Diploma (Yr 1) Total 30 26

Legal Assistant (Yr 1 & 2) Total 69 68

Mechanical Engineering Technology (Yr 1 & 2) Total 38 28

Media Studies and Professional Communication 
(Yr 1 & 2)

Total 40 34

Music (Yr 1 & 2)* Total 8 4

Occupational Therapist & Physiotherapist 
Assistant (Yr 1 & 2)

Total 37 40

Pharmacy Technician  (Yr 1 & 2) Total 51 49

Practical Nurse (Yr 1 & 2) Total 167 161

Social Work (Yr 1 & 2) Total 83 98

Theatre Studies - Performance and Creation  
(Yr 1 & 2)**

Total ** **

Theatre Studies - Entertainment Production  
(Yr 1 & 2)**

Total ** **

Total Diploma 875 849

*In 2018/2019, RDC suspended intake into Year 1 of the Music Diploma and Music preparatory courses. Year 2 intake has been suspended for 2019/2020. The 
decision was made based on decreasing demand and enrolment over the past several years. Current students will be fully supported in order to meet graduation 
requirements. Music electives will continue to be offered in order to support existing programs as well as future degrees and diplomas across the institution.

**Theatre Studies programming will be replaced by the Film, Theatre, and Live Entertainment Applied Degree beginning in 2019/2020.

 



54  |  RED DEER COLLEGE

Program Name Year of Study 2018/2019 2018/2019

Targets Actuals

HSE/Adult Upgrading

Academic Upgrading 1 144 145

Total HSE/Adult Upgrading 144 145

FULL LOAD EQUIVALENT ENROLMENT  
BY PROGRAM AND SPECIALIZATION

Other (Open Studies & Transitional Vocational Program)

Open Studies 1 119 116

Transitional Vocational Program 1 22 22

Total Other (Open Studies & Transitional Vocational Program) 141 138

Apprenticeship Programs

 Automotive Service Technician  
(Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4)

Total 52 54

Carpenter (Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 39 38

Cook (Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 8 7

Electrician (Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 133 116

Heavy Equipment Technician (Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 73 79

Instrument Technician (Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 26 26

Locksmith (Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 19 17

Millwright (Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 9 12

Parts Technician (Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 16 12

Plumber (Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 37 38

Rig Technician (Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 0 0

Sprinkler Systems Installer (Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 30 26

Steamfitter-Pipefitter (Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 53 27

Water Well Driller (Yr 1, & 2) Total 2 2

Welder (Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 55 59

Total Apprenticeship Programs 552 513
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TOTALS  
(EXCLUDING APPRENTICESHIP)

2018/2019 2018/2019

Estimates Actual

Total FLE (Excluding Apprenticeship) 3,291 3,212

Total FLE Change From Estimates to Actuals -79

Percentage Change in FLE Estimates to Actuals -2%

GRAND TOTALS

2018/2019 2018/2019

Estimates Actual

Total FLE (Including Apprenticeship) 3,843 3,724

Total FLE Change From Estimates to Actuals -119

Percentage Change in FLE Estimates to Actuals -3%

INTERNATIONAL STUDENT ENROLMENT

2018/2019 2018/2019

Estimates Actual

Unduplicated Headcount 119 156

% Of Total RDC Unduplicated Headcount* 1.7% 2.4%

Red Deer College did not provide international student enrolment projections by program in the 2018/2019 – 2020/2021 CIP; however, these projections 
were included in the 2019/2020 – 2021/2022 CIP (submitted June 2019) for programs where international student enrolment exceeded or was expected to 
exceed 15% of total program enrolment. Overall, the international student enrolment projection was lower than the actual international student enrolment 
in 2018/2019. 
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RDC’s programming work has been influenced by the Alberta 
Government announcement on March 1, 2018 that the College 
has the approval to of fer its own degrees as a university. 
The development of two degrees, a Bachelor of Education 
and a Bachelor of Science, Biological Sciences, will result 
in a 2021/2022 launch of RDC degree programming. RDC’s 
Bachelor of Business Administration degree development 
work is well underway with plans to launch in the 2022/2023 
academic year. The development of these degrees parallels 
the development of a Campus Alberta Quality Council (CAQC) 
Institutional Review, and is in accordance with Ministry and 
CAQC requirements.  

RDC continues to develop new programming and redevelop 
existing programs to enhance opportunities and educational 
pathways for learners. The College uses a systematic, staged 
process for developing and redeveloping programs. The 
process includes the stages of pre-development, concept 
proposal, full proposal, implementation, and detailed course 
development, as well as a formative program implementation 

PROGRESS IN  
NEW PROGRAMS

NEW PROGRAM 
DEVELOPMENT AND 

REDEVELOPMENT 
PROCESSES
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evaluation one year following the graduation of the first 
class. The CAQC guidelines on comprehensive evaluation 
requirements are followed. Program development considers 
potential student demand, economic demand (employment 
market, further education prospects), f inancial viability, 
relationship to the RDC Strategic Plan, relationship to the 
Alberta post-secondary system, and College capacity. New and 
redeveloped programs are accessible, affordable, accountable, 
of high quality and aligned with student, community, and 
regional needs – including consideration of student living 
costs – as well as supporting RDC’s Strategic Plan. Board Ends 
are a key consideration in all new and redeveloped programs. 
Other parameters include the Recommendations and Calls to 
Action from Canada’s Truth and Reconciliation Commission and 
advisement of Indigenous partners. 

Curriculum renewal occurs on a regular basis throughout 
the academic year for credit and apprenticeship programs. 
Programs are developed or redeveloped on the basis 
of feedback from the regular program review process; 
accreditation and industry demands; and market input through 
various channels, including advisory groups, student and 
faculty feedback, and market surveys. The new role of Dean 
of Teaching, Learning and Research is responsible to ensure 
the effective identification of appropriate programming and 
application of the program development and redevelopment 
process. All new curriculum development is guided by a 
Learning Designer from the Centre for Teaching and Learning.
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• Talent Advisory Council on Technology (TACT) Funding 
Request – two requests were submitted in February for 
the development of an Alternative Energy Data Analytics 
and Control Systems Diploma and for the development of 
introductory courses in Digital Literacy and Quantitative 
Reasoning. RDC is currently waiting for the Government of 
Alberta to approve funding.

• Data Analytics – investigation is underway to identify a 
diploma that will ladder to a degree in the area of data 
analytics and artificial intelligence. This project links to the 
submission for TACT funding and will move forward as a 
priority.

• Social Entrepreneurship Certificate – this certificate, 
laddering to a Bachelor of Social Entrepreneurship, is being 
investigated.

PROGRAM REDEVELOPMENT/
EXPANSION
• Ongoing program redevelopment in the School of Health 

Sciences is focused on the Bachelor of Science Nursing and 
the Occupational and Physical Therapy Assistant Diploma.  

• The School of Health Sciences also negotiated the details of a 
potential arrangement with the University of Alberta to offer 
a collaborative Bachelor of Kinesiology. Redevelopment of 
the Kinesiology Diploma explored the option for a seamless 
transfer to the University of Alberta programming. 

• The School of Education is redeveloping the Educational 
Assistant Certificate and the Early Learning and Child Care 
Certificate and Diploma. Following appropriate approvals the 
renewed courses will launch in 2020/2021.

PROGRAM SUSPENSION:
With the approval of the Bachelor of Applied Arts in Film, 
Theatre, and Live Entertainment, the following programs will 
be suspended: 

• Motion Picture Arts Certificate – July 1, 2019

• Motion Picture Arts Applied Degree – July 1, 2020

NEW PROGRAMS APPROVED BY 
CAQC AND THE MINISTRY
• Bachelor of Applied Arts in Film, Theatre, and Live 

Entertainment (Launch date: Fall 2019)

NEW PROGRAMS APPROVED  
BY THE MINISTRY
• Health Care Management Post-Diploma Certificate  

(Launch date: Winter 2019) 

• Adult and Higher Education Instructor Post-Diploma 
Certificate (Launch date: Spring 2020)

• eLearning Instructor Post-Diploma Certificate  
(Launch date: Spring 2019) 

NEW PROGRAMS CURRENTLY  
UNDER DEVELOPMENT 
• Bachelor of Education – Elementary  

(Proposed launch date: Fall 2021)

• Bachelor of Science, Biological Sciences  
(Proposed launch date: Fall 2021)

• Bachelor Education – Secondary  
(Proposed launch date: Fall 2022)

• Bachelor of Business Administration  
(Proposed launch date: Fall 2022)

NEW PROGRAMS EXPLORED  
FOR DEVELOPMENT
• Entrepreneurship Certificate – the Donald School of Business 

completed a needs assessment for an Entrepreneurship 
Certificate. It was determined that the demand could best be 
served through an Entrepreneurship focus within the current 
Management Certificate.  

• Communicative Disorders Certificate – upon investigation, 
it was determined that the development of this certificate 
should be deferred. A new course in communicative 
disorders would be included in the Occupational Therapist 
Physical Therapist Assistant Program. Opportunities to offer 
programming through Continuing Education are also being 
explored.

NEW PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT/
REDEVELOPMENT
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• Learning outcomes are aligned with EDAS 166 so that 
students can apply for Prior Learning if they apply for and are 
accepted to the Educational Assistant Certificate

Supply Chain Management Certificate

• Joint funding proposal with Manpower Services to 
Government of Alberta 

Physical Literacy Road Tour

• Deliver Physical Literacy training (motivation, confidence, 
physical competence, knowledge, and understanding to 
value and take responsibility for engagement in physical 
activities for life) to five rural communities (members 
and facilitators); the goal is to develop facilitators in rural 
communities so that they can implement and maintain 
ongoing physical activity programs.

National Energy Skills Centre (Trinidad and Tobago)

• RDC Corporate Manager from the School of Continuing 
Education and Associate Dean from the School of Trades 
and Technologies traveled to Trinidad and Tobago to 
establish joint training for Guyanese students in February 
2019. By April 2019, the team had developed customized 
ETAL certificate curriculum, which the Centre for Teaching 
and Learning delivered to the National Energy Skills Centre 
(NESC). This training took place on the RDC campus when 
nine academic leaders and subject matter experts from  
NESC visited Canada.

• The MOU between RDC and NESC was extended in  
May 2019.

Red Deer County

• Tested 100 staff members to determine training needs in 
five Microsoft programs (Excel, Word, Outlook, PowerPoint, 
Windows10)

• Successful proposal to develop and deliver five customized 
courses per quarter (2019/2020)

NEW PROGRAMMING INITIATIVES:

English as a Second Language 

Trauma-Informed Educator Certificate for ESL 

 Curriculum developed (February 2018)

 Pilot offered (March 2018)

 Curriculum revised (September 2018)

 Curriculum submitted to funder for sharing  
 with ESL community as per agreement

Alberta Workplace Language Skills for ESL Levels 3 & 4

      Curriculum developed (October 2018)

      Pilot offered (December 2018 – March 2019)

       Curriculum revised (April 2019)

 Curriculum submitted to funder for sharing  
 with ESL community as per agreement 
 

• Funding proposal to Lifelong Learning Council for one 
additional offering

• Alberta Workplace Language Skills for ESL Levels 3 & 4

• Exploring options with Rocky Mountain House Learning 
Council 

• Alberta Workplace Language Skills for ESL Levels 3 & 4

• ESL Levels 5-7 dependent upon continued support of GOA 
Skills funding (September 2019)

• ESL Levels 8-9 dependent upon continued support of GOA 
Skills funding (September 2020)

Health Care Aide

• Funding proposal to Campus Alberta Central to complete 
required AHS revisions

Autism with Intellectual Disabilities

• CLRS 1003 (Autism with Intellectual Disability) curriculum 
customized for educator professional development through 
online delivery for a cohort of 15 Battle River Educational 
Assistants

SCHOOL OF CONTINUING EDUCATION 
– PROGRAMMING UPDATES
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Kitchen Management Certificate

• Proposal to Campus Alberta Central for certificate 
development

• Developed curriculum for four online courses 

• Certificate launch September 2019

New Models in Trades Training

• Proposal submitted to AIT to place Indigenous students  
in empty first-year apprenticeship seats

• Proposal approved; now awaiting First Nation  
community approval

Alternative Energy Lab

• Developed program learning outcomes for Energy 
Management Certificate (405 Instructional hours)

• Joint proposal with Fortis Alberta to Energy Efficiency Alberta 
for certificate development 

• Exploring training options with Passive House Alberta to 
provide national certification

SCHOOL OF CONTINUING EDUCATION – PROGRAMMING UPDATES

NEW PROGRAMMING EXPLORATION:

Health Informatics

• Broader programming incorporating AHS Connect Care 
implementation

ABC Bees

• Proposal submitted to develop curriculum for online course 
delivery

• Exploring further partnership possibilities such as 
conventions and community awareness

Eco-Growth Environmental Inc.

• Ongoing discussions to develop curriculum and training 
manuals to support their products
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RESEARCH, APPLIED 
RESEARCH, AND 
SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES

APPENDIX C:

In 2018/2019, RDC’s Research and Scholarship Committee, a sub-committee of the Academic Council, developed a Research, 
Scholarly, and Creative Activity Framework to inform the direction for scholarly activity within the College’s commitment to high-
quality teaching and learning.  

The Framework identifies three areas of focus: 

1. The Scholarship of Teaching and Learning, 

2. Undergraduate Research, and 

3. Community Connection.  

Both applied research and scholarly activity are addressed in the Framework with the intention of each becoming a positive 
contributor to RDC’s mandate of becoming a comprehensive regional teaching university.

For the past several years, RDC has identified three priorities for applied research at the College: 1) Innovation in Manufacturing, 
2) Applied Health Collaborations, and 3) Environment/Ecology. Work on the Research, Scholarly, and Creative Activity Framework 
recommended the inclusion of three additional priorities: 4) Alternative Energy, 5) Community Connection, and 6) the Scholarship 
of Teaching and Learning. These six priorities align with outcomes established in the Alberta Research and Innovation Framework 
2017. Where possible, undergraduate student researchers have participated in the research and scholarly activities reported below. 

1. INNOVATION IN 
MANUFACTURING
RDC uses Alberta’s resources effectively 
to deliver timely and appropriate applied 
research services to industry clients:

1. Central Alberta Regional Innovation 
Network (CARIN) funding has been 
renewed for three years. CARIN is a 
collaboration of 10 central Alberta 
service providers with the goal 
to grow and expand the science, 
technology, and knowledge-based 
industries of the region. It is jointly 
co-chaired by Olds College and Red 
Deer College. 

2. A market study on the unmet 
innovation needs of the Central 
Alberta Region has been completed. 
The services provided by the Centre 
for Innovation in Manufacturing 

(CIM) are in regional demand and 
feedback indicates that expanding 
into design and testing would be 
helpful to central Alberta industries. 
There was a highlighted need to 
continue to be collaborative and 
also to engage in better marketing 
of available supports and services. A 
large portion of clients are not aware 
that the CIM exists or is available to 
industry.

3. RDC is a participant on the Major 
Innovation Fund project, the 
University of Alberta’s Centre 
for Autonomous Systems in 
Strengthening Future Communities: 
Industrial Communities.

4. RDC is a founding member of the 
additive manufacturing network 
in Alberta. This network will aid 
industry in accessing the additive 

manufacturing equipment it 
requires in a timely and cost 
effective manner.

5. RDC, Mitacs, ATB, and Gridline 
hosted an Exponential 
Manufacturing Summit that had 180 
attendees who represented a mix of 
industry (80%), academia (10%), and 
service providers (10%).

6. Through CARIN, RDC supported 
the inaugural Indigenous 
Entrepreneurship summit in Red 
Deer with Business Link

7. RDC has worked effectively with the 
National Research Council of Canada 
Industrial Research Assistance 
Program’s Industrial Technology 
Advisors and Alberta Innovates 
Technology Development Advisors 
to provide timely services to their 
clients.
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INNOVATION 
ENGAGEMENTS AT RDC

2018/2019 ALIGNMENT WITH GOA 

Number of clients (Small/
Medium Enterprises 
and entrepreneurs) 
supported through 
meaningful activity

Provides opportunities for 
collaboration and connection 
to the larger Alberta Innovation 
network

Number of industrial 
research contracts

11 Increases Alberta’s 
competitiveness, growth, and 
export readiness

Number of supported 
businesses in acceleration 
annually (as evidenced by 
helping them access at 
least one new market or 
develop at least one new 
product or service)

Expanding access to markets with 
new products and processes

Number of information 
events

Indigenous Entrepreneurship Summit

Edge Investment Forum

Exponential Manufacturing Summit

Promotes competitiveness, 
growth, and export readiness 
in Indigenous companies/
entrepreneurs

Attracts investment in central 
Alberta entrepreneurs and 
creates jobs

Grows manufacturing through 
the adoption of technology and 
data driven technologies

$ Value in industry 
contracts

$52,000 Sustains future applied research

$ Value in grants to 
support innovation in 
industry

$238,000 Sustains future applied research

The following table details further 2018/2019 engagements with innovation at RDC in alignment with the  
Alberta Research and Innovation Framework:

RESEARCH, APPLIED RESEARCH, AND SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES

2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

314 114 344

2018/2019 2017/2018 2016/2017

4 2 5
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In 2018/2019, RDC leveraged $80,000 in the former department of Applied Research and Innovation, which 
returned $400,000 in external investments.

INNOVATION 
ENGAGEMENTS AT RDC

2018/2019 ALIGNMENT WITH GOA 

Content expert (faculty) 
advice to industry on six 
developing projects. 

School of Trades and Technologies 
Sprinkler Systems Installer faculty 
contributed to the development of 
high pressure fire-fighting devices.

School of Arts and Sciences Humanities 
and Social Sciences faculty members 
advised on validating a digital 
application for measuring team 
effectiveness. RDC’s Human Resources 
team provided feedback to same 
inventor from their perspective.

School of Trades and Technologies 
Mechanical Engineering faculty 
assisted by introducing mechanical 
conceptual design considerations for 
safety device. 

School of Trades and Technologies 
Heavy Equipment Technician faculty 
contributed knowledge of viscous 
torsional vibration dampers when 
researching concepts on a product.  

School of Trades and Technologies 
Electrical Engineering faculty reviewed 
and verified design calculation for a 
product.  

Stimulates bold ideas and actions 
from innovators, industry, and 
entrepreneurs 

Accelerates transformational 
solutions

Translates new knowledge into 
technologies to access and use 
resources

Translates research, discovery, and 
application to incentivize

Research opportunities 
for students

25 Capstone students (Mechanical 
Engineering Technology and Electrical 
Engineering Technology students from 
the School of Trades and Technologies)

Biology student (3D print of a scanned 
alligator bone)

Produces an aligned and 
focused research and innovation 
ecosystem 

Creates the talent and expertise 
from which companies, 
entrepreneurs, government, and 
international business can sustain 
international competitiveness 

RESEARCH, APPLIED RESEARCH, AND SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES
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2. ALBERTA 
HEALTH SERVICES 
COLLABORATIONS
This year, eight distinct experiential 
l e a r n i n g  o p p o r t u n i t i e s  w e r e 
undertaken by students under the 
Memorandum of  Understanding 
signed with Alberta Health Services. 
T h e  r a n g e  o f  t o p i c s  e x p l o r e d 
through this applied health research 
collaboration include: EEG & Athletic 
Performance; an Evaluation of Mental 
Health Clinic Intake – Therapists; 
Per fec t ionism, Coping,  & Mental 
Health in Athletes;  Evaluation of 
Mental Health Clinic Intake – Clients; 
exploring no-shows and other factors 
at Canadian Association of Sexual 
A ss aul t  Centres ;  Gami f icat ion & 
Academic Performance; Perspectives 
of poverty reduction needs of service 
p rov i d er s  an d  t h os e  w i t h  l i ve d 
experience; Loneliness in older men. 

This work shows direct support for 
the Alberta Research and Innovation 
targets in that RDC’s applied research 
is  f ront- l ine worker focused.  The 
work concentrates on improving 
quality of care as well as reducing the 

burden of disease, both province-
wide objectives for health care. The 
research has a direct and immediate 
impact because the research team 
is always inclusive of the front-line 
worker and/or front-line management.

3. ENVIRONMENT/ 
ECOLOGY
RDC faculty continue to research 
the impact of human interactions 
on environmental outcomes. One 
ongoing project in par ticular has 
focused on the prevention of animal/
vehicle collisions. Sandra MacDougall 
has co-developed an app, and she is 
now in the process of analyzing the 
data collected. This will be used to 
recommend mitigation strategies to 
Alberta’s Minister of Transportation. 
She continues to bring in private 
contrac ts to fund this  work with 
$29,000 at tr ibuted to 2018/2019. 

4 .  A LT E R N AT I V E 
ENERGY
RDC’s Alternative Energy Lab (AEL) 
was of f icially opened Februar y 7, 
2019, celebrating the inaugural and 
funding partners to the establishment 
o f  t h e  l a b :  t h e  G o v e r n m e n t  o f 
Canada (Strategic Investment Fund), 
Energy Efficiency Alberta, Emissions 
Reduction Alberta, Collicut Energy 
Services, Morgan Solar Inc., and Eco-
Growth Environmental Inc. Since that 
time, RDC has also signed an MOU 
with Fortis Alberta to advance skill 
development and learning related to 
energy systems and energy efficiency.

T h e  t imin g  o f  th e  AEL  o p enin g 
allowed for learner activities utilizing 
training equipment in the lab in the 
spring of 2019. Prior to and following 
the official opening of the AEL, RDC 
provided significant opportunities to 
learn about the College’s alternative 
energy initiatives, including the AEL.

• AEL tours were incorporated 
for students in most groups of 
Electrician, Pre-Employment 
Electrician, Instrumentation, and 
Electrical Engineering Technology 
programs.

RESEARCH, APPLIED RESEARCH, AND SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES
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RESEARCH, APPLIED RESEARCH, AND SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES

• Red Deer’s Notre Dame High 
School Automotive program 
students studied the function 
and application of RDC’s solar 
photovoltaic panels and Combined 
Heat and Power (CHP) systems as 
part of their alternative fuels course 
module.

• RDC conducted 67 tours and 
presentations to industry, 
community groups, and influencers, 
covering the College’s Alternative 
Energy Initiative and the Alternative 
Energy Lab. In total, RDC spoke 
directly with 1,146 people and 
toured 908 through the AEL. 
Additionally, the College reached 
a substantially larger audience 
through media and social media 
coverage of the AEL and the 
Alternative Energy Initiative.

• Industry consultations led to the 
establishment of two industry 
steering and planning committees 
in alternative energy: one industry 
committee focused on short-term 
(1-3 year) needs for training and 
awareness; the other industry 
committee focused on longer-term 
(5-10 year) issues and opportunities 
in alternative energy.

5. COMMUNITY 
CONNECTION
Through suppor t f rom the Social 
Sciences and Humanities Research 
Council ’s College and Community 
S o c i a l  I n n o v a t i o n  F u n d ,  w o r k 
continued on the regional project 
“Making Life Easier: A Participatory 
Assessment of Programs and Services 
for Immigrant Women in Central 
Alberta.” 

In 2018/2019, five students were given 
an experiential learning opportunity 
and paid to work as applied research 
technicians .  Over the three -year 
project, 23 students were employed as 
research technicians, and 20 students 

were given the opportunity through 
c lass  work  to  p ar t ic ipate  in  the 
research project. This project provided 
43 students in total with experiential 
learning in a critical cultural study.

T h i s  p r o j e c t  i s  n o w  c o m p l e t e . 
However, Red Deer Local Immigration 
Par tnership (RDLIP) would like to 
replicate some of the studies with 
i m m i g r a nt  m e n .  T h i s  w o r k  w i l l 
commence in Fall 2019 and provide 
more RDC students with additional 
research opportunities.

The Social Sciences and Humanities 
R e s e a rc h  Co u n c i l ’ s  K n o w l e d g e 
Synthesis Grant supported the work 
entitled “How are the knowledge 
systems, experiences and aspirations 
of the First Nations, Inuit and Métis 
p e op les  ess ent ia l  to  b ui ld ing  a 
su ccess f u l  share d  f u t ure  fo r  a l l 
Canadians.” (Applying OCAP principals 
to Research Ethics)

Researchers Krista Robson, Michelle 
Edwards Thomson, Vickie Cardinal-
W i d m a r k ,  a n d  L l o y d  D e s j a r l a i s 
p res ente d  th e i r  f in d in gs  at  th e 
following conferences: 

1. Incorporating Indigenous  
Ways of Knowing into  
Applied Research. 
•     November 2018 - PANEL 

PRESENTATION. Panel created 
by CICan Canadian Science 
Policy Conference. Ottawa.

2. Walking Together: The Research 
Ethics Board’s Role in Supporting 
Indigenous Research 
•    April 2019 - Canadian 

Association of Research  
Ethics Boards. Winnipeg. 

This grant is now finished.

6. SCHOLARSHIP 
OF TEACHING AND 
LEARNING
RDC has adopted the Boyer model 
of scholarship through its Scholarly 
Activit y polic y.  The Boyer model 
provides a framework for scholarly 
activity that includes four domains: 
1) the scholarship of Discovery; 2) the 
scholarship of Teaching and Learning; 
3) the scholarship of Integration; and 
4) the scholarship of Application. 
Faculty are involved in research within 
all four domains, within the three 
areas of focus identified in the Red 
Deer College Research, Scholarly and 
Creative Activity Framework: 1) the 
Scholarship of Teaching and Learning, 
2)  Undergraduate Research,  and  
3) Community Connection.  

T h e  R e s e a r c h  a n d  S c h o l a r s h i p 
C o m m i t t e e  c o l l e c t s  d a t a  f r o m 
faculty about their engagement in 
research and scholarly activity. This 
year, in addition to reporting their 
scholarly activity, faculty reported 
on the Boyer domain associated with 
their activity.  Fur ther ref inement 
of the Scholarly Activity policy and 
guidelines, workshops offered by the 
Research Common and the Centre for 
Teaching and Learning, conversations 
within Schools, and supports offered 
through the Office of Research and 
Scholarship will assist in establishing 
a clear understanding of the Boyer 
model of scholarship as RDC upholds 
the new mandate of a university.  

W i t h  t h e  r e c e n t  f o c u s  o n  t h e 
operations of RDC as a comprehensive 
regional teaching universit y,  the 
Research Ethics Board has recognized 
a n  o n g o i n g  n e e d  t o  p r o v i d e 
education and support on the ethical 
protocols related to Scholarship of 
Teaching and Learning research. There 
has already been a notable increase 
in the Scholarship of Teaching and 
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Learning at  RDC.  The number of 
appl icat ions  made in  2018/2019 
more than doubled those from the 
last decade. Research relating to 
the Scholarship of  Teaching and 
Learning is considered separately 
from Course-Based Student Research, 
S t u d e n t  I n d e p e n d e n t  S t u d i e s , 
and Community-Based Research/
Collaborations, the total of which 
resulted in 46 applications to the 
Research Ethics Board in 2018/2019.

Boyer’s Scholarship of Teaching and 
Learning invites faculty researchers 
to consider work that will directly 
impact the classroom experience. 
In 2018/2019, a number of faculty 
par ticipated in the Excellence in 
Teaching and Learning program. 
Those who completed the Capstone 
project of the course explored the 
following topics: 

 - “Outfitting Students for the Future 
by Reacting to the Past” from the 
School of Creative Arts

 - “An Interdisciplinary Approach 
to Teaching the Digital Audio 
Workstation” from the School of 
Creative Arts 

 - “Do Clickers Increase Student 
Performance and Enhance 
the Learning Experience in an 
Introductory Biology Course?” from 
the School of Arts and Sciences

 - “Creating Learners for Lasting 
Success” from the School of Trades 
and Technologies

 - “Chaos and Stories: Creating Deep 
Learning in a Theory Class” from the 
School of Health Sciences

The students who par t icipate in 
original research also benefit from 
RDC’s focus on the Scholarship of 
Teaching and Learning. In 2018/2019, 
th e  fo l l ow in g  s t u d ent- res earch 
engagements expanded academic 
learning beyond the classroom:

 - In the School of Trades and 
Technologies, two Electrical 
Engineering Technology students 
presented their proof of concept for 
Electromagnetic Propulsion at the 
Canadian Conference on Electrical 
and Computer Engineering. Their 
concept and presentation resulted 
from work they completed with one 
of RDC’s Engineering Technology 
faculty in exploring electrical power 
systems. 

 - In the School of Arts and Sciences, 
six Independent Study research 
projects were delivered in 
Psychology, five Research Study 
Projects in Biology, and three 
community-based research projects 
in Sociology. 

 - In the School of Education, faculty 
created an opportunity for student 
research to be completed in the 
EDPS 445 course. Results of findings 
and literature reviews were shared 
with participating teachers and 
schools who expressed interest. 

 - In 2018/2019, 10 students from 
the Psychology and Sociology 
departments had their work 
showcased at the Student Poster 
Display event in the Research 
Common. 

 - More than 90 presentations 
from students in the Bachelor of 
Arts program contributed to the 

Annual Agora Student Conference. 
The Student Writer Awards were 
presented at a public event and 
the concurrent Student Science 
conference showcased the work of 
students in the Bachelor of Science 
Programs. 

The Recognition of Scholarly Activity 
Committee celebrates faculty in four 
areas of scholarly activity as defined 
by Boyer ’s  Model of Scholarship: 
Scholarship of Discovery, Scholarship 
o f  I n t e g r a t i o n ,  S c h o l a r s h i p  o f 
Appl icat ion ,  and Scholarship  in 
Teaching. In 2018/2019, the following 
facult y members were identif ied 
for their excellent submissions of 
scholarly activity: 

• Dr. Roger Davis, English Instructor 
from the School of Arts and 
Sciences

• Dr. Robbie Halonen, Physics and 
Astronomy Instructor from the 
School of Arts and Sciences

• Brenda Joyce and Dr. Alison 
Jeppesen, Social Work Instructor 
from the School of Arts and 
Sciences and Learning Designer, 
Centre for Teaching and Learning

• Dr. Krista Robson and Michelle 
Edwards Thomson, Sociology 
Instructor from the School of Arts 
and Sciences and the Chair of the 
Research Common

• Dr. Carlen Lavigne, Communications 
Instructor from the School of Arts 
and Sciences. 

RESEARCH, APPLIED RESEARCH, AND SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES
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CONCERNS FOR FUTURE  
RDC RESEARCH: 
The current climate of applied and health research shows a changing direction in new 
initiatives. 

National Research Council – Industrial Research Assistance Program (IRAP) and Alberta 
Innovates are moving funding toward the high growth potential companies. This will 
create a lack of innovation growth in Alberta as very minimal supports are in place 
to steward the early stage development of innovations and companies, particularly 
small and medium-sized enterprises. There is a noticeable absence in sustainable 
funding to the applied research capacity of the province.

In pursuing advances for health innovation, there is a distinct lack of support for front-
line research work. Most health funding is directed towards finding cures for diseases, 
which is not a misplaced effort, but results in funding for projects less than $10,000 
being unavailable. The Memorandum of Understanding between Alberta Health 
Services (AHS) and RDC formally ended this year as AHS cited a desire to re-evaluate 
the research strategy, which will most likely result in an urban-centric scope rather 
than the rural applications of the Central Alberta Region.

SCHOLARLY ACTIVITY INFRASTRUCTURE/
ECOSYSTEM
RDC’s research and scholarly activity support structure changed in 2018/2019. The 
Centre for Innovation in Manufacturing and the Alternative Energy Lab are now part 
of the School of Trades and Technologies.  It has primary responsibility for what was 
previously the Applied Research and Innovation department, including working 
with small and medium-sized enterprises on a fee-for-service basis to support their 
inventions and innovations.  

The research infrastructure and the broader promotion of applied research and 
scholarly activity are now part of an institutional Office of Research and Scholarship 
under the leadership of the Dean of Teaching, Learning and Research. In addition 
to the Office of Research and Scholarship, the research and scholarly activity 
infrastructure includes the: Research Ethics Board, Research Common, Centre for 
Teaching and Learning, Faculty Professional Development Committee, Research and 
Scholarship Committee, Research Ethics Board, and Recognition of Scholarly Activity 
Committee.

As RDC transitions to a university it is well positioned, through policy and institutional 
structures and supports, to successfully achieve the three areas of focus identified in 
the Research, Scholarly and Creative Activity Framework, through Alberta’s Roles and 
Mandates Policy Framework, and as required by the Campus Alberta Quality Council.

RESEARCH, APPLIED RESEARCH, AND SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES
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REGIONAL STEWARDSHIP, FOUNDATIONAL 
LEARNING, UNDERREPRESENTED LEARNERS 
RDC’s commitment is to create an inclusive community built on exploration, excellence, and integrity. These 

institutional values ensure a quality post-secondary education is available to all students regardless of designation. 

The following report outlines the work done to serve the Central Alberta Region including rural learners and 

mature students, those with disabilities or from low income backgrounds, and Alberta’s Indigenous learners.

1.

INDIGENIZATION AT RDC

APPENDIX C:

Strategic Priority 1: Develop and maintain authentic 
relationships with regional First Nations, Bands, schools 
and colleges, as well as urban Indigenous groups.

• On April 18, 2019, RDC became a signatory to the Colleges 
and Institutes Canada Indigenous Education Protocol. The 
signing was followed by a Tea Dance with 185 participants 
from across the College’s faculty, staff, and student body, 
as well as Elders and other members of the Indigenous 
community to celebrate the success of Indigenous students 
at RDC. 

• In November 2018, “Building Bridges: An Indigenous 
Education Strategic Plan for Red Deer College” was 
completed and approved. This plan stems from extensive 
consultation with regional Indigenous communities and 
informs the work of RDC’s Indigenous Student Services. 

• The School of Continuing Education is proud of the 
partnerships developed through their area with all six 
First Nations communities in the Central Alberta Region. 
Building on the success of the Flexibility and Innovation 
in Apprenticeship Technical Training (FIATT) project and 
the MOU signed with Sunchild First Nation, training 
opportunities continue to grow. 

• Indigenous Student Services led 28 targeted outreaches to 
First Nations community contacts including the Montana 
First Nation, Samson Cree Nation, Ermineskin Cree Nation, 
Louis Bull Tribe, Sunchild First Nation, O’Chiese First Nation, 
and Big Horn Nation, as well as the Métis/First Nation Urban 
Indigenous community of Red Deer.

Strategic Priority 2: Enhance the Indigenous student 
experience, especially the transition into RDC. 

• In September 2018, Indigenous Student Services offered 
an Indigenous Student Welcome to provide Indigenous 
students a venue to meet other students, faculty, Elders and 
knowledge keepers, community people, agencies, and other 
supports. This event was attended by 67 students.

• In December 2018, Indigenous Student Services hosted 
a meal for Indigenous students to congratulate them on 
completing their semester.

• The Indigenous Student Services Generalist made it a 
practice to open a weekly appointment to meet with 
students in the Library in order to seek out ways to connect 
Indigenous students to RDC’s academic supports.

• Indigenous Student Services organized three tours for 
students from Samson Cree Nation, Ermineskin Cree Nation, 
and the Louis Bull Tribe. 

• The School of Continuing Education provided junior and 
senior high school students from Sunchild First Nation with 
two academies focusing on electrical, carpentry, and welding 
programs. Sunchild School has excellent access to academic 
programming and online options to facilitate grade 12 
completion; however, they have identified a desire to provide 
more hands-on, technical opportunities for students, which 
allows RDC to respond to that need. While on campus, the 
students were invited to meet with the Indigenous Student 
Services Generalist to discuss accessing post-secondary 
resources after high school graduation.  

REGIONAL STEWARDSHIP, FOUNDATIONAL LEARNING, UNDERREPRESENTED LEARNERS 
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• In Spring 2019, two groups of students from Sunchild 
First Nation spent a week on the RDC campus, staying in 
the new Residence building and taking part in a variety 
of introductory programs for cooking, sports medicine, 
coaching, visual arts, and volleyball.

• Indigenous Student Services were invited to Ermineskin 
to meet with the Health Care Aide students to introduce 
themselves and discuss the services available to Indigenous 
students on campus and in the community.

• Funds from the Alberta Mental Health Grant have been 
designated for use in 2019/2020 to research and recommend 
a model for an Elder-in-Residence program at RDC. 

• Sixteen students participated in a Pre-Employment 
Carpentry program with training in Ermineskin and practical 
experiences in the School of Trades and Technologies at 
RDC’s main campus. To fulfill the requirements of completing 
the program, students successfully built a garden shed for a 
local charity. 

• Alberta Apprenticeship and Industry Training granted 
RDC approval to offer unfilled apprenticeship seats to 
the College’s First Nation partners in a variety of trades. 
After completing RDC’s customized pre-trades upgrading 
program, participating students would be registered in 
a first-year apprenticeship program. This unique format 
would allow students to attend RDC as a cohort, staying 
in residence, receiving support from Elders and tutors, 
and studying the trade of their choice. Unlike most pre-
apprenticeship programs, which focus on a Nation having 
enough students to run a class in one trade, this program 
offers choice while still providing the supports needed for 
students to successfully transition to College. 

Strategic Priority 3: Provide cross-cultural education for 
faculty, staff, and students. 

• Presentations to RDC’s Schools included topics such as: 
Indigenous history, treaties, the Indian Act, the Pass System, 
Economics, Health impacts, Residential school impacts, 
60s Scoop of Indigenous children, impacts/destruction of 
Indigenous language on Kinship, Ways of Knowing and 
how this impacts  Urban and Rural/First Nation ways of 
knowing, and world view, which then impacts Indigenous 
post-secondary learners. Presentations were strategically 
tied to course learning outcomes to ensure alignment with 
individual courses. 19 presentations occurred in 2018/2019.

• To begin and share ways of doing and knowing, requesting 
Elder and knowledge keeper teachings, or when requiring 
Elder, Knowledge Keeper presence at RDC functions, the 
Indigenous Student Services office supports proper protocols 
for RDC staff and faculty to be aware. 

• January 2019 saw the School of Education host the 
Student Indigenous Perspectives Conference on “The 
Importance of Language and Culture.” More than 90% of 
conference participants who responded to a survey about 
their experience indicated that they now have a deeper 
understanding of Indigenous culture and history. 

• Four Soup and Bannock lunches, to which all students, staff, 
and faculty are invited, were offered throughout the year. 
Short informative sessions with speakers focused on different 
topics such as culture, language and foods, traditions and 
other teachings. 434 RDC individuals participated in these 
Soup and Bannock lunches.

REGIONAL STEWARDSHIP, FOUNDATIONAL LEARNING, UNDERREPRESENTED LEARNERS 
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• Representation from RDC served as a Literacy Action 
Committee member for the Lifelong Learning Council of Red 
Deer. Sharing views on the importance of and recognition of 
Indigenous languages as essential in maintaining Indigenous 
ways of knowing, world views, ways of being and reaffirms 
that Indigenous languages should be considered as part of 
central Alberta’s Literacy Action Committee. 

Strategic Priority 4: Establish a “voice” for Indigenous 
peoples in key facets of the College’s operation. 

• Indigenous Student Services works closely with RDC’s 
Research Ethics Board to monitor how the students and 
faculty conduct research with Indigenous communities. 
The scholarly work associated with this advisory role led the 
Indigenous Student Services team to be invited to present 
at one National conference on the Ethics Research project 
called “Inisoteyahk - Walking Together: The Research Ethics 
Board’s Role in Supporting Indigenous Research.”

• The School of Continuing Education continues to develop 
programming in support of the aspirations of each First 
Nations community in central Alberta with whom RDC has 
engaged in partnerships. 

• The First Nations at Maskwacis have identified a need and 
desire to build long-term care facilities in their community. 
Ermineskin First Nation also identified an employment 
opportunity for their members and partnered with the 
School of Continuing Education and Campus Alberta Central 
(CAC) to deliver a Health Care Aide program in their home 
community. The program was delivered to 16 students 
primarily on site at Ermineskin, with the lab components held 
in the recently opened Ponoka Learning Centre. Practicum 
placements were secured close to the community. Based on 
the success of this offering, plans are now focusing on the 
opportunity to run two more Health Care Aide programs – 
one at Ermineskin First Nation and a second at Samson First 
Nation. 

Strategic Priority 5: Schools and programs design and 
revise curriculum and deliver programming in order 
to advance understanding of the histories, cultures, 
languages, and present-day communities of Indigenous 
people. 

• Indigenous Student Services worked with the Centre 
for Teaching and Learning (CTL) to renew their Principle 
of Practice “Ewicihitoyak – We believe relationship is 
foundational to support Indigenous ways of knowing” and 
participate in an associated working group with members of 
the CTL team.

• Indigenous Student Services participated in the delivery 
of the Excellence in Teaching and Learning module, 
Indigenization of Post-Secondary Education in Canada. This 
course addressed culture, Indigenous people, the importance 
of Indigenous languages and comprehension, Treaties, Truth 
and Reconciliation Calls to Action, UN Declaration on the 
Rights of Indigenous Peoples, and contemporary issues. 

• INDS 205: Indigenous Peoples in Canada was offered as part 
of the Justice Studies Diploma in 2018/2019 and has been 
identified as a course for development into online delivery in 
2019/2020. 

• The School of Continuing Education provided digital 
literacy training to staff at the O’Chiese First Nation casino. 
Exploration is underway to provide more business training 
on site in O’Chiese.

REGIONAL STEWARDSHIP, FOUNDATIONAL LEARNING, UNDERREPRESENTED LEARNERS 
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RDC and Olds College have extended their collaboration 
agreement in support of CAC, thus fulfilling the mandate of 
regional stewardship to the Central Zone. This work partners 
the post-secondary institutions with all Advanced Education-
funded local Community Adult Learning Programs (CALPs) 
in the region to provide post-secondary opportunities in 
communities throughout central Alberta. The local learning 
centres in Drumheller, Ponoka (opened Fall 2018), Rocky 
Mountain House, and Stettler are the fulfillment of CAC’s 
commitment to engaging communities in regionally-based 
centres of learning to ensure that Albertans have access to 
technology-enabled learning and personalized support 
ser vices within 45 minutes of their  home communit y. 
Agreements are in place with 19 organizations that include 
adult learning within their mandate. These organizations deliver 
services, including credentialed programming out of each of 
the joint venture colleges, at 23 community service locations 
with outreach services available in two additional communities.

CAC partners, including CALPs, delivered more than 4,000 
individual support services, engaging 1,779 community 
members in learning opportunities at CAC learning centres, 
and fielding a total of 8,987 regional contacts in the 2018/2019 
academic year, which is a 21% overall increase in interest from 
2017/2018. More students enrolled in CAC programs on a full-
time basis rather than part-time studies, resulting in a 24% 
increase to the number of full-time learner equivalents. In 
2018/2019, CAC added the Town of Sundre as an Associate, and 
provided partners with video conferencing equipment, which 
is now being used to access foundational programming offered 
through an Alberta Works contracted organization. 

The commitment of both Olds College and RDC to regional 
stewardship drives community engagement and shapes 
program planning. In 2018/2019, 15 CAC partner organizations 
submit ted needs assessment repor ts ,  which form an 
important part of the program selection process. Existing 
areas of strength within each joint venture institution inform 
accessibility to quality programming, and this ensures learners 
within the Central Alberta Region experience fewer barriers in 
pursuing post-secondary education. CAC’s 2018/2019 Learner 
Survey Report shared that 81% of students in CAC supported 
programs said they would not otherwise have been able to 
access learning. 

2.

CAMPUS ALBERTA CENTRAL (CAC)

CAC of fered a total  of  12 online programs and seven 
community-based programs, enhancing access to, and in 
response to, central Alberta’s regional foundational learning 
needs. Dual credit students participated in the Health Care 
Aide Certificate (HCA) in Drumheller and Stettler in addition to 
the HCA being contextualized and offered through targeted 
delivery to Ermineskin band members at the newly opened 
Ponoka location. Online program expansion in 2018/2019 
focused on areas that prepare students for a credit program, 
effectively laddering many existing credentials into advanced 
parchments in response to the regional labour market demand. 
Five programs were approved for new development with two 
specifically (Management Skills for Commercial Kitchens and 
Pre-Health Sciences) building skills for entry to diploma and 
trade programs. 

Through CAC, rural learners had access to the following 
credentials in 2018/2019: 

• Administrative Professional Certificate (online)

• Business Administration Diploma (online)

• Management Certificate (online)

• Accommodating Guest Services Certificate (online)

• Accommodation Management Certificate (online)

• Early Learning and Child Care Certificate (online) 

• Early Learning and Child Care Diploma (online)

• Educational Assistant Certificate (online)

• Pre-Apprenticeship Exam Training (online)

• Rural Finance and Entrepreneurship Certificate (online)

• Tourism Business and Services Management Certificate 
(online)

• Veterinary Medical Receptionist Certificate (online)

• Management Skills for Supervisors Certificate (online  
and community – Drumheller)

• Health Care Aide Certification (community – Drumheller, 
Ponoka, Rocky Mountain House and Stettler) 

• Heavy Equipment Operator Certificate (community – 
Drumheller)

• Practical Nurse Diploma (community – Stettler,  
Rocky Mountain House)

REGIONAL STEWARDSHIP, FOUNDATIONAL LEARNING, UNDERREPRESENTED LEARNERS 
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RDC’s School Within a College (SWAC) initiative is a function 
of dual credit enrolment as it provides qualified high school 
students with the opportunity to complete first-period 
technical training for a select trade. In 2018/2019, 12 high school 
students joined the Automotive Service Technician session and 
11 students participated in Welder. The program ran at RDC 
during the high school second semester, beginning in February 
2019. Students had to complete all core academic courses in 
order to be eligible to enrol in RDC’s technical training classes. 
This flexible and responsive program is intended to promote 
post-secondary opportunities for students in the Red Deer 
Public, Red Deer Catholic, Chinook’s Edge, and Wolf Creek 
school divisions, thus placing RDC as a valued partner in 
fulfilling regional stewardship.

CAC’s regional learning centres of fer community-based 
programs, which allow dual-credit students to gain access 
through CALPs. In 2018/2019, dual credit students took part 
in a unique feature of the Health Care Aide Certification in 
Drumheller and Stettler. The flexibility of including the high 
school students along with students from the community 
allowed smaller communities to create viable cohorts for 
instruction. In total, 96 students participated in the dual-credit 
program in five communities.

Other Initiatives relating to Community Outreach  
and Under-Represented Learners

• Codemakers: The Association of Professional Engineers and 
Geoscientists of Alberta (APEGA) Education Foundation 
provided funding to support the 2018/2019 Red Hot Science 
Promotion, which expanded its focus to include everything 
from CanCode digital skills workshops to additional Science 
Camps and other forms of creative exploration. This work was 
led by a collaboration of the School of Continuing Education 
and School of Arts and Sciences and served more than 5,000 
central Alberta students from Grades 4 to 7.

4.

DUAL CREDIT PROGRAMMING/ 
SCHOOL WITHIN A COLLEGE  

REGIONAL STEWARDSHIP, FOUNDATIONAL LEARNING, UNDERREPRESENTED LEARNERS 

From February 15 to March 3, 2019, Red Deer and central 
Alberta welcomed approximately 3,600 athletes, managers, 
and coaches from around Canada. More than 20,000 visitors 
experienced 150 athletic events and a cultural festival at the 
largest event hosted in Alberta since the 1988 Winter Olympics 
in Calgary. RDC successfully supported the Athlete’s Village on 
main campus and five of the competition events at the Gary 
W. Harris Canada Games Centre. The involvement of RDC’s staff 
in contributing to on-campus Games operations highlighted 
the ability of the team to make quick decisions and deliver at 
a very high level. Everything from the Residence to facilities 
to engagement with the College community of fered an 
exceptional opportunity to serve the Central Alberta Region 
and all of Canada in a new, expanded definition of regional 
stewardship.

3.

2019 CANADA WINTER GAMES 
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• Trauma-Informed ESL Educator Certificate: RDC’s funding 
proposal entitled “Using Trauma-Informed English as a 
Second Language Instruction to Empower Refugees” was 
successful. The $250,000 funding allowed RDC to partner 
with Central Alberta Refugee Effort (C.A.R.E.) to develop and 
deliver a new Trauma-Informed ESL Educator Certificate to a 
target group of C.A.R.E. ESL instructors. These instructors then 
received support from the School of Continuing Education 
to employ their new skills to develop and deliver the new 
Alberta Workplace Language Certificate for Newcomers to 
19 students. Subsequently, the Lifelong Learning Council 
of Red Deer committed to providing funding to offer the 
Alberta Workplace Language Certificate to a second group of 
learners. Based on the success of this program and increasing 
regional demand, it is anticipated that this funding will 
extend to deliver this certificate on an annual basis.

• Trauma-Informed Educator Certificate: Building upon the key 
learnings from the Trauma-Informed ESL Educator Certificate, 
the School of Continuing Education worked collaboratively 
with the School of Education to develop and deliver a new 
Trauma-Informed Educator Certificate. This pilot offering was 
very well received and will continue to be offered both on 
main campus and in the Central Region through CAC. It has 
also been noted that this program aligns with the needs of 
RDC’s partners at the Central Alberta Child Advocacy Centre. 

• RDC continues to work closely with the Central Alberta Child 
Advocacy Centre in creating the vision for a comprehensive 
facility on RDC’s main campus as well as developing training, 
professional development, credit and non-credit education 
programs and research opportunities related to central 
Alberta’s child advocacy services. 

• The Library Information Common has been expanded to 
combine the relevant work of student learning resources 
under the new name: Library and Student Supports. In 
2018/2019, the Library and Student Supports sought 
feedback from underrepresented student groups, specifically 
those who identify as LGBTQ2+. A survey was conducted to 
assess the effectiveness of service on campus meeting the 
specific needs of non-binary students, and all respondents 
indicated they felt safe in the Library.

REGIONAL STEWARDSHIP, FOUNDATIONAL LEARNING, UNDERREPRESENTED LEARNERS 
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REGIONAL STEWARDSHIP, FOUNDATIONAL LEARNING, UNDERREPRESENTED LEARNERS 

The Central Regional Post-Secondary Mental Health Committee, 
a collaborative effort chaired by RDC and with Burman University, 
Maskwacis Cultural College, and Olds College as institutional 
partners, developed as a response to addressing the mental 
health needs of students in central Alberta. It was, however, 
determined that the local committee was not productive as 
student demographics and community resources vastly varied 
across the region. With consultation from Advanced Education, 
it was decided that each institution would form their own 
collaboration group with their local community. As such, RDC 
connected with the Central Alberta Regional Collaborative 
Service Delivery and was invited to join the local mental health 
sub-committee. In 2018/2019, mental health representatives from 
RDC participated in bi-weekly meetings and created a common 
language document based on the mental health continuum 
model. This will provide invaluable coordination to educators 
and mental health associates working with learners through K-12 
and then into the post-secondary environment.

RDC continues to serve as a central contributor to Healthy 
Campus Alberta (HCA). Campus representation has been present 
at all HCA annual summits and all webinars offered in 2018/2019. 
RDC hosted the HCA design team and led a discussion with 
other Grant Leaders on Phase II application development. A 
formalized agreement was instituted to ensure HCA always has 
a centralized space to host the design team for meetings at RDC. 

2018/2019 was Phase 1 of the grant funding to support mental 
health. As a result of the investment, the Counselling and Career 
Centre was able to hire a Mental Health Strategist, an Addictions 
Counsellor, and an Intake Coordinator. Additionally, the Campus 
Connections position was made into a full-time placement in 
coordination with Alberta Health Services. 

Alberta Health Services also entered into a partnership with RDC 
to develop the RDC Addiction Education Coalition. In 2018/2019, 
the coalition held 10 workshops as a means of creating a more 
coordinated approach in providing addiction education to staff 
and students, resulting in a minimization of the duplication of 
services across campus. 

Student mental health supports were expanded to the Donald 
School of Business with the extension of Counselling office hours 
at the downtown campus location. Two staff members received 
the developmental training to become Mental Health First Aid 
trainers, facilitating in-house Mental Health First Aid sessions for 
staff and faculty, centering on the student experience. 

6.

MENTAL HEALTH INITIATIVES 

The Disability Resources office operates within the division 
of Library and Student Supports. The staf f acknowledge 
the importance of duty to accommodate and advocate for 
students, offering training at the beginning of the academic 
year to students who may require assistance, but are unaware 
of what resources are available to them. Disability Resources also 
provides useful information about available grants to ensure 
RDC students receive the most complete and comprehensive 
support available. Daily interactions with students from every 
program allow Disability Resources to provide direction and 
direct support in obtaining accommodations and technology to 
equip students to be academically, personally, and professionally 
successful. 

Students requiring accessible Residence housing can choose 
from RDC’s 12 accessible housing units. These units are attached 
to the Tower Residence complex designed primarily for students 
with mobility impairments and accessibility needs. This facility 
enables the student to go directly to class on main campus 
without having to navigate outside access points.

5.

LEARNERS WITH DISABILITIES
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RDC recognizes that a belief in and application of quality 
(of gender, gender identity, gender expression, and sexual 
orientation) and a culture of Consent are the best tools to create 
a campus free of sexual violence. The College acknowledges 
the harm caused by a culture in which common attitudes, 
norms, and practices tolerate, normalize, trivialize, excuse, or 
outright condone sexual violence. To this end, the work done 
in 2018/2019 addresses education and awareness, security and 
support, procedures and processes to respond to allegations 
of sexual violence, as well as a clear delineation of behavioural 
expectations and responsibilities for all members of the RDC 
community. 

At RDC, there are multiple avenues for reporting and responding 
to experiences of sexual violence. Students can share their 
experience through the Health and Wellness Centre, Campus 
Security, or the Counselling Centre. The College has also 
established a Sexual Violence Investigation Team to support any 
impacted individuals and reduce the overall number of incidents 
of sexual violence. The registered Counsellors working within the 
Counselling Centre have taken specific professional development 
in sexual violence and management of disclosures. As a result, 
a consistent and respectful protocol has been established for 
assessing the needs of students reporting an incident. This is an 
important aspect of ensuring continuity of care and decreasing 
the need for an individual to re-tell and re-live the event.

In 2018/2019, RDC implemented the Respect in the Workplace 
online program that was approved by the Mental Health 
Commission of Canada. This interactive, online program was 
implemented to help build an even stronger campus culture 
where everyone feels valued, and is free from workplace bullying, 
abuse, harassment, and discrimination. It provides organizations 
with a standard tool, common language and practices, while 
improving team communication and productivity. The training 
program was launched on June 3, 2019 to the broader College 
community, following a pilot in Ancillary and Sport Services and 
Human Resources. As of June 30, 2019, 452 College employees 
have completed the training (approximately 50% of employees).

RDC’s contract security, Paladin Security, continued to provide 
Safewalk support to students, staff, faculty, and campus guests 
who expressed a desire to be accompanied to their vehicles. 
The resource team reported an average of approximately 
three escorted walks per month to RDC campus parking lots in 
2018/2019.

7.

SEXUAL VIOLENCE PREVENTION 

REGIONAL STEWARDSHIP, FOUNDATIONAL LEARNING, UNDERREPRESENTED LEARNERS 
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INTERNATIONALIZATION
APPENDIX E:

A new framework for internationalization at RDC has begun to take shape, aligning the institution’s recruitment and export 
services with Canada’s new International Education Strategy 2019-2024 in order to facilitate an integrated approach to global 
learning. Central Alberta students at RDC are provided with opportunities for international engagement, both at home and 
abroad. Locally, programs designed to meet the needs of a diverse environment lend a wider cultural perspective in addition to 
the invitation for international students to pursue post-secondary studies here at RDC. Study and work opportunities have opened 
up key global markets to the campus. RDC has engaged the international community through student recruitment, hosting 
educational tour groups, and corporate and training partnerships, as well as increasing support for newcomers to Canada.  

RDC has been working to support the increasing number of international students on campus, a decision which initiated the 
planning and preparation for an infrastructure to complement a target volume of international enrollees. In 2018/2019, there 
were 156 international students enrolled at RDC, not including those attending as Permanent Residents or Refugee claimants. 
Altogether, Red Deer’s diverse population represented the post-secondary pursuits of more than 500 individuals with citizenship 
in more than 70 different countries. 

RDC’s academic supports for its diverse and new-to-Canada student body continue to feature one-on-one and group tutorial 
sessions for English as a Second Language. In 2018/2019, there were students from Mexico, Congo, Cameroon, Korea, Philippines, 
Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Ukraine, Sudan, India, Iran, Eritrea, El Salvador, and Tanzania. These students were enrolled in almost all 
of RDC’s Schools through a variety of credentials such as upgrading, apprenticeship, diplomas, and collaborative degrees, and 
they utilized the student support services available to international students, including tutoring. The purpose of tutoring students 
in the English language is to help improve an understanding of concepts and processes related to their academic course work. 
The students receive a mix of grammar instruction, vocabulary development, and oral communication through conversation, all 
designed to build academic language proficiency. 

Over the summer of 2018, RDC hosted a group of 60 students from China, along with their parents and chaperones. Students 
stayed in Residence and participated in a variety of summer camp opportunities including film, sport, and science camps.

The School of Continuing Education’s Trauma-informed ESL Educator’s Certificate was developed on partnership with Central 
Alberta Refugee Effort (C.A.R.E.), and was delivered to 19 students, a target group of local C.A.R.E. ESL instructors. They, in turn, 
provided insight into the development of the new “Alberta Workplace Language Certificate for Newcomers.” Additional funding 
was also secured from Lifelong Learning Council of Red Deer to allow a second offering of the certificate.

RDC’s Social Work program and the Department of Social Work of Sree Sankaracharya University of Sanskrit first collaborated 
in the Spring of 2016 to explore social issues in both Canada and India. The collaboration was inspired by a desire to bring an 
international perspective to student-led research, allowing students an opportunity to explore social issues through two cultural 
lenses. While the opportunity was well received by students, there were some collaborative challenges encountered as a result 
of time zones and institutional calendars. Since the initial collaboration, RDC’s Social Work program has undertaken curriculum 
expansion, changing the nature of the aligning course, SOWK 312, to develop the research component into a separate credit and 
the region of Kalady, India, in which the Sree Sankaracharya University of Sanskrit is located, experienced some interruptions as a 
result of environmental events. Future working relationships between the two programs continue to be explored. 
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RDC’s long-term partnership with the National Energy Skills 
Centre (NESC) in Trinidad and Tobago continues to evolve in 
providing trades expertise and oversight. In 2018/2019, RDC 
transitioned to online testing for all theory components of the 
program. Rather than sending staff twice a year to Trinidad 
and Tobago, the School of Continuing Education is able to test 
students immediately upon completion of their courses, thus 
better serving students.

In 2018/2019, 722 students were assessed in 40 unique settings, 
including: 

• 6,959 online course exams

• 9,176 total course exams

• 171 practical assessments 

NAME OF 
PROGRAM

TYPE OF 
CREDENTIAL

PRINCIPAL 
MODE OF 
DELIVERY

NAME OF 
PARTNER 

INSTITUTION
COUNTRY

NUMBER OF 
STUDENT 

PARTICIPANTS 
2018/2019

NUMBER OF 
GRADUATES / 
COMPLETERS

National 
Energy Skills 
Centre

Career 
Development 
Certificate 
(RDC) 

Diploma 
(NESC)

1) In-person 
coursework

2) Online 
assessments

3) In-person 
practical 
assessments

4) Local, 
in-country 
work 
experience 
(1,650 hours) 

National 
Energy Skills 
Centre (NESC)

Trinidad 
and 
Tobago

722 20 
completed all 
requirements 
as of June 30, 
2019 

TRANSNATIONAL EDUCATION
REPORT ON TRANSNATIONAL PROGRAMS

To support ongoing instructor development through the NESC 
program, RDC hosted nine individuals (one Vice-President, 
two Managers, and six subject matter experts/lead instructors) 
for an intensive instructor training session that included 
components of the Excellence in Teaching and Learning 
program, as well as hands-on mentorship from trades faculty. 
NESC administrators valued the time and instruction and 
have since requested a contract for the School of Continuing 
Education to provide the Excellence in Teaching and Learning 
program online for up to 40 of their local instructors. 

Further to the scope of this partnership with NESC, RDC invited 
the Business Development Manager and Associate Dean 
from the School of Continuing Education to travel to Guyana. 
The trip resulted in RDC’s delegates exploring joint business 
opportunities and enrolling ten Guyanese students in an 
outreach program through NESC.   

INTERNATIONALIZATION

RDC’s approach to internationalization enhances the role of each department and division in working to provide 

an exemplary educational experience for all students. Students of the Central Alberta Region benefit from the 

perspective available through the intercultural learning environment, which is becoming more intentional as RDC 

transitions to RDU.  
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TYPE OF PROJECT AND FUNDING SOURCES

Type
Project 

Description
Total Project Cost Funding Sources

Funding 
Received to Date 

and Source

Revised Funding 
Sources

PRIORITY PROJECTS (TOP 3 CAPITAL PROJECTS)

New Furniture, 
fixtures, 
equipment, 
and technology 
for the Gary W. 
Harris Canada 
Games Centre

$5M 18.3 % 
donations/
partnerships 

59% RDC funds 
(debt funding)

22.7% from 
GoA as grant 
to the project, 
illustrated in the 
Comprehensive 
Institutional 
Plan 2019/2020 
submission.

Total project 
cost received 
to date from 
the following 
sources:

18.3% 
Donations/
Partnerships

59% Debt 
Funding

22.7% from 
GOA as grant to 
the project

N/A

Maintenance High priority 
infrastructure 
systems 
renewal

$7.6M  
(three-year 
cost model 
increased from 
$6.8M to $7.6M 
in 2019/2020). 

100% 
Infrastructure 
Maintenance 
Program 
funding from 
the GoA.

100% GOA 
funded under 
Infrastructure 
Maintenance 
Plan (IMP)

N/A

CAPITAL PLAN
2018/2019

APPENDIX F:
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TYPE OF PROJECT AND FUNDING SOURCES

Type
Project 

Description
Total Project Cost Funding Sources

Funding 
Received to Date 

and Source

Revised Funding 
Sources

Expansion Space 
repurposing

Increased 
estimate from 
$5M to $10M in 
2019/2020.

100% 
Infrastructure 
Maintenance 
Program 
funding from 
the GoA.

No funding 
provided for 
this initiative, 
therefore 
no space 
repurposing 
was completed 
with GOA funds

Reliant on 
dedicated IMP 
funds in next 
fiscal cycle.

OTHER

New Student 
Residence 
construction

$21.2M 100% RDC 
funds (through 
net assets and 
debt funding)

$3.7 M from 
RDC net assets 
and $17.5 from 
Debt Funding 

N/A

CAPITAL PLAN
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PROJECT TIMELINES AND STATUS

Project 
Description

Project Timelines
Expected Project 

Start
Expected Project 

Completion
Project Status

Progress Made in 
Last 12 Months

Install furniture, 
fixtures, 
equipment, 
and technology 
for the Gary W. 
Harris Canada 
Games Centre. 

Began this work 
prior to the 
facility’s grand 
opening on 
August 22, 2018.

All spaces fully 
functional in 
time for the 
Canada Winter 
Games in 
February 2019.

June 2018 February 2019 Complete The building 
is now 
outfitted with 
all furniture, 
fixtures, 
equipment, and 
technology.

High priority 
infrastructure 
systems 
renewal. 

Ongoing work 
to modernize 
key functions of 
campus.

Ongoing 2034

The 15-year 
window is 
assuming no 
additional 
GoA funding is 
received.

Infrastructure 
Maintenance 
Program 
funding 
addressing 
critical 
and failed 
components 
only.

Some 
mechanical 
improvements 
completed, 
upgrades 
to building 
management 
systems, UPS 
replacements, 
and energy 
saving 
initiatives.

Space 
repurposing.

Ongoing 
work to 
accommodate 
for new 
programs and 
functions.

Ongoing 2022 Commencing 
planning and 
design.

Commencing 
space 
reconfiguration 
in minor critical 
areas only.

New student 
Residence 
construction.

Began 
construction in 
summer 2017. 
Substantial 
completion 
reached by 
January 2019.

Summer 2017 June 2019 Complete Building was 
functional 
to host 
participating 
athletes in the 
2019 Canada 
Winter Games.

CAPITAL PLAN
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

GROWTH/OFFICE EVERGREEN ACHIEVEMENTS

I TS  success ful ly  implemented a  new computer  f leet 
management  software solution in 2018/2019. This process has 
significantly improved both the quality and speed of device 
software rollout and security patching. Further to this, the 
inventory management functionality has supported improved 
Evergreen decision making and budget forecasting.

ENVIRONMENTAL SCAN IMPLICATIONS

RDC started leveraging the Cybera network in 2018/2019 for 
network services, including the backup internet service. RDC 
has now joined the Cybera coordinated ShareIT initiative 
designed to drive down costs and improve post-secondary 
institutional collaboration, which allows for better decision 
making and reduced costs across the sector.  

Cybersecurity has continued to be a significant focus for post-
secondary information and technology services. Ongoing 
review of RDC’s cybersecurity posture and staf f training 
processes continued throughout 2018/2019.

CLASSROOM TECHNOLOGY

Classrooms in the new Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre 
implemented new technology standards. Excellent initial 
feedback shows these installations have been well received by 
users. Primarily, faculty are very satisfied and far fewer technical 
support calls originate in those rooms than with RDC’s older 
non-standardized classrooms. 

ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING

After almost two years of preparation and planning, January 
2019 finally saw the successful core upgrading of Banner 9. 
Additional upgrades are occurring as self-service modules 
are made available by the vendor and in-house testing is 
completed.

The Cognos 11 upgrade continues with a target completion 
date of December 2019.

ITS CLIENT SERVICES MODEL

Service culture was a significant focus of the ITS Department in 
2018/2019. This results in staff and associated supports being 
more responsive to client needs. In-year adjustments to staffing 
levels resulted in continued development of more efficient ITS 
processes and prioritization of service activities. In order to 
foster continuous improvement, work will continue on defining 
metrics for incident resolution as well as regularly reviewing 
the achievement of those targets, once developed. 

Over the course of 2018/2019, the implementation of several significant software upgrades, classroom technology deployments, 
enhanced reporting tools, and improvements made in collaboration with other public sector institutions mean that the majority 
of the work identified in the 2018/2019 CIP was successfully completed. Efforts to improve the client services model at RDC 
through advancing Information Technology Services (ITS) remain ongoing.

BUDGETS

Several signif icant sof tware projects were successfully 
implemented over the year with no major cost overruns. RDC’s 
ITS department was also able to explore budgetary savings due 
to collaborative work with other post-secondary institutions 
and with RDC’s vendor partners. Cost-savings were found in 
eliminating some software overhead, which compensated for 
inflationary and US dollar increases seen in other service areas. 
Cost-pressures resulted in the loss of staff in ITS, but operational 
adjustments are being made in order to adapt to the changes. 

ITS INITIATIVES

All new RDC staff will have appropriate training on policies and 
security best practices through the onboarding courses. The 
digital risk course was put in place effective July 1, 2019 for all 
new employees as part of their orientation. In addition, existing 
staff were required to take the digital risk course as part of their 
transition to Office 365.

SOFTWARE PROJECTS 

During the course of the year, RDC implemented a number of 
software projects (some cloud-based) that provided significant 
benefits to their functional areas. These projects included: 

• Lumens – School of Continuing Education registration 
software

• Star Rez – Student Residence software

• Digital Repository – Library software to maintain academic 
works of faculty and staff

• Clockworks – Appointment scheduling software and tracking 
used by the Counselling Centre, Disability Resources, and 
Testing Services 

• Academic Works – Implemented for the administration of 
Student Funding and Awards

• iCard – Online photo submission for student ID cards

• CompTracker – Used to assist in tracking practicums for 
students

• Ticketing Software – Used several department for the sale 
and distribution of tickets for all college events, including 
external productions

• Electronic Health Record – School of Health Sciences uses 
it to train students on reading and interpreting electronic 
health records

APPENDIX F:
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RDC BOARD ENDS 
STATEMENTS

E-1 Mission of Red Deer College

Because of Red Deer College: The intellectual, economic, cultural and social 
development of Central Alberta is strengthened and enriched while demonstrating 
good stewardship.

E-2 Learners Have a Foundation of Knowledge, Applied Skills and Attitudes

Learners have a foundation of knowledge, applied skills and attitudes that prepare 
them for multiple careers and lifelong learning.

1. Learners develop adaptive, creative and critical thinking skills.
2. Learners develop cultural and global awareness.
3. Learners have the opportunity to continue their learning and/or seamlessly 

transfer to other post-secondary institutions.
4. An increasing proportion of learners can obtain their postsecondary 

education, including degrees, in the region.
5. People with diverse needs have access to learning.

E-3 Employers Have Access to a Prepared Workforce

Employers have access to a prepared workforce.

Learners have the theoretical knowledge, applied skills and professional attitudes 
that meet employer and workforce needs.

E-4 Creation of New Knowledge, New Enterprise and New Intellectual 
Property

New knowledge, new enterprises, and new intellectual property are created.

E-5 Opportunities for Lifelong Learning

People and communities we serve have opportunities for lifelong learning.

People and communities have opportunities for cultural, wellness, athletic,  
social and intellectual experiences.

Businesses and non-profit organizations have access to education and/ 
or training opportunities.
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ACTUALS

1* Both revenue and expenditures exclude Ancillary, Special Purpose & Trust  
and Sponsored Research.
2** Under PSAS disclosure, grant revenue includes amortization of deferred 
contributions attributed to grant funded assets.

DOLLAR AMOUNT OF OPERATIONAL REVENUE*1

70 million

60 million

50 million

40 million

30 million

20 million

10 million

$61,933,734 

Grants Tuition & Fees

$15,471,446 

Other

$19,665,453 

OPERATIONAL EXPENSES**2

70 million

60 million

50 million

40 million

30 million

20 million

10 million

$35,306,183 

Instructional Academic 
Support & 

Student Services

$40,586,115 

Instructional 
Operations & 

Facilities

$21,218,261 

1,331 PEOPLE 
EMPLOYED IN 2018/19

TUITION FEE  
PER CREDIT$110.50

$1,093,969
WERE DISPERSED BY THE  

RED DEER COLLEGE FOUNDATION AND AWARDS OFFICE

976 AWA R D S ,  TOTA L L I N G

The number 
of acres that 
RDC's land 

encompasses

MAIN CAMPUS  |  973,578.975 ft2

GARY W. HARRIS CANADA  
GAMES CENTRE  |  200,585.277 ft2

NEW RESIDENCE  |  62,754  ft2

DOWNTOWN CAMPUS 
Home of RDC’s Donald School of Business 
35,000 ft2 of leased space

WELIKOKLAD EVENT CENTRE  |  15,900 ft2

RESIDENCE 
ACCOMMODATION

beds
759

beds for  
single students

695

family units
26

+

GEOGRAPHIC SOURCE  
OF STUDENTS 
(BY CENSUS DIVISION)

Central Alberta (64%)

Northern Alberta (17%)

Southern Alberta (12%)

Outside Alberta (7%)

PROPORTION OF 
STUDENTS BY AGE

15-19 Year Olds (26%)

20-24 Year Olds (37%)

25+ Year Olds (37%)

FLE ENROLMENT BY 
PROGRAM AREA

Applied Degree/Transfer (44%)

Diploma/Certificate (35%)

Trades/Industrial (14%)

Adult Development/Other (8%)

RDC 2018/2019 

304
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Independent Auditor’s Report  
	
	
To	the	Board	of	Governors	of	Red	Deer	College	
	
	
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements  
 
Opinion	
I	have	audited	the	consolidated	financial	statements	of	Red	Deer	College,	which	comprise	the	
consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	June	30,	2019,	and	the	consolidated	statements	of	
operations,	cash	flows,	change	in	net	financial	assets	(net	debt),	and	remeasurement	gains	and	
losses	for	the	year	then	ended,	and	notes	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	including	a	
summary	of	significant	accounting	policies.	
	
In	my	opinion,	the	accompanying	consolidated	financial	statements	present	fairly,	in	all	material	
respects,	the	consolidated	financial	position	of	the	Red	Deer	College	as	at	June	30,	2019,	and	the	
results	of	its	operations,	its	remeasurement	gains	and	losses,	its	changes	in	net	debt,	and	its	cash	
flows	for	the	year	then	ended	in	accordance	with	Canadian	public	sector	accounting	standards.	
	
Basis	for	opinion	
I	conducted	my	audit	in	accordance	with	Canadian	generally	accepted	auditing	standards.	My	
responsibilities	under	those	standards	are	further	described	in	the	Auditor's	Responsibilities	for	the	
Audit	of	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	section	of	my	report.	I	am	independent	of	Red	Deer	
College	in	accordance	with	the	ethical	requirements	that	are	relevant	to	my	audit	of	the	consolidated	
financial	statements	in	Canada,	and	I	have	fulfilled	my	other	ethical	responsibilities	in	accordance	
with	these	requirements.	I	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	I	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	
appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	my	opinion.		
	
Other	information		
Management	is	responsible	for	the	other	information.	The	other	information	comprises	the	
information	included	in	the	Annual	Report,	but	does	not	include	the	consolidated	financial	
statements	and	my	auditor’s	report	thereon.	The	Annual	Report	is	expected	to	be	made	available	to	
me	after	the	date	of	this	auditor’s	report.		
		
My	opinion	on	the	consolidated	financial	statements	does	not	cover	the	other	information	and	I	do	
not	express	any	form	of	assurance	conclusion	thereon.	
	
In	connection	with	my	audit	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	my	responsibility	is	to	read	
the	other	information	identified	above	and,	in	doing	so,	consider	whether	the	other	information	is	
materially	inconsistent	with	the	consolidated	financial	statements	or	my	knowledge	obtained	in	the	
audit,	or	otherwise	appears	to	be	materially	misstated.		
	
If,	based	on	the	work	I	will	perform	on	this	other	information,	I	conclude	that	there	is	a	material	
misstatement	of	this	other	information,	I	am	required	to	communicate	the	matter	to	those	charged	
with	governance.	
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Responsibilities	of	management	and	those	charged	with	governance	for	the	consolidated	
financial	statements		
Management	is	responsible	for	the	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	the	consolidated	financial	
statements	in	accordance	with	Canadian	public	sector	accounting	standards,	and	for	such	internal	
control	as	management	determines	is	necessary	to	enable	the	preparation	of	the	consolidated	
financial	statements	that	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.	
	
In	preparing	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	management	is	responsible	for	assessing	Red	
Deer	College’s	ability	to	continue	as	a	going	concern,	disclosing,	as	applicable,	matters	related	to	
going	concern	and	using	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	unless	an	intention	exists	to	
liquidate	or	to	cease	operations,	or	there	is	no	realistic	alternative	but	to	do	so.		
	
Those	charged	with	governance	are	responsible	for	overseeing	Red	Deer	College’s	financial	
reporting	process.			
	
Auditor's	responsibilities	for	the	audit	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	
My	objectives	are	to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	about	whether	the	consolidated	financial	
statements	as	a	whole	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error,	and	to	
issue	an	auditor's	report	that	includes	my	opinion.	Reasonable	assurance	is	a	high	level	of	
assurance,	but	is	not	a	guarantee	that	an	audit	conducted	in	accordance	with	Canadian	generally	
accepted	auditing	standards	will	always	detect	a	material	misstatement	when	it	exists.	
Misstatements	can	arise	from	fraud	or	error	and	are	considered	material	if,	individually	or	in	the	
aggregate,	they	could	reasonably	be	expected	to	influence	the	economic	decisions	of	users	taken	on	
the	basis	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements.	
	
As	part	of	an	audit	in	accordance	with	Canadian	generally	accepted	auditing	standards,	I	exercise	
professional	judgment	and	maintain	professional	skepticism	throughout	the	audit.	I	also:	
• Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	

whether	due	to	fraud	or	error,	design	and	perform	audit	procedures	responsive	to	those	risks,	
and	obtain	audit	evidence	that	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	my	opinion.	
The	risk	of	not	detecting	a	material	misstatement	resulting	from	fraud	is	higher	than	for	one	
resulting	from	error,	as	fraud	may	involve	collusion,	forgery,	intentional	omissions,	
misrepresentations,	or	the	override	of	internal	control.	

• Obtain	an	understanding	of	internal	control	relevant	to	the	audit	in	order	to	design	audit	
procedures	that	are	appropriate	in	the	circumstances,	but	not	for	the	purpose	of	expressing	an	
opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	Red	Deer	College’s	internal	control.	

• Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	
estimates	and	related	disclosures	made	by	management.	

• Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	management’s	use	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	
and,	based	on	the	audit	evidence	obtained,	whether	a	material	uncertainty	exists	related	to	
events	or	conditions	that	may	cast	significant	doubt	on	Red	Deer	College’s	ability	to	continue	as	
a	going	concern.	If	I	conclude	that	a	material	uncertainty	exists,	I	am	required	to	draw	attention	
in	my	auditor’s	report	to	the	related	disclosures	in	the	consolidated	financial	statements	or,	if	
such	disclosures	are	inadequate,	to	modify	my	opinion.	My	conclusions	are	based	on	the	audit	
evidence	obtained	up	to	the	date	of	my	auditor’s	report.	However,	future	events	or	conditions	
may	cause	Red	Deer	College	to	cease	to	continue	as	a	going	concern.		

• Evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	of	the	consolidated	financial	
statements,	including	the	disclosures,	and	whether	the	consolidated	financial	statements	
represent	the	underlying	transactions	and	events	in	a	manner	that	achieves	fair	presentation.	
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• Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	regarding	the	financial	information	of	the	entities	
or	business	activities	within	Red	Deer	College	to	express	an	opinion	on	the	consolidated	
financial	statements.	I	am	responsible	for	the	direction,	supervision	and	performance	of	the	Red	
Deer	College	audit.	I	remain	solely	responsible	for	my	audit	opinion.		

	
I	communicate	with	those	charged	with	governance	regarding,	among	other	matters,	the	planned	
scope	and	timing	of	the	audit	and	significant	audit	findings,	including	any	significant	deficiencies	in	
internal	control	that	I	identify	during	my	audit.	

	
W.	Doug	Wylie	FCPA,	FCMA,	ICD.D		
Auditor	General	
	
October	10,	2019	
Edmonton,	Alberta		

[Original signed by W. Doug Wylie FCPA, FCMA, ICD.D]

Auditor General

 

October 10, 2019

Edmonton, Alberta



2018/2019 ANNUAL REPORT   |   87

RED DEER COLLEGE
STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
 

The consolidated financial statements of Red Deer College have been prepared by management in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards. The consolidated financial statements present fairly the financial 
position of Red Deer College as at June 30, 2019 and the results of its operations, remeasurement gains and losses, 
changes in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended. 

In fulfilling its responsibilities and recognizing the limits inherent in all systems, management has developed and 
maintains a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance that Red Deer College assets are 
safeguarded from loss and that the accounting records are a reliable basis for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements.

The Board of Governors is responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements, and 
overseeing management’s performance of its financial reporting responsibilities.

The Board of Governors carries out its responsibility for review of the consolidated financial statements principally 
through its Audit Committee. With the exception of the President, all members of the Audit Committee are not 
employees of Red Deer College. The Audit Committee meets with management and the external auditors to discuss 
the results of audit examinations and financial reporting matters. The external auditors have full access to the Audit 
Committee, with and without the presence of management.

These consolidated financial statements have been reported on by the Auditor General of Alberta, the auditor 
appointed under the Post-secondary Learning Act. The Independent Auditor’s Report outlines the scope of the audit 
and provides the audit opinion on the fairness of presentation of the information in the consolidated financial 
statements.

               Dr. Peter Nunoda, President                                  Jim Brinkhurst, Vice President, College Services, CFO
 

[Original signed by:] [Original signed by:]
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RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2019

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

2019 2018
Actual Actual

Financial Assets excluding portfolio investments restricted
for endowments

Cash 4,091,052$ 12,968,345$
Portfolio investments - non endowment (note 5) 42,177,956 56,535,619
Accounts receivable (note 17) 2,013,549 7,549,196

48,282,557 77,053,160

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 14,686,305 27,687,730
Employee future benefit liabilities (note 8) 2,565,950 2,430,550
Debt (note 9) 70,351,008 73,683,012
Deferred revenue (note 10) 25,331,963 26,218,307

112,935,226 130,019,599

Net debt, excluding portfolio investments (64,652,669) (52,966,439)
restricted for endowments

Portfolio Investments - restricted for endowments (note 5) 26,900,228 26,206,708

Net debt (37,752,441) (26,759,731)

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (note 7) 198,032,497 188,999,482
Inventories of supplies 75,026 70,727
Prepaid expenses 734,998 998,370

198,842,521 190,068,579

Net assets before spent deferred capital contributions 161,090,080 163,308,848

Spent deferred capital contributions (note 11) 103,622,036 104,882,869

Net assets (note 12) 57,468,044$ 58,425,979$

Net assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus (note 12) 53,346,994$ 53,375,122$
Accumulated remeasurement gains (note 12) 4,121,050 5,050,857

57,468,044$ 58,425,979$

Contractual rights (note 14)
Contractual obligations (note 15)

Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 24)

Chair, Board of Governors President

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2019
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[Original signed by:] [Original signed by:]
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RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2019

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

2019 2018
Actual Actual

Financial Assets excluding portfolio investments restricted
for endowments

Cash 4,091,052$ 12,968,345$
Portfolio investments - non endowment (note 5) 42,177,956 56,535,619
Accounts receivable (note 17) 2,013,549 7,549,196

48,282,557 77,053,160

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 14,686,305 27,687,730
Employee future benefit liabilities (note 8) 2,565,950 2,430,550
Debt (note 9) 70,351,008 73,683,012
Deferred revenue (note 10) 25,331,963 26,218,307
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Inventories of supplies 75,026 70,727
Prepaid expenses 734,998 998,370

198,842,521 190,068,579

Net assets before spent deferred capital contributions 161,090,080 163,308,848

Spent deferred capital contributions (note 11) 103,622,036 104,882,869
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Net assets is comprised of:
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Contractual rights (note 14)
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Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 24)

Chair, Board of Governors President

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

2019
Budget 

2019
Actual

2018
Actual

(note 23)
REVENUES

Government of Alberta grants (note 21) 62,634,000$   63,065,025$      64,140,613$       
Federal and other government grants (note 21) 195,000          113,689            692,619             
Sales of services and products 13,259,000     13,158,346        11,274,678        
Student tuition and fees 20,332,000     19,665,453        19,826,459        
Donations and other grants 3,242,000       4,534,335         5,202,328          
Investment income (note 16) 2,300,000       3,380,805         2,382,486          

101,962,000   103,917,653      103,519,183       

EXPENSES (note 18) 

Instruction 35,610,000     35,306,183        37,786,463        
Academic Support & Student Services 19,044,000     21,218,261        20,734,597        
Facilities Operations 22,568,000     22,949,536        20,862,703        
Institutional Support 16,523,000     17,636,579        17,208,886        
Ancillary  Services 6,660,000       5,765,758         4,649,321          
Sponsored Research 547,000          503,508            649,205             
Special Purpose & Trust 1,010,000       1,584,897         884,720             

101,962,000   104,964,722      102,775,895       

Annual operating (deficit) surplus -                 (1,047,069)        743,288             

Endowment contributions (note 12) 380,000          478,591            98,543               
Endowment capitalized investment income (note 12) 320,000          540,350            491,998             

700,000          1,018,941         590,541             

Annual surplus (deficit) 700,000          (28,128)             1,333,829          

Accumulated operating surplus from operations, beginning of year 53,375,122     53,375,122        52,041,293        

Accumulated operating surplus from operations, end of year (note 12) 54,075,122$   53,346,994$      53,375,122$       

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

2019
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2019
Actual

2018
Actual
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RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

----------The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements---------

2019 2018

OPERATING TRANSACTIONS
Annual (deficit) surplus (28,128)$                   1,333,829$               
Add (deduct) non-cash items:

Amortization of tangible capital assets 9,485,808                 9,413,197                 
Loss (Gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets 133,365                    (47,909)                     
Capital gifts in kind received -                                (148,090)                   
Change in employee future benefit liabilities 135,400                    232,600                    
Expended capital recognized as revenue (note 11) (5,603,789)                (5,531,869)                
Gain on sale of portfolio investments (3,176,317)                (1,730,005)                

Total non-cash items 974,467                    2,187,924                 

5,535,652                 1,832,322                 
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (13,001,427)              3,587,518                 
(Decrease) increase in deferred revenue (602,305)                   1,524,810                 
(Increase) decrease in inventories of supplies (4,299)                       2,730                        
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 263,372                    (4,601)                       
Cash (applied to) provided by operating transactions (6,862,668)$              10,464,532$             

CAPITAL TRANSACTIONS
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 43,189$                    125,876$                  
Acquisition of tangible capital assets, less in kind donations (18,695,377)              (41,558,127)              
Cash (applied to) capital transactions (18,652,188)$            (41,432,251)$            

INVESTING TRANSACTIONS
Purchases of portfolio investments (60,344,932)$            (96,624,188)$            
Proceeds on sale of portfolio investments 75,971,545               116,031,681             
Cash provided by investing transactions 15,626,613$             19,407,493$             

FINANCING TRANSACTIONS
Debt - repayment (3,332,004)                (334,921)                   
Debt - new financing -                                17,500,000               
Increase in spent deferred capital contributions, 

less expended capital recognized as revenue, less in-kind donations 4,342,954                 4,479,358                 
Cash provided by financing transactions 1,010,950$               21,644,437$             

(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH (8,877,293)$              10,084,211$             

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 12,968,345$             2,884,134$               

CASH, END OF YEAR 4,091,052$               12,968,345$             

Decrease in accounts receivable

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2019

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

2019 2018
Actual Actual

Financial Assets excluding portfolio investments restricted
for endowments

Cash 4,091,052$ 12,968,345$
Portfolio investments - non endowment (note 5) 42,177,956 56,535,619
Accounts receivable (note 17) 2,013,549 7,549,196

48,282,557 77,053,160

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 14,686,305 27,687,730
Employee future benefit liabilities (note 8) 2,565,950 2,430,550
Debt (note 9) 70,351,008 73,683,012
Deferred revenue (note 10) 25,331,963 26,218,307

112,935,226 130,019,599

Net debt, excluding portfolio investments (64,652,669) (52,966,439)
restricted for endowments

Portfolio Investments - restricted for endowments (note 5) 26,900,228 26,206,708

Net debt (37,752,441) (26,759,731)

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (note 7) 198,032,497 188,999,482
Inventories of supplies 75,026 70,727
Prepaid expenses 734,998 998,370

198,842,521 190,068,579

Net assets before spent deferred capital contributions 161,090,080 163,308,848

Spent deferred capital contributions (note 11) 103,622,036 104,882,869

Net assets (note 12) 57,468,044$ 58,425,979$

Net assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus (note 12) 53,346,994$ 53,375,122$
Accumulated remeasurement gains (note 12) 4,121,050 5,050,857

57,468,044$ 58,425,979$

Contractual rights (note 14)
Contractual obligations (note 15)

Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 24)

Chair, Board of Governors President
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RED DEER COLLEGE 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (NET DEBT)
AS AT JUNE 30, 2019

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

Budget 2019 2018

Annual surplus (deficit) 700,000$          (28,128)$                   1,333,829$              
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (note 7) (15,300,000)      (18,695,377)              (41,706,217)             
Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets 43,189                      125,876                   
Amortization of tangible capital assets (note 7) 10,300,000       9,485,808                 9,413,197                
Loss/(gain) on sale of tangible capital assets 133,365                    (47,909)                    
(Increase)/decrease in inventories of supplies (4,299)                       2,730                       
Decrease/(Increase) in prepaid expenses 263,372                    (4,601)                      
Change in spent deferred capital contributions
   less expended capital recognized as revenue (note 11) 700,000            (1,260,833)                (1,052,511)               
Change in net accumulated remeasurement gains (929,807)                   (589,830)                  
Increase in (Net debt)/net financial assets (3,600,000)$ (10,992,710)$ (32,525,436)$

(Net debt)/net financial assets, beginning of year (26,759,531)$ (26,759,731)$            5,765,705$              

(Net debt)/net financial assets, end of year (30,359,531)$ (37,752,441)$            (26,759,731)$

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2019

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

2019 2018
Actual Actual

Financial Assets excluding portfolio investments restricted
for endowments

Cash 4,091,052$ 12,968,345$
Portfolio investments - non endowment (note 5) 42,177,956 56,535,619
Accounts receivable (note 17) 2,013,549 7,549,196

48,282,557 77,053,160

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 14,686,305 27,687,730
Employee future benefit liabilities (note 8) 2,565,950 2,430,550
Debt (note 9) 70,351,008 73,683,012
Deferred revenue (note 10) 25,331,963 26,218,307

112,935,226 130,019,599

Net debt, excluding portfolio investments (64,652,669) (52,966,439)
restricted for endowments

Portfolio Investments - restricted for endowments (note 5) 26,900,228 26,206,708

Net debt (37,752,441) (26,759,731)

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (note 7) 198,032,497 188,999,482
Inventories of supplies 75,026 70,727
Prepaid expenses 734,998 998,370

198,842,521 190,068,579

Net assets before spent deferred capital contributions 161,090,080 163,308,848

Spent deferred capital contributions (note 11) 103,622,036 104,882,869

Net assets (note 12) 57,468,044$ 58,425,979$

Net assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus (note 12) 53,346,994$ 53,375,122$
Accumulated remeasurement gains (note 12) 4,121,050 5,050,857

57,468,044$ 58,425,979$

Contractual rights (note 14)
Contractual obligations (note 15)

Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 24)

Chair, Board of Governors President
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RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF REMEASUREMENT GAINS AND LOSSES
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

----------The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements----------

 

2019 2018

Accumulated remeasurement gains at beginning of year 5,050,857$ 5,640,687$

Unrealized gains attributable to:

Quoted in active market financial instruments:
Portfolio investments - non-endowment (note 5) 1,745,358 721,993

Amounts reclassified to statement of operations:

Quoted in active market financial instruments:
Portfolio investments - non-endowment (note 5) (2,675,165) (1,311,823)

Accumulated remeasurement gains at end of year 4,121,050$ 5,050,857$

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2019

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

2019 2018
Actual Actual

Financial Assets excluding portfolio investments restricted
for endowments

Cash 4,091,052$ 12,968,345$
Portfolio investments - non endowment (note 5) 42,177,956 56,535,619
Accounts receivable (note 17) 2,013,549 7,549,196

48,282,557 77,053,160

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 14,686,305 27,687,730
Employee future benefit liabilities (note 8) 2,565,950 2,430,550
Debt (note 9) 70,351,008 73,683,012
Deferred revenue (note 10) 25,331,963 26,218,307

112,935,226 130,019,599

Net debt, excluding portfolio investments (64,652,669) (52,966,439)
restricted for endowments

Portfolio Investments - restricted for endowments (note 5) 26,900,228 26,206,708

Net debt (37,752,441) (26,759,731)

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (note 7) 198,032,497 188,999,482
Inventories of supplies 75,026 70,727
Prepaid expenses 734,998 998,370

198,842,521 190,068,579

Net assets before spent deferred capital contributions 161,090,080 163,308,848

Spent deferred capital contributions (note 11) 103,622,036 104,882,869

Net assets (note 12) 57,468,044$ 58,425,979$

Net assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus (note 12) 53,346,994$ 53,375,122$
Accumulated remeasurement gains (note 12) 4,121,050 5,050,857

57,468,044$ 58,425,979$

Contractual rights (note 14)
Contractual obligations (note 15)

Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 24)

Chair, Board of Governors President
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RED DEER COLLEGE 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 

1

1.   Authority and Purpose 

The Board of Governors of Red Deer College is a corporation which manages and operates Red Deer College 
(“the College”) under the Post-Secondary Learning Act (Alberta). All members of the Board of Governors are 
appointed by either the Lieutenant Governor in Council or the Minister of Advanced Education, with the exception 
of the President, who is an ex officio member. Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, Campus Alberta Sector 
Regulation, the College is a comprehensive community College offering diploma, certificate, applied degree and 
collaborative degree programs, as well as a full range of trades and apprenticeship and continuing education 
programs and activities. The College is a registered charity, and under section 149 of the Income Tax Act 
(Canada), is exempt from the payment of income tax.   

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices 

a) General – Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) and Use of Estimates 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector 
Accounting Standards (PSAS). The measurement of certain assets and liabilities is contingent upon future 
events; therefore, the preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates, 
which may vary from actual results. College management uses judgment to determine such estimates.  
Employee future benefit liabilities, amortization of tangible capital assets and deferred revenue are the most 
significant items based on estimates. In management’s opinion, the resulting estimates are within 
reasonable limits of materiality and are in accordance with the significant accounting policies summarized 
below. These significant accounting policies are presented to assist the reader in evaluating these financial 
statements and, together with the following notes, should be considered an integral part of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

b) Valuation of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

The College’s financial assets and liabilities are generally measured as follows: 

Financial Statement Component   Measurement   

Cash      Cost or amortized cost   

Portfolio investments    Fair value and amortized cost 

Accounts receivable    Amortized cost   

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  Amortized cost   

Debt      Amortized cost   

Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities are recognized 
in the Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses except for the restricted portions which 
are recognized as a liability under deferred revenue. When the restricted nature of a financial instrument and 
any related changes in fair value create a liability, unrealized gains and losses are recognized as deferred 
revenue. 

All financial assets are tested annually for impairment. When financial assets are impaired, impairment 
losses are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. A write-down of a portfolio investment to 
reflect a loss in value is not reversed for a subsequent increase in value.  

For financial assets and liabilities measured using amortized cost, the effective interest rate method is used 
to determine interest revenue or expense. Transaction costs are a component of cost for financial 
instruments measured using cost or amortized cost. Transaction costs are expensed for financial 
instruments measured at fair value. The purchase and sale of cash and portfolio investments are accounted 
for using trade-date accounting. 

RED DEER COLLEGE 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 

3

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms 
for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation 
are met. 

d) Endowments 

Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal allocations by 
the College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity. 

Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes 
established by the donors or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as College policy stipulate that the 
economic value of the endowments must be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be 
expended and reinvesting unexpended income.   

Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of 
endowments to enable: 

 Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the 
amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment. 

 Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and 
generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and does not impair the long term 
value of the fund. 

 Per the Endowments and Use of Endowments Funds Policy of Red Deer College, twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the annual interest earned (excluding unrealized income) is re-invested into the 
principal portion of the endowment to offset the effects of inflation and fluctuations in annual 
earnings.  The long term objective is to preserve the capital of the endowment within two percent 
(2%) of a five (5) year rolling average of the Alberta Consumer Price Index (ACPI) and adjust the 
cumulative total of the endowment pool for any shortfall. 

 Only the expendable interest earned in previous fiscal years shall be made available for use in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In the event of any annual shortfall, the College reserves the right to use 
undesignated donations to ensure its scholarships and annual commitments are covered. 

Endowment contributions, matching contributions, and associated investment income allocated re-invested 
into the principal portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which 
they are received. 

e) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the 
acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes 
overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset. Work in progress, which includes buildings & 
infrastructure projects and equipment, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in 
service. 

Capital lease obligations are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the 
inception of the lease excluding executor costs (e.g. insurance, maintenance costs, etc.). The discount rate 
used to determine the present value of the lease payments is the lower of the College’s rate for incremental 
borrowing or the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
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RED DEER COLLEGE 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 

2

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

The College does not use foreign currency contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

The College evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either 
designate the entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative 
component when characteristics of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items for the College’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or financial liabilities.  

c) Revenue Recognition 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services 
have not been provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue. 

Government Grants, Non-government Grants and Donations:

Government transfers are referred to as government grants. 

Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for the use, or the terms 
along with the College’s actions and communications as to the use, create a liability.  These grants and 
donations are recognized as revenue as the terms are met.  If the grants and donations are used to acquire 
or construct tangible capital assets revenue will be recognized over the useful life of the tangible capital 
assets.

Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recorded as revenue when the College is 
eligible to receive the funds.  Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recorded as revenue in 
the year received or in the year the funds are committed to the College if the amount can be reasonably 
estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

In kind donations of services, materials and tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value when such 
value can reasonably be determined. Transfers of tangible capital assets from related parties are recorded 
at the carrying value.  While volunteers as well as College staff contribute a significant amount of time each 
year beyond their employed roles to assist the College in carrying out its mission, the value of their services 
is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably 
determined. 

Endowment Donations 

Endowment donations are recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year in 
which they are received, and are required by donors to be maintained intact in perpetuity.  

Investment Income 

Investment income includes dividend and interest income, and realized gains or losses on the sale of 
portfolio investments. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments that are not from restricted 
transfers, donations or contributions are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Accumulated 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses until the related investments are sold. Once realized, these gains or 
losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

The endowment spending allocation portion of investment income earned by endowments is recognized as 
deferred revenue when the terms for the use by the endowment create a liability. Realized investment 
income allocated to endowment balances for the preservation of endowment capital purchasing power is 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations under endowment capitalized investment income. 

RED DEER COLLEGE 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 

2

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

The College does not use foreign currency contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

The College evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either 
designate the entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative 
component when characteristics of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items for the College’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or financial liabilities.  

c) Revenue Recognition 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services 
have not been provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue. 

Government Grants, Non-government Grants and Donations:

Government transfers are referred to as government grants. 

Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for the use, or the terms 
along with the College’s actions and communications as to the use, create a liability.  These grants and 
donations are recognized as revenue as the terms are met.  If the grants and donations are used to acquire 
or construct tangible capital assets revenue will be recognized over the useful life of the tangible capital 
assets.

Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recorded as revenue when the College is 
eligible to receive the funds.  Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recorded as revenue in 
the year received or in the year the funds are committed to the College if the amount can be reasonably 
estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

In kind donations of services, materials and tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value when such 
value can reasonably be determined. Transfers of tangible capital assets from related parties are recorded 
at the carrying value.  While volunteers as well as College staff contribute a significant amount of time each 
year beyond their employed roles to assist the College in carrying out its mission, the value of their services 
is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably 
determined. 

Endowment Donations 

Endowment donations are recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year in 
which they are received, and are required by donors to be maintained intact in perpetuity.  

Investment Income 

Investment income includes dividend and interest income, and realized gains or losses on the sale of 
portfolio investments. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments that are not from restricted 
transfers, donations or contributions are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Accumulated 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses until the related investments are sold. Once realized, these gains or 
losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

The endowment spending allocation portion of investment income earned by endowments is recognized as 
deferred revenue when the terms for the use by the endowment create a liability. Realized investment 
income allocated to endowment balances for the preservation of endowment capital purchasing power is 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations under endowment capitalized investment income. 
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RED DEER COLLEGE 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 

3

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms 
for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation 
are met. 

d) Endowments 

Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal allocations by 
the College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity. 

Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes 
established by the donors or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as College policy stipulate that the 
economic value of the endowments must be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be 
expended and reinvesting unexpended income.   

Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of 
endowments to enable: 

 Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the 
amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment. 

 Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and 
generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and does not impair the long term 
value of the fund. 

 Per the Endowments and Use of Endowments Funds Policy of Red Deer College, twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the annual interest earned (excluding unrealized income) is re-invested into the 
principal portion of the endowment to offset the effects of inflation and fluctuations in annual 
earnings.  The long term objective is to preserve the capital of the endowment within two percent 
(2%) of a five (5) year rolling average of the Alberta Consumer Price Index (ACPI) and adjust the 
cumulative total of the endowment pool for any shortfall. 

 Only the expendable interest earned in previous fiscal years shall be made available for use in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In the event of any annual shortfall, the College reserves the right to use 
undesignated donations to ensure its scholarships and annual commitments are covered. 

Endowment contributions, matching contributions, and associated investment income allocated re-invested 
into the principal portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which 
they are received. 

e) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the 
acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes 
overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset. Work in progress, which includes buildings & 
infrastructure projects and equipment, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in 
service. 

Capital lease obligations are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the 
inception of the lease excluding executor costs (e.g. insurance, maintenance costs, etc.). The discount rate 
used to determine the present value of the lease payments is the lower of the College’s rate for incremental 
borrowing or the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

RED DEER COLLEGE 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms 
for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation 
are met. 

d) Endowments 

Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal allocations by 
the College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity. 

Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes 
established by the donors or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as College policy stipulate that the 
economic value of the endowments must be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be 
expended and reinvesting unexpended income.   

Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of 
endowments to enable: 

 Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the 
amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment. 

 Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and 
generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and does not impair the long term 
value of the fund. 

 Per the Endowments and Use of Endowments Funds Policy of Red Deer College, twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the annual interest earned (excluding unrealized income) is re-invested into the 
principal portion of the endowment to offset the effects of inflation and fluctuations in annual 
earnings.  The long term objective is to preserve the capital of the endowment within two percent 
(2%) of a five (5) year rolling average of the Alberta Consumer Price Index (ACPI) and adjust the 
cumulative total of the endowment pool for any shortfall. 

 Only the expendable interest earned in previous fiscal years shall be made available for use in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In the event of any annual shortfall, the College reserves the right to use 
undesignated donations to ensure its scholarships and annual commitments are covered. 

Endowment contributions, matching contributions, and associated investment income allocated re-invested 
into the principal portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which 
they are received. 

e) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the 
acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes 
overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset. Work in progress, which includes buildings & 
infrastructure projects and equipment, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in 
service. 

Capital lease obligations are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the 
inception of the lease excluding executor costs (e.g. insurance, maintenance costs, etc.). The discount rate 
used to determine the present value of the lease payments is the lower of the College’s rate for incremental 
borrowing or the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

The College does not use foreign currency contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

The College evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either 
designate the entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative 
component when characteristics of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items for the College’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or financial liabilities.  

c) Revenue Recognition 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services 
have not been provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue. 

Government Grants, Non-government Grants and Donations:

Government transfers are referred to as government grants. 

Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for the use, or the terms 
along with the College’s actions and communications as to the use, create a liability.  These grants and 
donations are recognized as revenue as the terms are met.  If the grants and donations are used to acquire 
or construct tangible capital assets revenue will be recognized over the useful life of the tangible capital 
assets.

Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recorded as revenue when the College is 
eligible to receive the funds.  Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recorded as revenue in 
the year received or in the year the funds are committed to the College if the amount can be reasonably 
estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

In kind donations of services, materials and tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value when such 
value can reasonably be determined. Transfers of tangible capital assets from related parties are recorded 
at the carrying value.  While volunteers as well as College staff contribute a significant amount of time each 
year beyond their employed roles to assist the College in carrying out its mission, the value of their services 
is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably 
determined. 

Endowment Donations 

Endowment donations are recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year in 
which they are received, and are required by donors to be maintained intact in perpetuity.  

Investment Income 

Investment income includes dividend and interest income, and realized gains or losses on the sale of 
portfolio investments. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments that are not from restricted 
transfers, donations or contributions are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Accumulated 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses until the related investments are sold. Once realized, these gains or 
losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

The endowment spending allocation portion of investment income earned by endowments is recognized as 
deferred revenue when the terms for the use by the endowment create a liability. Realized investment 
income allocated to endowment balances for the preservation of endowment capital purchasing power is 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations under endowment capitalized investment income. 

RED DEER COLLEGE 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, is amortized on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives as follows: 

Buildings, infrastructure & green energy 15 - 40 years

Land improvements 12 years
Furniture & equipment 5 - 20 years

Computer hardware and software 3 - 5 years

Other 10 years

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer contribute to the 
College’s ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of future economic benefits associated 
with the tangible capital assets are less than their net book value.  The net write-downs are accounted for as 
expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

Contributed capital assets are recorded as revenues at their fair market value on the date of donation, 
except in circumstances where fair value cannot be reasonably determined, which are then recognized at 
nominal value.  Transfers of capital assets from related parties are recorded at the carrying value. 

Intangible assets, works of art, historical treasures and collections are expensed when acquired and not 
recognized as tangible capital assets because a reasonable estimate of the future benefits associated with 
such property cannot be made. 

f) Foreign Currency Translation 

Financial assets and liabilities recorded in foreign currencies are translated to Canadian dollars at the 
yearend exchange rate. Revenues & expenses are translated at average weekly exchange rates throughout 
the year. In the period of settlement realized gains or losses from these translations are included in 
investment income. Unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses.  In the period of settlement, foreign exchange gains and losses are 
reclassified to the Consolidated Statement of Operations, and the cumulative amount of remeasurement 
gains and losses is reversed in the Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses 

g) Employee Future Benefits 

Pension
The College participates with other employers in the Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP). The pension 
plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan that provide pensions for the College’s participating 
employees based on years of service and earnings.   

The College does not have sufficient plan information on the LAPP to follow the standards for defined 
benefit accounting, and therefore follows the standards for defined contribution accounting. Accordingly, 
pension expense recorded for the LAPP is comprised of employer contributions to the plan that are required 
for its employees during the year; which are calculated based on actuarially pre-determined amounts that 
are expected to provide the plan’s future benefits.  

Supplementary Employees Retirement Plan (SERP) 
The College maintains a supplementary pension plan to eligible staff members. The pension expense for 
defined benefit SERP is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method prorated on service. 
Actuarial gains or losses on the accrued benefit obligation are amortized over the expected average 
remaining service life. The pension expense for the defined benefit supplementary retirement plan is the 
employer’s current year contribution to the plan as calculated in accordance with the plan rules. 

Sabbatical Leave 
The College participates in paid sabbatical leaves for faculty association members.  In order to be granted 
sabbatical leave, a member must submit an application for approval, per their respective collective 
agreements. Refer to note 8 for amounts recorded in these consolidated financial statements for sabbatical 
liabilities. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, is amortized on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives as follows: 

Buildings, infrastructure & green energy 15 - 40 years

Land improvements 12 years
Furniture & equipment 5 - 20 years

Computer hardware and software 3 - 5 years

Other 10 years

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer contribute to the 
College’s ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of future economic benefits associated 
with the tangible capital assets are less than their net book value.  The net write-downs are accounted for as 
expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

Contributed capital assets are recorded as revenues at their fair market value on the date of donation, 
except in circumstances where fair value cannot be reasonably determined, which are then recognized at 
nominal value.  Transfers of capital assets from related parties are recorded at the carrying value. 

Intangible assets, works of art, historical treasures and collections are expensed when acquired and not 
recognized as tangible capital assets because a reasonable estimate of the future benefits associated with 
such property cannot be made. 

f) Foreign Currency Translation 

Financial assets and liabilities recorded in foreign currencies are translated to Canadian dollars at the 
yearend exchange rate. Revenues & expenses are translated at average weekly exchange rates throughout 
the year. In the period of settlement realized gains or losses from these translations are included in 
investment income. Unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses.  In the period of settlement, foreign exchange gains and losses are 
reclassified to the Consolidated Statement of Operations, and the cumulative amount of remeasurement 
gains and losses is reversed in the Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses 

g) Employee Future Benefits 

Pension
The College participates with other employers in the Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP). The pension 
plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan that provide pensions for the College’s participating 
employees based on years of service and earnings.   

The College does not have sufficient plan information on the LAPP to follow the standards for defined 
benefit accounting, and therefore follows the standards for defined contribution accounting. Accordingly, 
pension expense recorded for the LAPP is comprised of employer contributions to the plan that are required 
for its employees during the year; which are calculated based on actuarially pre-determined amounts that 
are expected to provide the plan’s future benefits.  

Supplementary Employees Retirement Plan (SERP) 
The College maintains a supplementary pension plan to eligible staff members. The pension expense for 
defined benefit SERP is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method prorated on service. 
Actuarial gains or losses on the accrued benefit obligation are amortized over the expected average 
remaining service life. The pension expense for the defined benefit supplementary retirement plan is the 
employer’s current year contribution to the plan as calculated in accordance with the plan rules. 

Sabbatical Leave 
The College participates in paid sabbatical leaves for faculty association members.  In order to be granted 
sabbatical leave, a member must submit an application for approval, per their respective collective 
agreements. Refer to note 8 for amounts recorded in these consolidated financial statements for sabbatical 
liabilities. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

Medical Leave 
The College provides paid medical leave to a maximum of 90 calendar days.  This amount is recorded as an 
expenditure on the Consolidated Statement of Operations when the payments are disbursed.  After this 
period, an employee may be eligible for long-term disability coverage per the long-term disability plan with 
the College’s carrier. 

Local Authority Pension Plan (LAPP) Premiums for Long-term Disability Recipients  
Membership in the Long-Term Disability Plan is mandatory for all full-time employees and for some part time 
employees, per their respective collective agreement or negotiated contract, after 12 months of employment.  
An employee on long term disability leave is required to pay 100% of their benefit premium costs and their 
portion of LAPP premiums as set by the LAPP. The College is responsible for paying the employer’s portion 
of these premiums. This amount is charged to expense in full when the event occurs which obligates the 
College to pay the premiums.  The College consults with an actuary to assist with determining the future 
obligation based on the age and number of participants on the Long Term Disability Plan each year. Refer to 
note 8 for amounts recorded in these consolidated financial statements for these liabilities. 

(h)  Basis of Consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements are prepared on a consolidated basis and include the accounts of 
Red Deer College Foundation.

Proportionate consolidation method is used to record the College’s proportionate share (50%) of each 
financial statement component of the following joint venture: 
Campus Alberta Central is a joint venture created with Olds College under the Central Alberta College- 
Community Partnership Agreement to provide adult learning services in Central Alberta. This partnership is 
not material to the College’s consolidated financial statements; therefore, separate condensed financial 
information is not presented. 

(i) Expense by Function 

The College uses the following categories of functions on its Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

Instruction 
Expenses related to all programming and training including both credit and non-credit. 

Academic Support & Student Services 
Expenses relating to activities directly supporting the academic functions. 

Facilities Operations 
 Expenses relating to the maintenance of the facilities & grounds including building maintenance, utilities, 

renovations and amortization. 

Institutional Support 
Expenses related to supporting the operations of the College.  

Ancillary Services 
Expenses related to services provided to the College community outside of the normal functions of 
instruction and research. Ancillary services include: child care services, student residences and parking 
services.  

Sponsored Research 
Expenses for research activities funded by contracts with and/or grants from external organizations and 
undertaken with the College to produce research outcomes. 

Special Purpose & Trust 
Expenses related to fundraising, from proportionate consolidation of CAC joint venture and recoverable 
expenses related to the Canada Winter Games. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms 
for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation 
are met. 

d) Endowments 

Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal allocations by 
the College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity. 

Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes 
established by the donors or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as College policy stipulate that the 
economic value of the endowments must be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be 
expended and reinvesting unexpended income.   

Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of 
endowments to enable: 

 Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the 
amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment. 

 Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and 
generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and does not impair the long term 
value of the fund. 

 Per the Endowments and Use of Endowments Funds Policy of Red Deer College, twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the annual interest earned (excluding unrealized income) is re-invested into the 
principal portion of the endowment to offset the effects of inflation and fluctuations in annual 
earnings.  The long term objective is to preserve the capital of the endowment within two percent 
(2%) of a five (5) year rolling average of the Alberta Consumer Price Index (ACPI) and adjust the 
cumulative total of the endowment pool for any shortfall. 

 Only the expendable interest earned in previous fiscal years shall be made available for use in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In the event of any annual shortfall, the College reserves the right to use 
undesignated donations to ensure its scholarships and annual commitments are covered. 

Endowment contributions, matching contributions, and associated investment income allocated re-invested 
into the principal portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which 
they are received. 

e) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the 
acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes 
overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset. Work in progress, which includes buildings & 
infrastructure projects and equipment, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in 
service. 

Capital lease obligations are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the 
inception of the lease excluding executor costs (e.g. insurance, maintenance costs, etc.). The discount rate 
used to determine the present value of the lease payments is the lower of the College’s rate for incremental 
borrowing or the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

(j) Funds and Reserves 

Certain amounts, as approved by the Board of Governors, are set aside in accumulated surplus for future 
operating and capital purposes. These amounts are not available for other purposes without the approval of 
the Board and do not have interest allocated to them. Transfers to/from funds and reserves are an 
adjustment to the respective fund when approved. 

(k)  Future Accounting Changes 

In August 2018, the Public Sector Accounting Board issued PS 3280 Asset retirement obligations. This 
accounting standard is effective for fiscal years starting on or after April 1, 2021. Asset retirement obligations 
provide guidance on how to account for and report a liability for retirement of a tangible capital asset. 

 In 2019, the Public Sector Accounting Board approved PS 3400 Revenue. This accounting standard is 
effective for fiscal years starting on or after April 1, 2022 and provides guidance on how to account for and 
report on revenue, specifically addressing revenue arising from exchange transactions and unilateral 
transactions.

Management is currently assessing the impact of these new standards on the consolidated financial 
statements.

3. Adoption of New Accounting Standards 

The institution has prospectively adopted PS 3430 Restructuring transactions. This accounting standard is 
effective for fiscal years starting on or after April 1, 2018. Restructuring transactions defines and establishes 
disclosure standards for restructuring transactions.  

The adoption of this standard did not affect the consolidated financial statements.  

4. Change in Accounting Policies 

Effective July 1, 2018, Red Deer College changed its amortization policy to record monthly amortization 
based on the in service date of the tangible capital asset.  In previous years, the College’s amortization 
policy was to record a full year’s amortization for any assets put into service in the year. The new policy 
aligns with the Government of Alberta’s policy and with many other post-secondary institutions that are 
consolidated into the Government’s reporting entity. 

This change in accounting policy has been applied prospectively due to the complexity in preparing the 
necessary financial data to restate previous year’s financial results. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

The College does not use foreign currency contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

The College evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either 
designate the entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative 
component when characteristics of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items for the College’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or financial liabilities.  

c) Revenue Recognition 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services 
have not been provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue. 

Government Grants, Non-government Grants and Donations:

Government transfers are referred to as government grants. 

Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for the use, or the terms 
along with the College’s actions and communications as to the use, create a liability.  These grants and 
donations are recognized as revenue as the terms are met.  If the grants and donations are used to acquire 
or construct tangible capital assets revenue will be recognized over the useful life of the tangible capital 
assets.

Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recorded as revenue when the College is 
eligible to receive the funds.  Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recorded as revenue in 
the year received or in the year the funds are committed to the College if the amount can be reasonably 
estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

In kind donations of services, materials and tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value when such 
value can reasonably be determined. Transfers of tangible capital assets from related parties are recorded 
at the carrying value.  While volunteers as well as College staff contribute a significant amount of time each 
year beyond their employed roles to assist the College in carrying out its mission, the value of their services 
is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably 
determined. 

Endowment Donations 

Endowment donations are recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year in 
which they are received, and are required by donors to be maintained intact in perpetuity.  

Investment Income 

Investment income includes dividend and interest income, and realized gains or losses on the sale of 
portfolio investments. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments that are not from restricted 
transfers, donations or contributions are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Accumulated 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses until the related investments are sold. Once realized, these gains or 
losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

The endowment spending allocation portion of investment income earned by endowments is recognized as 
deferred revenue when the terms for the use by the endowment create a liability. Realized investment 
income allocated to endowment balances for the preservation of endowment capital purchasing power is 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations under endowment capitalized investment income. 
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5. Portfolio Investments 

2019 2018

Portfolio investments - non endowment 42,177,956$        56,535,619$   

Portfolio investments - restricted for endowments 26,900,228 26,206,708

69,078,184$        82,742,327$   

The composition of portfolio investments measured at fair value are as follows: 
    
Level 2 Investments 

2019 2018

Investments at fair value

Treasury bills 5,730,480$         15,674,632$       

Pooled funds:

    Canadian equity 3,561,043           4,097,037           

    International equity 9,412,172           10,663,722         

    Global equity 26,900,228         26,206,708         

    Canadian bonds 22,617,637         15,447,241         

    Global bonds 856,624              1,459,829           

Canadian bonds -                          9,193,158           
Total investments 69,078,184$       82,742,327$       

The fair value measurements are those derived from:  
Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets;  
Level 2 – Fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included with level 1 
that are observable for the assets, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).  
Level 3 – Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the assets 
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).   

The College has policies and procedures in place governing asset mix, diversification, exposure limits, credit 
quality and performance measurement. The President has delegated authority for oversight of the College’s 
investment portfolio and an Investment Committee, an advisory subcommittee, provides reports and 
recommendations on the portfolio to the President.   The Investment Committee meets regularly to monitor 
investments, to review investment manager performance, to ensure compliance with the College’s investment 
policies and to evaluate the continued appropriateness of the College’s investment policies. The investment 
objectives of the College focus on minimizing risk, optimizing return and meeting the objectives established for 
specific types of funds. As well, the investments should reflect the fiduciary nature of the funds and the College’s 
perceived social responsibility.  

6. Financial Risk Management 

The College is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including market risks (price risk, currency risk and interest 
rate risk) credit risk and liquidity risk. To manage these risks, the College has established an investment policy 
with a target asset mix that is diversified by asset class with individual issuer limits and is designed to achieve a 
long-term rate of return that in real terms equals or exceeds total endowment expenditures with an acceptable 
level of risk. 

The College is exposed to the following risks: 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms 
for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation 
are met. 

d) Endowments 

Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal allocations by 
the College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity. 

Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes 
established by the donors or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as College policy stipulate that the 
economic value of the endowments must be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be 
expended and reinvesting unexpended income.   

Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of 
endowments to enable: 

 Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the 
amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment. 

 Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and 
generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and does not impair the long term 
value of the fund. 

 Per the Endowments and Use of Endowments Funds Policy of Red Deer College, twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the annual interest earned (excluding unrealized income) is re-invested into the 
principal portion of the endowment to offset the effects of inflation and fluctuations in annual 
earnings.  The long term objective is to preserve the capital of the endowment within two percent 
(2%) of a five (5) year rolling average of the Alberta Consumer Price Index (ACPI) and adjust the 
cumulative total of the endowment pool for any shortfall. 

 Only the expendable interest earned in previous fiscal years shall be made available for use in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In the event of any annual shortfall, the College reserves the right to use 
undesignated donations to ensure its scholarships and annual commitments are covered. 

Endowment contributions, matching contributions, and associated investment income allocated re-invested 
into the principal portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which 
they are received. 

e) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the 
acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes 
overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset. Work in progress, which includes buildings & 
infrastructure projects and equipment, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in 
service. 

Capital lease obligations are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the 
inception of the lease excluding executor costs (e.g. insurance, maintenance costs, etc.). The discount rate 
used to determine the present value of the lease payments is the lower of the College’s rate for incremental 
borrowing or the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
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Note 6 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Market risk 
The College is exposed to market risk - the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security, its 
issuer or general market factors affecting all securities. To manage this risk, the College has established an 
investment policy with a target asset mix that is diversified by asset class with individual issuer limits and is 
designed to achieve a long-term rate of return that in real terms equals or exceeds total endowment expenditures 
with an acceptable level of risk. 

The College assesses its portfolio sensitivity to a percentage increase or decrease in the market prices. The 
sensitivity rate is determined using the historical annualized standard deviation for the total portfolio over a four 
year period as determined by Mawer Investment Management Ltd.   

Portfolio Investments – Restricted for Endowments 
At June 30, 2019, if market prices had a 6.04% (2018 – 5.86%) increase or decrease, with all other variables 
held constant, the increase or decrease in accumulated remeasurement gains and losses and endowment net 
assets for the year would be $1,624,016 (2018 - $1,535,192). 

Portfolio Investments – Non Endowment 
At June 30, 2019, if market prices had a 3.86% (2018 – 4.06%) increase or decrease, with all other variables 
held constant, the increase or decrease in accumulated remeasurement gains and losses and net assets for the 
year would be $1,627,505 (2018 - $1,937,337). 

Foreign currency risk 
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The College’s foreign exchange risk is limited due to the fact that 
its primary business activities are conducted in Canada using Canadian currency. Accordingly, the College is 
relatively insensitive to fluctuations in foreign currencies. 

The impact of a change in value of foreign currency portfolio investments is as follows: 

Portfolio Investments – Restricted for Endowments 

Currency Fair Value
2.5% 

decrease
1.0% 

decrease
1.0% 

increase
2.5% 

increase

Foreign Currency Assets 12,253,354$    (306,334)$       (122,534)$       122,534$        306,334$        

Portfolio Investments – Non Endowment 

Currency Fair Value
2.5% 

decrease
1.0% 

decrease
1.0% 

increase
2.5% 

increase

Foreign Currency Assets 10,054,739$    (251,368) (100,547) 100,547 251,368

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the College will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities. The College maintains a short-term line of credit of $1,000,000 (2018 - $1,000,000) to ensure that 
funds are available to meet current and forecasted financial requirements. The account is not drawn upon at year 
end (2018 nil). 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

The College does not use foreign currency contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

The College evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either 
designate the entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative 
component when characteristics of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items for the College’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or financial liabilities.  

c) Revenue Recognition 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services 
have not been provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue. 

Government Grants, Non-government Grants and Donations:

Government transfers are referred to as government grants. 

Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for the use, or the terms 
along with the College’s actions and communications as to the use, create a liability.  These grants and 
donations are recognized as revenue as the terms are met.  If the grants and donations are used to acquire 
or construct tangible capital assets revenue will be recognized over the useful life of the tangible capital 
assets.

Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recorded as revenue when the College is 
eligible to receive the funds.  Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recorded as revenue in 
the year received or in the year the funds are committed to the College if the amount can be reasonably 
estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

In kind donations of services, materials and tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value when such 
value can reasonably be determined. Transfers of tangible capital assets from related parties are recorded 
at the carrying value.  While volunteers as well as College staff contribute a significant amount of time each 
year beyond their employed roles to assist the College in carrying out its mission, the value of their services 
is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably 
determined. 

Endowment Donations 

Endowment donations are recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year in 
which they are received, and are required by donors to be maintained intact in perpetuity.  

Investment Income 

Investment income includes dividend and interest income, and realized gains or losses on the sale of 
portfolio investments. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments that are not from restricted 
transfers, donations or contributions are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Accumulated 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses until the related investments are sold. Once realized, these gains or 
losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

The endowment spending allocation portion of investment income earned by endowments is recognized as 
deferred revenue when the terms for the use by the endowment create a liability. Realized investment 
income allocated to endowment balances for the preservation of endowment capital purchasing power is 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations under endowment capitalized investment income. 
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Note 6 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Credit risk 
Counterparty credit risk is the risk of loss arising from the failure of a counterparty to fully honor its financial 
obligations with the College. The College is exposed to credit risk. The credit risk from accounts receivable is 
relatively low as the majority of balances are due from government departments and agencies. Credit risk from 
tuition is managed through restricted enrolment activities for students with delinquent balances and maintaining 
standard collection procedures. There is no direct credit risk associated with equity investments because they 
are held in pooled funds.  The credit risk associated with fixed income investments is minimized through the 
investment policy which establishes specific credit rating requirements. 

Portfolio Investments – Restricted for Endowments 

At June 30, 2019, the distribution of money market funds by risk rating area is as follows: 
 Money market funds: R-1(high) 100.0% (2018 - 100.0%); R-1(mid) 0.0% (2018 - 0.0%). 
 Bonds: AAA 36.07% (2018 – 40.55%); AA 32.03% (2018 – 29.11%); A 18.04% (2018 – 20.41%), 

              BBB 13.86% (2018 – 9.93%) 

Portfolio Investments – Non Endowment 

At June 30, 2019, the distribution of money market funds by risk rating area is as follows: 
 Money market funds: R-1(high) 100.0% (2018 - 100.0%); R-1(mid) 0.0% (2018 - 0.0%). 
 Bonds: AAA 35.57% (2018 – 37.16%); AA 32.99% (2018 – 37.56%); A 17.91% (2018 – 19.41%); BBB 13.52%  

              (2018 - 5.87%) 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk to the College’s earnings that arise from the fluctuations in interest rates and the 
degree of volatility of these rates. This risk is managed by contractually setting interest rates with banking 
Institutions. Interest risk on the College’s long-term liabilities is managed through fixed-risk agreements with 
Alberta Capital Finance Authority (note 9). 

The interest rates and terms to maturity of interest-bearing securities held by the College are as follows:  

Term <  1 year 1-5 years 6-10 years > 10 years

Average
 Effective 

Market Yield

% % % % %

T-Bills 100.0         -             -             -            1.7                

Cdn. Bonds -             -             -             -            -                

Portfolio Investments – Restricted for Endowments 
At June 30, 2019, if interest rates increase by 0.3%, and all variables are held constant, the potential loss in fair 
value to the College would be approximately $211,000 of total investments (2018 – Loss of $194,000). 

Portfolio Investments – Non Endowment 
At June 30, 2019, if interest rates increase by 0.3%, and all variables are held constant, the potential loss in fair 
value to the College would be approximately $546,000 of total investments (2018 – Loss of $575,000). 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms 
for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation 
are met. 

d) Endowments 

Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal allocations by 
the College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity. 

Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes 
established by the donors or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as College policy stipulate that the 
economic value of the endowments must be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be 
expended and reinvesting unexpended income.   

Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of 
endowments to enable: 

 Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the 
amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment. 

 Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and 
generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and does not impair the long term 
value of the fund. 

 Per the Endowments and Use of Endowments Funds Policy of Red Deer College, twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the annual interest earned (excluding unrealized income) is re-invested into the 
principal portion of the endowment to offset the effects of inflation and fluctuations in annual 
earnings.  The long term objective is to preserve the capital of the endowment within two percent 
(2%) of a five (5) year rolling average of the Alberta Consumer Price Index (ACPI) and adjust the 
cumulative total of the endowment pool for any shortfall. 

 Only the expendable interest earned in previous fiscal years shall be made available for use in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In the event of any annual shortfall, the College reserves the right to use 
undesignated donations to ensure its scholarships and annual commitments are covered. 

Endowment contributions, matching contributions, and associated investment income allocated re-invested 
into the principal portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which 
they are received. 

e) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the 
acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes 
overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset. Work in progress, which includes buildings & 
infrastructure projects and equipment, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in 
service. 

Capital lease obligations are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the 
inception of the lease excluding executor costs (e.g. insurance, maintenance costs, etc.). The discount rate 
used to determine the present value of the lease payments is the lower of the College’s rate for incremental 
borrowing or the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
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7. Tangible Capital Assets 

Buildings, 
Infrastructure & 
Green Energy2

Land &  
Improvements

Furniture & 
Equipment 3

Computer 
Hardware and 

Software Other 4 Total

Cost1

Beginning of year 247,246,757$           12,510,857$         23,990,932$          14,785,610$          5,274,955$         303,809,111$          

Additions 11,651,869               22,356                  5,584,082              1,210,789              226,281              18,695,377$            

Disposals, including 
write-downs (6,114)                      (114,539)               (729,910)                (367,442)               (11,090)              (1,229,095)$

258,892,512$           12,418,674$         28,845,104$          15,628,957$          5,490,146$         321,275,393$          

Accumulated 
 Amortization

Beginning of year 75,899,731$             3,027,944$           19,066,733$          12,958,785$          3,856,438$         114,809,629$          

Amortization Expense 6,317,257                 178,178                1,674,998              859,510                 455,865              9,485,808$              

Effects on disposals, 
including write-downs -                           (25,890)                 (659,548)                (356,373)               (10,730)              (1,052,541)$

82,216,988$             3,180,232$           20,082,183$          13,461,922$          4,301,573$         123,242,896$          

Net book value at     
June 30, 2019 176,675,524$           9,238,442$           8,762,921$            2,167,035$            1,188,573$         198,032,497$          

Net book value at 
June 30, 2018 171,347,026$           9,482,913$           4,924,199$            1,826,825$            1,418,517$         188,999,482$          

(1) Cost includes work-in-progress at June 30, 2019 totaling $37,153 (2018 $10,333,587) comprised of Buildings 
& Infrastructure $33,148 (2018 $10,083,243), Furniture & Equipment $4,005 (2018 $161,695) and Land 
Improvements $0 (2018 $88,649).  

(2) Included in additions for Building & Infrastructure is capitalized interest in the amount of $176,214 (2018 
$1,541,558). 

(3) Furniture & Equipment includes vehicles, heavy equipment, office equipment and furniture, and other 
equipment.   

(4) Other includes leasehold improvements and library books.   

The College has a permanent art collection which is not included on the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position in the amount of $1,852,804 (2018 $1,845,604).  The College received capital and operating Gift in Kind 
donations in 2019 of $0 and $216,969 respectively (2018 $148,090 and $192,003). 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

The College does not use foreign currency contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

The College evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either 
designate the entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative 
component when characteristics of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items for the College’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or financial liabilities.  

c) Revenue Recognition 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services 
have not been provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue. 

Government Grants, Non-government Grants and Donations:

Government transfers are referred to as government grants. 

Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for the use, or the terms 
along with the College’s actions and communications as to the use, create a liability.  These grants and 
donations are recognized as revenue as the terms are met.  If the grants and donations are used to acquire 
or construct tangible capital assets revenue will be recognized over the useful life of the tangible capital 
assets.

Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recorded as revenue when the College is 
eligible to receive the funds.  Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recorded as revenue in 
the year received or in the year the funds are committed to the College if the amount can be reasonably 
estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

In kind donations of services, materials and tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value when such 
value can reasonably be determined. Transfers of tangible capital assets from related parties are recorded 
at the carrying value.  While volunteers as well as College staff contribute a significant amount of time each 
year beyond their employed roles to assist the College in carrying out its mission, the value of their services 
is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably 
determined. 

Endowment Donations 

Endowment donations are recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year in 
which they are received, and are required by donors to be maintained intact in perpetuity.  

Investment Income 

Investment income includes dividend and interest income, and realized gains or losses on the sale of 
portfolio investments. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments that are not from restricted 
transfers, donations or contributions are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Accumulated 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses until the related investments are sold. Once realized, these gains or 
losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

The endowment spending allocation portion of investment income earned by endowments is recognized as 
deferred revenue when the terms for the use by the endowment create a liability. Realized investment 
income allocated to endowment balances for the preservation of endowment capital purchasing power is 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations under endowment capitalized investment income. 
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8. Employee Future Benefit Liabilities 

Employee future benefit liabilities are comprised of the following: 

2019 2018
LAPP Premiums for
   Long Term Disability 652,950$          652,950$

SERP (defined benefit) 1,913,000         1,777,600       
Total 2,565,950$       2,430,550$

A. Defined Benefit Plan Accounted for on a Defined Contribution Basis 

Multi-Employer Pension Plans 
Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP) is a multi-employer contributory defined benefit pension plan for eligible 
staff members and is accounted for on a defined contribution basis. At December 31, 2018, the LAPP reported 
an actuarial surplus of $3.47 billion (2017 - $4.84 billion actuarial surplus). An actuarial valuation of the LAPP 
was carried out as at December 31, 2017 and was then extrapolated to December 31, 2018. The pension 
expense recorded in these consolidated financial statements is $4,973,848 (2018 - $5,346,136). The College is 
not responsible for future funding of the plan deficit other than through contribution increases. 

B.  Defined Benefit Plan Accounted for on a Defined Benefit Basis 

Supplementary Employees Retirement Plan  
The College provides non-contributory defined benefit supplementary retirement benefits to eligible staff 
members.  An actuarial valuation of these benefits was carried out on June 30, 2019.  
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms 
for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation 
are met. 

d) Endowments 

Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal allocations by 
the College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity. 

Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes 
established by the donors or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as College policy stipulate that the 
economic value of the endowments must be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be 
expended and reinvesting unexpended income.   

Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of 
endowments to enable: 

 Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the 
amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment. 

 Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and 
generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and does not impair the long term 
value of the fund. 

 Per the Endowments and Use of Endowments Funds Policy of Red Deer College, twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the annual interest earned (excluding unrealized income) is re-invested into the 
principal portion of the endowment to offset the effects of inflation and fluctuations in annual 
earnings.  The long term objective is to preserve the capital of the endowment within two percent 
(2%) of a five (5) year rolling average of the Alberta Consumer Price Index (ACPI) and adjust the 
cumulative total of the endowment pool for any shortfall. 

 Only the expendable interest earned in previous fiscal years shall be made available for use in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In the event of any annual shortfall, the College reserves the right to use 
undesignated donations to ensure its scholarships and annual commitments are covered. 

Endowment contributions, matching contributions, and associated investment income allocated re-invested 
into the principal portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which 
they are received. 

e) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the 
acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes 
overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset. Work in progress, which includes buildings & 
infrastructure projects and equipment, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in 
service. 

Capital lease obligations are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the 
inception of the lease excluding executor costs (e.g. insurance, maintenance costs, etc.). The discount rate 
used to determine the present value of the lease payments is the lower of the College’s rate for incremental 
borrowing or the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

The College does not use foreign currency contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

The College evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either 
designate the entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative 
component when characteristics of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items for the College’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or financial liabilities.  

c) Revenue Recognition 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services 
have not been provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue. 

Government Grants, Non-government Grants and Donations:

Government transfers are referred to as government grants. 

Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for the use, or the terms 
along with the College’s actions and communications as to the use, create a liability.  These grants and 
donations are recognized as revenue as the terms are met.  If the grants and donations are used to acquire 
or construct tangible capital assets revenue will be recognized over the useful life of the tangible capital 
assets.

Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recorded as revenue when the College is 
eligible to receive the funds.  Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recorded as revenue in 
the year received or in the year the funds are committed to the College if the amount can be reasonably 
estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

In kind donations of services, materials and tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value when such 
value can reasonably be determined. Transfers of tangible capital assets from related parties are recorded 
at the carrying value.  While volunteers as well as College staff contribute a significant amount of time each 
year beyond their employed roles to assist the College in carrying out its mission, the value of their services 
is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably 
determined. 

Endowment Donations 

Endowment donations are recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year in 
which they are received, and are required by donors to be maintained intact in perpetuity.  

Investment Income 

Investment income includes dividend and interest income, and realized gains or losses on the sale of 
portfolio investments. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments that are not from restricted 
transfers, donations or contributions are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Accumulated 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses until the related investments are sold. Once realized, these gains or 
losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

The endowment spending allocation portion of investment income earned by endowments is recognized as 
deferred revenue when the terms for the use by the endowment create a liability. Realized investment 
income allocated to endowment balances for the preservation of endowment capital purchasing power is 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations under endowment capitalized investment income. 
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Note 8 Employee Future Benefit Liabilities (continued) 

2018
SERP (1,2) SERP (1,2) Other Plans (1) (3) Other Plans (1) (3)

Expense:
Current service cost 152,100$           170,000$          49,841$                     84,279$                   
Interest cost 51,700               43,100              -                                 -                               
Amortization of (gains)losses (14,200)              60,700              -                                 -                               
Total expense 189,600$           273,800$          49,841$                     84,279$                   

Financial Position
Accrued benefit obligation:
  Balance, beginning of year 1,777,600$        1,545,000$       652,950$                   652,950$                 
  Current service cost 152,100             170,000            49,841                       84,279                     
  Interest cost 51,700               43,100              -                                 -                               
  Amortization of (gains)losses (14,200)              60,700              -                                 -                               
  Benefits paid (54,200)              (41,200)             (49,841)                      (84,279)                    
  Actuarial gain (203,800)            (211,200)           -                                 -                               
Balance, end of year 1,709,200$        1,566,400$       652,950$                   652,950$                 
Plan assets -                         -                        -                                 -                               
Plan deficit 1,709,200$        1,566,400$       652,950$                   652,950$                 
Unamortized net actuarial gain 203,800             211,200            -                                 -                               
Unamortized past service cost -                         -                        -                                 -                               
Accrued benefit liability 1,913,000$        1,777,600$       652,950$                   652,950$                 

2018
Restated2019 2019

The expense and financial position of these defined benefit plans are as follows: 

(1) The expense related to these plans is included on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and the 
accrued benefit liability is recorded under employee future benefit liabilities on the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position.    

(2) The 2018 presentation changed to align with the disclosure reported in 2019. 

(3) Other plans consist of: 
 Sabbatical and LAPP Premiums for long term disability recipients. 

The significant actuarial assumptions used to measure the accrued benefit obligation are as follows: 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms 
for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation 
are met. 

d) Endowments 

Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal allocations by 
the College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity. 

Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes 
established by the donors or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as College policy stipulate that the 
economic value of the endowments must be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be 
expended and reinvesting unexpended income.   

Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of 
endowments to enable: 

 Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the 
amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment. 

 Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and 
generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and does not impair the long term 
value of the fund. 

 Per the Endowments and Use of Endowments Funds Policy of Red Deer College, twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the annual interest earned (excluding unrealized income) is re-invested into the 
principal portion of the endowment to offset the effects of inflation and fluctuations in annual 
earnings.  The long term objective is to preserve the capital of the endowment within two percent 
(2%) of a five (5) year rolling average of the Alberta Consumer Price Index (ACPI) and adjust the 
cumulative total of the endowment pool for any shortfall. 

 Only the expendable interest earned in previous fiscal years shall be made available for use in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In the event of any annual shortfall, the College reserves the right to use 
undesignated donations to ensure its scholarships and annual commitments are covered. 

Endowment contributions, matching contributions, and associated investment income allocated re-invested 
into the principal portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which 
they are received. 

e) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the 
acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes 
overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset. Work in progress, which includes buildings & 
infrastructure projects and equipment, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in 
service. 

Capital lease obligations are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the 
inception of the lease excluding executor costs (e.g. insurance, maintenance costs, etc.). The discount rate 
used to determine the present value of the lease payments is the lower of the College’s rate for incremental 
borrowing or the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
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Note 8 Employee Future Benefit Liabilities (continued) 

Supplementary 
retirement

Supplementary 
retirement

Accrued benefit obligation:
  Discount rate 3.70% 3.20%
  Long-term average
    compensation  increase 2.00% 3.60%

Benefit cost:
  Discount rate 3.70% 3.20%
  Long-term average
    compensation increase 2.00% 3.60%

Alberta inflation long term 2.00% 2.10%

Estimated average 4 4
    remaining service life

20182019

C. Other Employee Benefits

Sabbatical Leave 
A faculty association member may be entitled to a sabbatical leave.  The College records a liability and a cost for 
sabbatical leave when the event occurs that obligates the College. The amount of sabbatical leave accrued each 
year is recorded using the projected benefit method, prorated on services.  Under this method, an equal portion 
of the total estimated benefit is attributed to each year of service remaining.  The present value of the accrued 
sabbatical leave is calculated using the College’s cost of borrowing, except when the sabbatical will be paid out 
within a year. 

LAPP Premiums for Long-Term Disability Recipients  
Long term disability benefits are provided by an external provider. While an employee is receiving long-term 
disability benefits, the College is responsible for paying the employers portion of LAPP contributions.   The 
liability remains unchanged from 2018. 
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9.  Debt 

Debt is measured at amortized cost and is comprised of the following: 

Collateral Maturity Interest Rate 2019 2018
Debentures payable to Alberta Capital 
Finance Authority:

Student Residences 1 Apr-25 6.25% 975,965$                1,106,825$         

Student Residences 1 Apr-26 6.00% 929,061                   1,033,480           

Student Residences 1 Jun-30 4.52% 923,445                   987,019               

Student Residences 1 Jun-32 5.00% 1,002,038               1,055,688           

Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre 1 Dec-46 3.34% 32,292,365             33,000,000         

Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre 1 Mar-27 2.29% 17,076,314             19,000,000         

Student Residences 1 Dec-37 2.91% 17,151,820             17,500,000         

Balance, debentures 70,351,008$           73,683,012$       

(1) A general security agreement is in place over which RDC has granted a security interest in it's property as collateral. 

Principal and interest repayments in each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 

Principal Interest Total
2020 3,783,734$        2,154,222      5,937,956$        
2021 3,895,854          2,042,103      5,937,957          

2022 4,011,687          1,926,270      5,937,957          

2023 4,131,375          1,806,582      5,937,957          

2024 4,255,065          1,682,891      5,937,956          
          Thereafter 50,273,293        15,666,038    65,939,331        

70,351,008$     25,278,106$ 95,629,114$     

Interest expense on debt is $2,006,104 (2018 - $242,590) and is included on the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

The College does not use foreign currency contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

The College evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either 
designate the entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative 
component when characteristics of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items for the College’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or financial liabilities.  

c) Revenue Recognition 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services 
have not been provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue. 

Government Grants, Non-government Grants and Donations:

Government transfers are referred to as government grants. 

Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for the use, or the terms 
along with the College’s actions and communications as to the use, create a liability.  These grants and 
donations are recognized as revenue as the terms are met.  If the grants and donations are used to acquire 
or construct tangible capital assets revenue will be recognized over the useful life of the tangible capital 
assets.

Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recorded as revenue when the College is 
eligible to receive the funds.  Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recorded as revenue in 
the year received or in the year the funds are committed to the College if the amount can be reasonably 
estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

In kind donations of services, materials and tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value when such 
value can reasonably be determined. Transfers of tangible capital assets from related parties are recorded 
at the carrying value.  While volunteers as well as College staff contribute a significant amount of time each 
year beyond their employed roles to assist the College in carrying out its mission, the value of their services 
is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably 
determined. 

Endowment Donations 

Endowment donations are recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year in 
which they are received, and are required by donors to be maintained intact in perpetuity.  

Investment Income 

Investment income includes dividend and interest income, and realized gains or losses on the sale of 
portfolio investments. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments that are not from restricted 
transfers, donations or contributions are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Accumulated 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses until the related investments are sold. Once realized, these gains or 
losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

The endowment spending allocation portion of investment income earned by endowments is recognized as 
deferred revenue when the terms for the use by the endowment create a liability. Realized investment 
income allocated to endowment balances for the preservation of endowment capital purchasing power is 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations under endowment capitalized investment income. 
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10.  Deferred Revenue 

Deferred revenues are set aside for specific purposes as required either by legislation, regulation or agreement: 

2018

Deferred Research 
and Special 

Purpose

Unspent deferred 
capital 

contributions
Tution and 
other fees Total Total

Balance, beginning of year 16,965,905$          7,240,664$            2,011,738$        26,218,307$ 24,843,885$     
Grants, tuition, and donations 5,094,395              3,786,380              2,240,326          11,121,101 16,808,003       
Investment income (note 16) 1,981,078              420,734                -                    2,401,812 1,803,208         
Transfers to spent deferred capital contributions (821,952)                (3,521,004)            -                    (4,342,956) (4,479,360)        
Transfers to endowment (106,032)                -                        -                    (106,032) (57,970)            
Recognized as revenue (6,824,483)             (626,639)               (2,225,107)        (9,676,229) (12,549,070)      
Change in unrealized gain on investments (284,040)                -                        -                    (284,040) (150,389)          
Balance, end of year 16,004,871$         7,300,135$           2,026,957$       25,331,963$         26,218,307$

2019

11. Spent Deferred Capital Contributions 

Spent deferred capital contributions is comprised of restricted grants and donations spent on tangible capital 
acquisitions (not yet recognized as revenue). 

2019 2018

Spent deferred capital contributions, beginning of year 104,882,869$ 105,935,379$
Transfers from unspent deferred capital contributions 3,521,004        4,236,886        

Transfers from deferred contributions 821,952           242,474           

Expended capital recognized as revenue (5,603,789)      (5,531,869)      

Spent deferred capital contributions, end of year 103,622,036$ 104,882,869$
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms 
for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation 
are met. 

d) Endowments 

Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal allocations by 
the College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity. 

Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes 
established by the donors or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as College policy stipulate that the 
economic value of the endowments must be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be 
expended and reinvesting unexpended income.   

Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of 
endowments to enable: 

 Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the 
amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment. 

 Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and 
generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and does not impair the long term 
value of the fund. 

 Per the Endowments and Use of Endowments Funds Policy of Red Deer College, twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the annual interest earned (excluding unrealized income) is re-invested into the 
principal portion of the endowment to offset the effects of inflation and fluctuations in annual 
earnings.  The long term objective is to preserve the capital of the endowment within two percent 
(2%) of a five (5) year rolling average of the Alberta Consumer Price Index (ACPI) and adjust the 
cumulative total of the endowment pool for any shortfall. 

 Only the expendable interest earned in previous fiscal years shall be made available for use in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In the event of any annual shortfall, the College reserves the right to use 
undesignated donations to ensure its scholarships and annual commitments are covered. 

Endowment contributions, matching contributions, and associated investment income allocated re-invested 
into the principal portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which 
they are received. 

e) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the 
acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes 
overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset. Work in progress, which includes buildings & 
infrastructure projects and equipment, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in 
service. 

Capital lease obligations are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the 
inception of the lease excluding executor costs (e.g. insurance, maintenance costs, etc.). The discount rate 
used to determine the present value of the lease payments is the lower of the College’s rate for incremental 
borrowing or the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
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12. Net Assets 

The composition of net assets is as follows: 
Accumulated

surplus 
 from

operations

Investment 
in tangible

capital
assets 1

Internally
restricted

surplus Endowments Total

Net assets, as at June 30, 2017 14,129,121$ 20,359,315$ 5,979,099$ 17,214,445$ 57,681,980$
Annual operating surplus 743,288         -                       -                     -                       743,288         

Endowments
New donations -                       -                       -                     98,543            98,543            
Capitalized investment income -                       -                       491,998         491,998         

Transfer to (from) endowments -                       -                       -                     -                       -                       

Tangible Capital Assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets 3,902,256      (3,902,256)     -                     -                       -                       

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,263,883)     5,866,967      (4,603,084)  -                       -                       

Debt repayment (334,921)        334,921         -                     -                       -                       

Net book value of tangible capital asset disposals 57,036            (57,036)          -                     -                       -                       

Operating expenses funded from internally restricted surplus 85,128            -                       (85,128)        -                       -                       

Net Appropriation to internally restricted surplus 236,108         -                       (236,108)      -                       -                       

Change in accumulated remeasurement (losses) (589,830)        -                       -                     -                       (589,830)        

Net assets, beginning of year, July 1, 2018 16,964,303$ 22,601,911$ 1,054,779$ 17,804,986$ 58,425,979$
Annual operating deficit (1,047,069)     (1,047,069)     

Endowments
New donations -                       -                       -                     478,591         478,591         

Capitalized investment income -                       -                       -                     540,350         540,350         

Transfer to (from) endowments -                       -                       -                     -                       -                       

Tangible Capital Assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets 3,995,352      (3,995,352)     -                     -                       -                       

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (3,657,638)     4,373,239      (715,601)      -                       -                       

Debt repayment from accumulated surplus (1,408,318)     1,408,318      -                     -                       -                       

Net book value of tangible capital asset disposals 63,220            (63,220)          -                     -                       -                       

Operating expenses funded from internally restricted surplus 5,756              -                       (5,756)          -                       -                       

Net Board Appropriation to internally restricted surplus (17,430)          -                       17,430         -                       -                       

Change in accumulated remeasurement (losses) (929,807)        -                       -                     -                       (929,807)        

Net assets, end of year, June 30, 2019 13,968,369$ 24,324,896$ 350,852$     18,823,927$ 57,468,044$

Net Assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus 9,847,319$    24,324,896$ 350,852$     18,823,927$ 53,346,994$

Accumulated remeasurement gains 4,121,050      -                  -                -                  4,121,050$    

13,968,369$ 24,324,896$ 350,852$     18,823,927$ 57,468,044$

(1) Investment in tangible capital assets represents the amount of the College’s accumulated surplus that has been 
invested in the College’s tangible capital assets. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

The College does not use foreign currency contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

The College evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either 
designate the entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative 
component when characteristics of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items for the College’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or financial liabilities.  

c) Revenue Recognition 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services 
have not been provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue. 

Government Grants, Non-government Grants and Donations:

Government transfers are referred to as government grants. 

Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for the use, or the terms 
along with the College’s actions and communications as to the use, create a liability.  These grants and 
donations are recognized as revenue as the terms are met.  If the grants and donations are used to acquire 
or construct tangible capital assets revenue will be recognized over the useful life of the tangible capital 
assets.

Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recorded as revenue when the College is 
eligible to receive the funds.  Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recorded as revenue in 
the year received or in the year the funds are committed to the College if the amount can be reasonably 
estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

In kind donations of services, materials and tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value when such 
value can reasonably be determined. Transfers of tangible capital assets from related parties are recorded 
at the carrying value.  While volunteers as well as College staff contribute a significant amount of time each 
year beyond their employed roles to assist the College in carrying out its mission, the value of their services 
is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably 
determined. 

Endowment Donations 

Endowment donations are recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year in 
which they are received, and are required by donors to be maintained intact in perpetuity.  

Investment Income 

Investment income includes dividend and interest income, and realized gains or losses on the sale of 
portfolio investments. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments that are not from restricted 
transfers, donations or contributions are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Accumulated 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses until the related investments are sold. Once realized, these gains or 
losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

The endowment spending allocation portion of investment income earned by endowments is recognized as 
deferred revenue when the terms for the use by the endowment create a liability. Realized investment 
income allocated to endowment balances for the preservation of endowment capital purchasing power is 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations under endowment capitalized investment income. 
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13. Internally Restricted Surplus 

Internally restricted net assets represent amounts set aside by the College’s Board of Governors for specific purposes. 
Those amounts are not available for other purposes without the approval of the Board and do not have interest 
allocated to them. Internally restricted net assets are summarized as follows: 

Reserve: Reserve for: 2019 2018

Residence Capital Renewal Residence Capital Improvements 9,591$          686,121$           
Innovation Instruction Fund Board Faculty Professional Development 161,955 161,955             
College Sustainability Fund Projects to Support Strategic Goals

(Student Residence Construction Project) -                37,461               
Arts Centre Facility Enhancement Arts Centre Facilty Improvements 179,306 161,876             
Affairs of the Arts Arts Departments Capital Equipment -                7,366                 

Total 350,852$      1,054,779$        

14. Contractual Rights  

Contractual rights are rights of the College to economic resources arising from contracts or agreements that will result 
in both assets and revenues in the future when the terms of those contracts or agreements are met. 

Estimated amounts that will be received or receivable for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 

Grants & 
Contracts

Sponsorships &
Operating Leases Total

2020 584,097$                   347,736$                   931,833$                   
2021 1,238,917                  286,361                     1,525,278
2022 1,196,000                  262,403                     1,458,403
2023 1,000,000                  255,148                     1,255,148
2024 1,000,000                  9,500                         1,009,500

Thereafter 1,000,000                  47,500                       1,047,500
Total at June 30, 2019 6,019,014$                1,208,648$                7,227,662$                

Total at June 30, 2018 8,247,140$                290,032$                   8,537,172$                

Included in contractual rights is $5.0 million as at June 30, 2019 ($7.0 million as at June 30, 2018) pertaining to an 
agreement between Red Deer College and The City of Red Deer & 2019 Canada Winter Games Host Society in 
support of the Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre. 

The College leases a portion of its lands to David Thompson Health Authority (currently Alberta Health Services) for 
the purpose of developing a continuing care centre, multi-tenant pavilion and supportive living centre. The initial term 
of the lease is 30 years commencing April 30, 2004 and ending April 30, 2034, subject to extension or earlier 
termination. Upon expiration of the term or any period of over-holding, or if the College becomes entitled to terminate 
the lease earlier; ownership of the building and improvements will be transferred to the College. 

David Thompson Health Authority has entered into a sublease with Bethany Care Society who agreed to fulfill their 
obligations under the head lease related to improvements to be constructed on the College’s land. The College 
charges a nominal annual rental amount of $1 for the leased lands and any operational charges are the responsibility 
of the tenant. 

The College subleases from David Thompson Health Authority a portion of the facilities described as the Education 
and Resource Centre in the head lease. A nominal payment amount of $1 was paid on the date of the sublease. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms 
for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation 
are met. 

d) Endowments 

Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal allocations by 
the College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity. 

Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes 
established by the donors or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as College policy stipulate that the 
economic value of the endowments must be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be 
expended and reinvesting unexpended income.   

Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of 
endowments to enable: 

 Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the 
amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment. 

 Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and 
generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and does not impair the long term 
value of the fund. 

 Per the Endowments and Use of Endowments Funds Policy of Red Deer College, twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the annual interest earned (excluding unrealized income) is re-invested into the 
principal portion of the endowment to offset the effects of inflation and fluctuations in annual 
earnings.  The long term objective is to preserve the capital of the endowment within two percent 
(2%) of a five (5) year rolling average of the Alberta Consumer Price Index (ACPI) and adjust the 
cumulative total of the endowment pool for any shortfall. 

 Only the expendable interest earned in previous fiscal years shall be made available for use in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In the event of any annual shortfall, the College reserves the right to use 
undesignated donations to ensure its scholarships and annual commitments are covered. 

Endowment contributions, matching contributions, and associated investment income allocated re-invested 
into the principal portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which 
they are received. 

e) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the 
acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes 
overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset. Work in progress, which includes buildings & 
infrastructure projects and equipment, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in 
service. 

Capital lease obligations are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the 
inception of the lease excluding executor costs (e.g. insurance, maintenance costs, etc.). The discount rate 
used to determine the present value of the lease payments is the lower of the College’s rate for incremental 
borrowing or the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
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15. Contractual Obligations  

The College has contractual obligations which are commitments that will become liabilities in the future when the 
terms of the contracts or agreements are met. The estimated aggregate amount payable for the unexpired terms of 
these contractual obligations are as follows: 

2019 2018

Service contracts 8,868,547$              6,064,462$              
Capital projects 139,012 12,028,935
Long-term leases 7,987,587 8,734,953

16,995,146$            26,828,350$            

The estimated aggregate amounts payable for the unexpired terms of these contractual obligations are as follows: 

Service 
Contracts Capital Projects

Long-term 
Leases Total

2020  $       4,066,212  $            139,012  $           815,308  $          5,020,532 
2021           1,576,075                           -               815,308              2,391,383 
2022           1,590,387                           -               856,613              2,447,000 
2023           1,611,967                           -               856,613              2,468,580 
2024                23,906                           -               901,698                925,604 
Thereafter            3,742,047              3,742,047 

 $       8,868,547  $            139,012  $        7,987,587  $        16,995,146 

RED DEER COLLEGE 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 

2

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

The College does not use foreign currency contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

The College evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either 
designate the entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative 
component when characteristics of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items for the College’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or financial liabilities.  

c) Revenue Recognition 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services 
have not been provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue. 

Government Grants, Non-government Grants and Donations:

Government transfers are referred to as government grants. 

Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for the use, or the terms 
along with the College’s actions and communications as to the use, create a liability.  These grants and 
donations are recognized as revenue as the terms are met.  If the grants and donations are used to acquire 
or construct tangible capital assets revenue will be recognized over the useful life of the tangible capital 
assets.

Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recorded as revenue when the College is 
eligible to receive the funds.  Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recorded as revenue in 
the year received or in the year the funds are committed to the College if the amount can be reasonably 
estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

In kind donations of services, materials and tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value when such 
value can reasonably be determined. Transfers of tangible capital assets from related parties are recorded 
at the carrying value.  While volunteers as well as College staff contribute a significant amount of time each 
year beyond their employed roles to assist the College in carrying out its mission, the value of their services 
is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably 
determined. 

Endowment Donations 

Endowment donations are recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year in 
which they are received, and are required by donors to be maintained intact in perpetuity.  

Investment Income 

Investment income includes dividend and interest income, and realized gains or losses on the sale of 
portfolio investments. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments that are not from restricted 
transfers, donations or contributions are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Accumulated 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses until the related investments are sold. Once realized, these gains or 
losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

The endowment spending allocation portion of investment income earned by endowments is recognized as 
deferred revenue when the terms for the use by the endowment create a liability. Realized investment 
income allocated to endowment balances for the preservation of endowment capital purchasing power is 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations under endowment capitalized investment income. 
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16. Investment Income 

2019 2018

Income on investments held for endowments 2,161,399$     1,967,990$    

Income on other investments 4,147,783       2,674,533     

Joint venture investment Income 13,785            35,169          

Total investment income 6,322,967$     4,677,692$    

Amount earned on deferred capital funds (note 10) 420,734$        104,180$      

Amount earned on deferred funds (note 10) 1,981,078       1,699,028     

Investment Income - contributed to endowments 540,350          491,998        

Restricted investment income 2,942,162$     2,295,206$    

Unrestricted investment income 3,380,805$     2,382,486$    

17. Accounts Receivable 

2019 2018
Accrued interest 8,521$                  80,290$                
Allowance for doubtful accounts (30,000)                 (30,000)                 
ACFA debenture receivable -                             4,300,000            
Other accounts receivable 2,035,028            3,198,906            

2,013,549$          7,549,196$          

18. Expense by Object 

The following is a summary of expense by object. 

2018

Budget Actual Actual
           (note 23)

Salaries & benefits 64,869,000$       65,793,316$        66,744,063$     
Materials, supplies and services 18,356,000         21,151,112           19,420,058       
Utilities 2,627,000            2,650,742             2,647,356          
Maintenance and repairs 3,040,000            2,607,115             3,192,898          
Scholarships and bursaries 750,000               1,093,969             1,037,766          
Amortization of capital assets and loss on 
disposals 10,314,000         9,662,364             9,491,164          
Interest on debt 2,006,000            2,006,104             242,590             

101,962,000$     104,964,722$      102,775,895$   

2019
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms 
for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation 
are met. 

d) Endowments 

Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal allocations by 
the College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity. 

Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes 
established by the donors or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as College policy stipulate that the 
economic value of the endowments must be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be 
expended and reinvesting unexpended income.   

Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of 
endowments to enable: 

 Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the 
amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment. 

 Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and 
generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and does not impair the long term 
value of the fund. 

 Per the Endowments and Use of Endowments Funds Policy of Red Deer College, twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the annual interest earned (excluding unrealized income) is re-invested into the 
principal portion of the endowment to offset the effects of inflation and fluctuations in annual 
earnings.  The long term objective is to preserve the capital of the endowment within two percent 
(2%) of a five (5) year rolling average of the Alberta Consumer Price Index (ACPI) and adjust the 
cumulative total of the endowment pool for any shortfall. 

 Only the expendable interest earned in previous fiscal years shall be made available for use in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In the event of any annual shortfall, the College reserves the right to use 
undesignated donations to ensure its scholarships and annual commitments are covered. 

Endowment contributions, matching contributions, and associated investment income allocated re-invested 
into the principal portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which 
they are received. 

e) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the 
acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes 
overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset. Work in progress, which includes buildings & 
infrastructure projects and equipment, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in 
service. 

Capital lease obligations are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the 
inception of the lease excluding executor costs (e.g. insurance, maintenance costs, etc.). The discount rate 
used to determine the present value of the lease payments is the lower of the College’s rate for incremental 
borrowing or the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
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19. Restricted Funds for Other Entities

The College holds the following restricted funds for other entities over which the Board has no power of appropriation. 
These funds are included with the liabilities in the consolidated financial statements. 

2019 2018

 Tenants Association 39,385$         38,402$         
 Other Associations 11,695           9,352             
 Total 51,080$         47,754$         

               
                      

20. Related Parties 

The College is a related party with organizations within the Government of Alberta reporting entity.  Key management 
personnel of the institution and their close family members are also considered related parties.  The College may 
enter into transactions with these entities and individuals in the normal course of operations and on normal terms. 

The College did not have any material transactions with any related parties that would have taken place at a value 
different than that would have been arrived at if the parties were unrelated. The transactions with related parties were 
entered into on the same business terms as with non-related parties and have been incorporated into the College’s 
consolidated financial statements.  

The College has liabilities with Alberta Capital Finance Authority as described in Note 9. 

The College has a long term lease agreement with David Thompson Health Authority (currently Alberta Health 
Services) as described in Note 14. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

The College does not use foreign currency contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

The College evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either 
designate the entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative 
component when characteristics of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items for the College’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or financial liabilities.  

c) Revenue Recognition 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services 
have not been provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue. 

Government Grants, Non-government Grants and Donations:

Government transfers are referred to as government grants. 

Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for the use, or the terms 
along with the College’s actions and communications as to the use, create a liability.  These grants and 
donations are recognized as revenue as the terms are met.  If the grants and donations are used to acquire 
or construct tangible capital assets revenue will be recognized over the useful life of the tangible capital 
assets.

Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recorded as revenue when the College is 
eligible to receive the funds.  Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recorded as revenue in 
the year received or in the year the funds are committed to the College if the amount can be reasonably 
estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

In kind donations of services, materials and tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value when such 
value can reasonably be determined. Transfers of tangible capital assets from related parties are recorded 
at the carrying value.  While volunteers as well as College staff contribute a significant amount of time each 
year beyond their employed roles to assist the College in carrying out its mission, the value of their services 
is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably 
determined. 

Endowment Donations 

Endowment donations are recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year in 
which they are received, and are required by donors to be maintained intact in perpetuity.  

Investment Income 

Investment income includes dividend and interest income, and realized gains or losses on the sale of 
portfolio investments. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments that are not from restricted 
transfers, donations or contributions are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Accumulated 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses until the related investments are sold. Once realized, these gains or 
losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

The endowment spending allocation portion of investment income earned by endowments is recognized as 
deferred revenue when the terms for the use by the endowment create a liability. Realized investment 
income allocated to endowment balances for the preservation of endowment capital purchasing power is 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations under endowment capitalized investment income. 
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21. Government Transfers 

2019 2018

Contributions from Government of Alberta (GOA):
Advanced Education:

Operating grants 55,213,474$ 55,058,424$        
Infrastructure renewal and maintenance 2,136,855      2,055,701             

Strategic Investment Fund -                       2,156,521             
Other 1,732,381      1,325,264             

Total  Advanced Education: 59,082,710$ 60,595,910

Other GOA departments and agencies grants:
       Alberta Innovates 276,000         190,740                

       Alberta Foundation for the Arts 158,061         130,000                
       Other 349,309         104,307                

   Total other GOA departments and agencies: 783,370 425,047

Total contributions received 59,866,080    61,020,957           
Net transfers to deferred contributions (1,397,707)     (1,763,830)            

Restricted expended capital recognized as revenue 4,596,652      4,883,486             

63,065,025$ 64,140,613$        

Other Revenue:
  Other post secondary institutions 1,441,753$    1,512,493$           

  Alberta Health Services 149,357         161,030                
  Human Services 238,849         299,909                

  Other GOA departments and agencies 1,005,744      843,290                

2,835,703$    2,816,722$           

Federal and other government grants:
Contributions received 59,667$         540,099$              

Net transfers from deferred contributions 43,269            131,774                
Restricted expended capital recognized as revenue 10,753            20,746                   

113,689$       692,619$              
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms 
for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation 
are met. 

d) Endowments 

Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal allocations by 
the College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity. 

Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes 
established by the donors or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as College policy stipulate that the 
economic value of the endowments must be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be 
expended and reinvesting unexpended income.   

Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of 
endowments to enable: 

 Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the 
amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment. 

 Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and 
generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and does not impair the long term 
value of the fund. 

 Per the Endowments and Use of Endowments Funds Policy of Red Deer College, twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the annual interest earned (excluding unrealized income) is re-invested into the 
principal portion of the endowment to offset the effects of inflation and fluctuations in annual 
earnings.  The long term objective is to preserve the capital of the endowment within two percent 
(2%) of a five (5) year rolling average of the Alberta Consumer Price Index (ACPI) and adjust the 
cumulative total of the endowment pool for any shortfall. 

 Only the expendable interest earned in previous fiscal years shall be made available for use in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In the event of any annual shortfall, the College reserves the right to use 
undesignated donations to ensure its scholarships and annual commitments are covered. 

Endowment contributions, matching contributions, and associated investment income allocated re-invested 
into the principal portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which 
they are received. 

e) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the 
acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes 
overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset. Work in progress, which includes buildings & 
infrastructure projects and equipment, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in 
service. 

Capital lease obligations are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the 
inception of the lease excluding executor costs (e.g. insurance, maintenance costs, etc.). The discount rate 
used to determine the present value of the lease payments is the lower of the College’s rate for incremental 
borrowing or the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

The College does not use foreign currency contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

The College evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either 
designate the entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative 
component when characteristics of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items for the College’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or financial liabilities.  

c) Revenue Recognition 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services 
have not been provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue. 

Government Grants, Non-government Grants and Donations:

Government transfers are referred to as government grants. 

Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for the use, or the terms 
along with the College’s actions and communications as to the use, create a liability.  These grants and 
donations are recognized as revenue as the terms are met.  If the grants and donations are used to acquire 
or construct tangible capital assets revenue will be recognized over the useful life of the tangible capital 
assets.

Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recorded as revenue when the College is 
eligible to receive the funds.  Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recorded as revenue in 
the year received or in the year the funds are committed to the College if the amount can be reasonably 
estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

In kind donations of services, materials and tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value when such 
value can reasonably be determined. Transfers of tangible capital assets from related parties are recorded 
at the carrying value.  While volunteers as well as College staff contribute a significant amount of time each 
year beyond their employed roles to assist the College in carrying out its mission, the value of their services 
is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably 
determined. 

Endowment Donations 

Endowment donations are recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year in 
which they are received, and are required by donors to be maintained intact in perpetuity.  

Investment Income 

Investment income includes dividend and interest income, and realized gains or losses on the sale of 
portfolio investments. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments that are not from restricted 
transfers, donations or contributions are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Accumulated 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses until the related investments are sold. Once realized, these gains or 
losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

The endowment spending allocation portion of investment income earned by endowments is recognized as 
deferred revenue when the terms for the use by the endowment create a liability. Realized investment 
income allocated to endowment balances for the preservation of endowment capital purchasing power is 
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations under endowment capitalized investment income. 
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22. Salary and Employee Benefits  

2018

Other Other

Base cash non-cash
salary (1) benefits (2) benefits (3) (4) Total Total

Governance  

Chair of the Board of Governors -$                3,000$       -$               3,000$        3,000$        

Members of the Board of Governors -                  18,099       1,114         19,213        16,852

Executive

President 337,547      -                 104,810     442,357 459,528

Vice Presidents:

Vice President Academic 218,248      -                 48,012       266,260 276,261

Vice President College Services /CFO 198,119      -                 50,317       248,436 256,313
    Vice President Business 
D l t

198,119      -                 48,417       246,536 251,813
    Vice President Corporate (5) 191,298      -                 35,618       226,916 144,195

1,143,331$ 21,099$     288,288$   1,452,718$ 1,407,962$

2019

(1) Salary includes pensionable base pay. 
(2) Other cash benefits include retro-pay and honoraria. 
(3) Other non-cash benefits include: 

 Employer’s current and prior service cost of Supplemental retirement plan as per note 22-(4) below 
 Share of all employee benefits and contributions or payments made on behalf of employees including 

pension, health care, dental coverage, vision coverage, out of country medical benefits, group life  
Insurance, accidental disability and dismemberment insurance, long and short term disability plan, 
memberships and tuition. 

(4) Under the Supplementary Employees Retirement Plan (SERP), employees may receive supplemental 
retirement payments. Retirement arrangement costs as detailed below are not cash payments in the period 
but are the period expense for rights to future compensations. Costs reflect the total estimated cost to 
provide annual pension income over an actuarially determined post-employment period. SERP provides 
future pension benefits to participants (included in current President’s contract) based on years of service 
and earnings. The cost of these benefits is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method pro-
rated on services, a market interest rate and management’s best estimate of expected costs and the period 
of benefit coverage. 
Net actuarial gains and losses of the benefit obligations are amortized over the average remaining service 
life of the employee group. Current service cost is the actuarial present value of the benefits earned in the 
fiscal year. Prior service and other costs include amortization of past service costs on plan initiation, 
amortization of actuarial gains and losses and interest accruing on the actuarial liability. 

(5) The individual occupied this position for 8 ½ months during the 2017/18 fiscal year.  
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Note 22 Salary and Employee Benefits (continued) 

The current service cost and accrued obligation for each executive under the SERP is outlined in the following table. 

Accrued 
Obligation

June 30, 2018
Service
Costs

Interest
Costs

Benefit 
Payments

Actuarial 
Loss (Gain)

Accrued 
Obligation

June 30, 2019

President:  $       399,300  $         73,800  $         14,000  $                   -  $           2,100  $        489,200 

Vice Presidents:                       -                        - 

Vice President College 
Services             51,600             21,000               2,000                       -           (24,000)              50,600 

Vice President 
   Business Development           296,700             19,100               9,800                       -               3,600            329,200 

Vice President Human 
Resources             12,400                       -                       -           (12,400)                       -                        - 

Vice President Academic             62,700             25,500               2,400                       -               2,300              92,900 

Vice President Corporate                       -             12,700                  300                       -             (6,900)                6,100 

Other employees 
participating in SERP           743,700                       -             23,200           (41,800)             16,100            741,200 

 $    1,566,400  $       152,100  $         51,700  $       (54,200)  $         (6,800)  $     1,709,200 

 The significant actuarial assumptions used to measure the accrued benefit obligation are disclosed in note 8. 

23.  Budget Figures 

Budgeted figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from the College’s 
Comprehensive Institutional Plan 2018/19 – 2020/21, as approved by the Board of Governors.   

24. Approval of Financial Statements 

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Governors of Red Deer College. 

25. Comparative Figures 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 

Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms 
for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation 
are met. 

d) Endowments 

Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal allocations by 
the College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity. 

Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes 
established by the donors or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as College policy stipulate that the 
economic value of the endowments must be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be 
expended and reinvesting unexpended income.   

Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of 
endowments to enable: 

 Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the 
amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment. 

 Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and 
generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and does not impair the long term 
value of the fund. 

 Per the Endowments and Use of Endowments Funds Policy of Red Deer College, twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the annual interest earned (excluding unrealized income) is re-invested into the 
principal portion of the endowment to offset the effects of inflation and fluctuations in annual 
earnings.  The long term objective is to preserve the capital of the endowment within two percent 
(2%) of a five (5) year rolling average of the Alberta Consumer Price Index (ACPI) and adjust the 
cumulative total of the endowment pool for any shortfall. 

 Only the expendable interest earned in previous fiscal years shall be made available for use in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In the event of any annual shortfall, the College reserves the right to use 
undesignated donations to ensure its scholarships and annual commitments are covered. 

Endowment contributions, matching contributions, and associated investment income allocated re-invested 
into the principal portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which 
they are received. 

e) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the 
acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes 
overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset. Work in progress, which includes buildings & 
infrastructure projects and equipment, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in 
service. 

Capital lease obligations are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the 
inception of the lease excluding executor costs (e.g. insurance, maintenance costs, etc.). The discount rate 
used to determine the present value of the lease payments is the lower of the College’s rate for incremental 
borrowing or the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
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COAT OF ARMS 
In 2004, a coat of arms incorporating a number of traditional symbols associated with Red Deer College,  

the Province of Alberta, or with learning was officially granted by the Canadian Heraldic Authority.  
Original concept by Dr. Darren S.A. George, assisted by the Heralds of the Canadian Heraldic Authority.

MOTTO
Ad Augustiora Per Eruditionem

 is a Latin phrase devised especially for the College.  
It means “To greater things through learning.”


